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In the ordinary course of our business, we say-process personal or other sensitive, proprietary, and confidential information.
Accordingly, we are or may become subject to numerous data privacy and security obligations, including federal, state, local,
and foreign laws, regulations, guidance, and industry standards related to data privacy and security. Such obligations may
include, without limitation, the Federal Trade Commission Act, the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, the Children’
s Online Privacy Protection Act of 1998, the Controlling the Assault of Non Solrcrted Pornography And Marketmg Act of
2003, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 :
{eeHeetively-CCPA), the Canadian Personal Information Protectlon and Electromc Documents Act, Canada s Anti- Spam
Legislation, the European Union’ s General Data Protection Regulation 2016 / 679 (EU GDPR), the EU GDPR as it forms part
of United Kingdom (UK) law by virtue of section 3 of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (UK GDPR) (EU GDPR and
UK GDPR collectively as GDPR), the ePrivacy Directive, and the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS).
Several states within the United States have enacted or proposed data privacy and security laws. For example, Virginia,
Colorado, Connecticut, and Utah have passed comprehensive data privacy and security laws. Additionally, we are, or may
become, subject to various U. S. federal and state consumer protection laws which require us to publish statements that
accurately and fairly describe how we handle personal information and choices individuals may have about the way we handle
their personal information. The CCPA and GDPR are examples of the increasingly stringent and evolving regulatory
frameworks related to personal information processing that may increase our compliance obligations and exposure for any
noncompliance. For example, the CCPA imposes obligations on covered businesses to provide specific disclosures related to a
business’ s collection, use, and disclosure of personal information and to respond to certain requests from California residents
related to their personal information (for example, requests to know of the business’ s personal information processing activities,
to delete the individual’ s personal data, and to opt out of certain personal information disclosures). Also, the CCPA provides for
crvrl penaltres and a prrvate rrght of action for data breaches whrch may include an award of statutory damages -I-n—add-tt-ten—t-he

ae eetion Rey AP rt-and-en waw—toreign data privacy and security laws (mcludmg but not
lrmrted to the GDPR) impose srgmﬁcant and complex complrance obligations on entities that are subject to those laws. As one
example, the EU GDPR applies to any company established in the EEA and to companies established outside the EEA that
process personal information in connection with the offering of goods or services to data subjects in the EEA or the monitoring
of the behavior of data subjects in the EEA. These obligations may include limiting personal information processing to only
what is necessary for specified, explicit, and legitimate purposes; requiring a legal basis for personal information processing;
requiring the appointment of a data protection officer in certain circumstances; increasing transparency obligations to data
subjects; requiring data protection impact assessments in certain circumstances; limiting the collection and retention of personal
information; increasing rights for data subjects; formalizing a heightened and codified standard of data subject consents;
requiring the implementation and maintenance of technical and organizational safeguards for personal information; mandating
notice of certain personal information breaches to the relevant supervisory authority (ies) and affected individuals; and
mandating the appointment of representatives in the UK and / or the EU in certain circumstances. See the section titled ““ Risks
Related to Government Regulation ” for additional information about the laws and regulations to which we may become subject
and about the risks to our business associated with such laws and regulations. Similarly to the Anti- Kickback Statute prohibition
in the United States, as described below, the provision of benefits or advantages to physicians and other health care
professionals to induce or encourage the prescrrptron recommendatron endorsement purchase supply, order or use of
medicinal products is also prohibited in the EU. Fhe-prov sts-Interactions between
pharmaceutical companies and health care professmnals are governed by the—strlct laws, such as national anti- bribery laws
of European countries Hnton-member-states-, and-national sunshine rules , regulations inthe-U--, industry self- regulation
codes the- U K-BriberyAet 2040 Infringement-of conduct and physicians’ codes of professional conduct. Failure to
comply with these {awsrequirements could result in substantial-reputational risk, public reprimands, administrative
penalties, fines and-or imprisonment —Payments made to physicians and other health care professionals in certain European
Union member-Member states-States must be publicly disclosed enrthe-basis-efappheable-sunshine-rales-. Moreover,
agreements with physicians and other health care professionals often may require mustbe-the-subjeetof-prior notification
and approval by the physician ? s or health care professmnal 'S employer therr competent professronal organrzatlon and / or
the regulatory authorrtres of the v

comply with these requirements could result in reputatronal risk, public reprimands, administrative penalties, ﬁnes or
imprisonment. International Regulation In addition to regulations in the United States and the European Union, a variety of
foreign regulations govern clinical trials, commercial sales and distribution of product candidates. The approval process varies
from country to country and the time to approval may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA or European Commission
approval. Other Healthcare Laws and Regulations and Legislative Reform Healthcare providers, including physicians, and third-
party payors will play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of any product candidates for which we obtain



marketing approval. Our operations, including any arrangements with healthcare providers, physicians, third- party payors and
customers may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws that may affect the business or
financial arrangements and relationships through which we would research, as well as market, sell and distribute any products
for which we obtain marketing approval. Our current and future operations are subject to regulation by various federal, state and
local authorities in addition to the FDA, including but not limited to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), U.
S. Department of Health and Human Services, (HHS) (including the Office of Inspector General, Office for Civil Rights and the
Health Resources and Service Administration), the U. S. Department of Justice (DOJ) and individual U. S. Attorney offices
within the DOJ, and state and local governments. The healthcare laws that may affect our ability to operate include, but are not
limited to: * The federal Anti- Kickback Statute, which prohibits any person or entity from, among other things, knowingly and
willfully soliciting, receiving, offering or paying any remuneration, directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind,
to induce or reward either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, order or recommendation of an item or service
reimbursable, in whole or in part, under a federal healthcare program, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. The term
remuneration ” has been broadly interpreted to include anything of value. A person or entity does not need to have actual
knowledge of the federal Anti- Kickback Statute or specific intent to violate it to have committed a violation. The federal Anti-
Kickback Statute has also been interpreted to apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical manufacturers on the one hand and
prescribers, purchasers and formulary managers on the other hand. There are a number of statutory exceptions and regulatory
safe harbors protecting some common activities from prosecution, but the exceptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowly and
require strict compliance in order to offer protection. * Federal civil and criminal false claims laws, such as the False Claims Act
(FCA), which can be enforced by private citizens on behalf of the government through civil whistleblower or qui tam actions,
and the federal civil monetary penalty laws prohibit individuals or entities from, among other things, knowingly presenting, or
causing to be presented, false, fictitious or fraudulent claims for payment of federal funds, and knowingly making, using or
causing to be made or used a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim to avoid, decrease or conceal an
obligation to pay money to the federal government. For example, pharmaceutical companies have been prosecuted under the
FCA in connection with their alleged off- label promotion of drugs, purportedly concealing price concessions in the pricing
information submitted to the government for government price reporting purposes, and allegedly providing free product to
customers with the expectation that the customers would bill federal healthcare programs for the product. In addition, a claim
including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti- Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim
for purposes of the FCA. As a result of a modification made by the Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009, a claim
includes “ any request or demand * for money or property presented to the U. S. government. In addition, manufacturers can be
held liable under the FCA even when they do not submit claims directly to government payors if they are deemed to ““ cause
the submission of false or fraudulent claims. « HIPAA, among other things, imposes criminal liability for executing or
attempting to execute a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, including private third- party payors, knowingly and
willfully embezzling or stealing from a healthcare benefit program, willfully obstructing a criminal investigation of a healthcare
offense, and creates federal criminal laws that prohibit knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material
fact or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statement or representation, or making or using any false writing or
document knowing the same to contain any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statement or entry in connection with the
delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services. Similar to the federal Anti- Kickback Statute, a person or entity
does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation. * In
addition, HIPAA, as amended by Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009 (HITECH),
imposes certain requirements on covered entities, which include certain healthcare providers, health plans and healthcare
clearinghouses, and their business associates and covered subcontractors that receive or obtain protected health information in
connection with providing a service on behalf of a covered entity relating to the privacy, security and transmission of
individually identifiable health information. * The federal transparency requirements under the Physician Payments Sunshine
Act, created under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (the Affordable Care Act), which requires, among other
things, certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies reimbursed under Medicare, Medicaid, or the
Children’ s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to report annually to CMS information related to payments and
other transfers of value provided to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors),
other healthcare profess10nals (such as physicians assistants or nurse practitioners), and teaching hospitals and-phystetan

, inetuding-sweh-as well as ownership and investment interests held by a-the phystetan
physicians ~s-described above and their immediate family members. « Analogous state and foreign anti- kickback and false
claims laws that may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by
non- governmental third- party payors, including private insurers, or that apply regardless of payor; state and foreign laws that
require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’ s voluntary compliance guidelines and the
relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the government; state and local laws that require drug manufacturers to report
information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing
expenditures; and state and foreign laws that require the reporting of information related to drug pricing; state and local laws
requiring the registration of pharmaceutical sales representatives. Any action brought against us for violation of these laws or
regulations, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our
management’ s attention from the operation of our business. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws
and regulations, we may be subject to any applicable penalty associated with the violation, including, among others, significant
administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, reputational harm, imprisonment, integrity oversight
and reporting obligations, and exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid or
comparable foreign programs. Many EU Member States periodically review their reimbursement procedures for medicinal



products, which could have an adverse impact on reimbursement status. We expect that legislators, policymakers and healthcare
insurance funds in the EU Member States will continue to propose and implement cost- containing measures, such as lower
maximum prices, lower or lack of reimbursement coverage and incentives to use cheaper, usually generic, products as an
alternative to branded products, and / or branded products available through parallel import to keep healthcare costs down.
Moreover, in order to obtain reimbursement for our products in some EEA countries, including some EU Member States, we
may be required to compile additional data comparing the cost- effectiveness of our products to other available therapies. Health
Technology Assessment (;e+-HTA ;) of medicinal products is becoming an increasingly common part of the pricing and
reimbursement procedures in some EU Member States, including those representing the larger markets. The HTA process is the
procedure to assess therapeutic, economic and societal impact of a given medicinal product in the national healthcare systems of
the individual country. The outcome of an HTA will often influence the pricing and reimbursement status granted to these
medicinal products by the competent authorities of individual EU Member States. The extent to which pricing and
reimbursement decisions are influenced by the HTA of the specific medicinal product currently varies between EU Member
States. W . . o . i1 ogs . .

regilations-andjudietatd S




2282 on Hea-l-t-h—"l:ee-hﬂe-}egyﬂ%ssessmeﬁt—er—HTA —&meﬁd-mg—BﬁeeﬁVf:%@-l—l—/é%—/—E—U— was ddoplul in Ihu EU. This Rwulduon
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implementation , is intended to boost cooperation among EU Member States in assessing health technologies, including new
medicinal products, and providing the basis for cooperation at EU level for joint clinical assessments in these areas. The
Regulation feresees-a-three—year-transitional-pertod-and-withpermit-permits EU Member States to use common HTA tools,
methodologies, and procedures across the EU, working together in four main areas, including joint clinical assessment of the
innovative health technologies with the most potential impact for patients, joint scientific consultations whereby developers can
seek advice from HTA authorities, identification of emerging health technologies to identify promising technologies early, and
continuing voluntary cooperation in other areas. Individual EU Member States continue to be responsible for assessing non-
clinical (e. g., economic, social, ethical) aspects of health technologies, and making decisions on pricing and
reimbursement. We operate in a highly regulated industry, and new laws, regulations and judicial decisions, or new
interpretations of existing laws, regulations and decisions, related to healthcare availability, the method of delivery and
payment for healthcare products and services could negatively affect our business, financial condition and prospects.
There is significant interest in promoting healthcare reforms, and it is likely that federal and state legislatures within the
United States and the governments of other countries will continue to consider changes to existing healthcare legislation.
For example, the United States and state governments continue to propose and pass legislation designed to reduce the
cost of healthcare. In 2010, the U. S. Congress enacted the Affordable Care Act, which included changes to the coverage
and reimbursement of drug products under government healthcare programs and access to health insurance. There
have been executive, judicial and congressional challenges and amendments to certain aspects of the Affordable Care
Act. For example, on August 16, 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (IRA) was signed into law, which among other
things, extends enhanced subsidies for individuals purchasing health insurance coverage in Affordable Care Act
marketplaces through plan year 2025. The IRA also eliminates the “ donut hole ” under the Medicare Part D program
beginning in 2025 by significantly lowering the beneficiary maximum out- of- pocket cost and creating a new
manufacturer discount program. It is possible that the Affordable Care Act will be subject to judicial or Congressional
challenges in the future. It is unclear how any such challenges and the healthcare reform measures of the second Trump
administration will impact the Affordable Care Act. In addition, there have been and continue to be a number of
initiatives at the federal and state level in the United States that seek to reduce healthcare costs. In 2011, the U. S.
Congress enacted the Budget Control Act, which included provisions intended to reduce the federal deficit. The Budget
Control Act resulted in the imposition of 2 % reductions in Medicare payments to providers beginning in 2013 and, due
to subsequent legislative amendments to the statute, will remain in effect through 2032. On March 11, 2021, the
American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 was signed into law, which eliminated the statutory Medicaid drug rebate cap,
previously set at 100 % of a drug’ s average manufacturer price, for single source and innovator multiple source drugs,
effective January 1, 2024. Furthermore, there has been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which
manufacturers set prices for their marketed products, which has resulted in several presidential executive orders,
congressional inquiries and proposed legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to product
pricing, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs and reform government program



reimbursement methodologies for drug products. For example, the IRA also, among other things, (1) directs the U. S.
Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) to negotiate the price of certain high expenditure, single- source
biologics that have been on the market for at least 11 years covered under Medicare (the Medicare Drug Price
Negotiation Program) and (2) imposes rebates under Medicare Part B and Medicare Part D to penalize price increases
that outpace inflation. These provisions began to take effect progressively in fiscal year 2023. On August 15, 2024, HHS
announced the agreed- upon price of the first ten drugs that were subject to price negotiations, although the Medicare
Drug Price Negotiation Program is currently subject to legal challenges. On January 17, 2024, HHS selected fifteen
additional products covered under Part D for price negotiation in 2025. Each year thereafter more Part B and Part D
products will become subject to the Medicare Drug Price Negotiation Program. Further, on December 7, 2023,
announced an initiative to control the price of prescription drugs through the use of march- in rights under the Bayh-
Dole Act was announced. On December 8, 2023, the National Institute of Standards and Technology published for
comment a Draft Interagency Guidance Framework for Considering the Exercise of March- In Rights which for the first
time includes the price of a product as one factor an agency can use when deciding to exercise march- in rights. While
march- in rights have not previously been exercised, it is uncertain if that will continue under the new framework.
Individual states in the United States have also become increasingly active in passing legislation and implementing
regulations designed to control pharmaceutical product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints,
discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures and, in some
cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. In addition, regional healthcare
authorities and individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures to determine what pharmaceutical
products and which suppliers will be included in their prescription drug and other healthcare programs. We expect that
additional state and federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, particularly in light of the recent
U. S. Presidential and Congressional elections. In December 2021, Regulation No 2021 / 2282 on Health Technology
Assessment, or HTA, amending Directive 2011 /24 / EU, was adopted in the EU. This Regulation, which entered into
force in January 2022 and began to apply on January 2025 through a phased implementation, is intended to boost
cooperation among EU Member States in assessing health technologies, including new medicinal products, and
providing the basis for cooperation at EU level for joint clinical assessments in these areas. The Regulation foresees a
three- year transitional period and permits EU Member States to use common HTA tools, methodologies and procedures
across the EU, working together in four main areas, including joint clinical assessment of the innovative health
technologies with the most potential impact for patients, joint scientific consultations whereby developers can seek advice
from HTA authorities, identification of emerging health technologies to identify promising technologies early and
continuing voluntary cooperation in other areas. Individual EU Member States will continue to be responsible for
assessing non- clinical (e. g., economic, social, ethical) aspects of health technologies, and making decisions on pricing and
reimbursement. [f we are unable to maintain favorable pricing and reimbursement status in EU Member States for product
candidates that we may successfully develop and for which we may obtain regulatory approval, any anticipated revenue from
and growth prospects for those products in the EU could be negatively affected. In addition, on April 26, 2023, the European
Commission adopted a proposal for a new Directive and Regulation to revise the existing pharmaceutical legislation and on 10
April 2024, the Parliament adopted its related position. The proposed revisions remain to be agreed and adopted by the
European Council. Moreover, on December 1, 2024, a new European Commission took office. The proposal could,
therefore, still be subject to revisions . [f adopted in the form proposed, the reeent-European Commission proposals to revise
the existing EU laws governing authorization of medicinal products may result in a number of changes to the regulatory
framework governing medicinal products, including a decrease in data and market exclusivity opportunities for our product
candidates in the EU and make them open to generic or biosimilar competition earlier than is currently the case with a related
reduction in reimbursement status. Environmental, Health and Safety Laws and Regulations We and our third- party contractors
are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory procedures
and the use, generation, manufacture, distribution, storage, handling, treatment, remediation and disposal of hazardous materials
and wastes. Hazardous chemicals, including flammable and biological materials, are involved in certain aspects of our business,
and we cannot eliminate the risk of injury or contamination from the use, generation, manufacture, distribution, storage,
handling, treatment or disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. In the event of contamination or injury, or failure to comply
with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could be held liable for any resulting damages, fines and
penalties associated with such liability could exceed our assets and resources. Environmental, health and safety laws and
regulations are becoming increasingly more stringent. We may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or future
environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. Pharmaceutical Coverage, Pricing and Reimbursement The availability
and extent of coverage and adequate reimbursement by governmental and private third- party payors are essential for most
patients to be able to afford expensive medical treatments. In both domestic and foreign markets, sales of our product
candidates, if approved, will depend substantially on the extent to which the costs of our product candidates will be covered by
third- party payors, such as government health programs, commercial insurance and managed healthcare organizations. These
third- party payors decide which products will be covered and establish reimbursement levels for those products. Coverage and
reimbursement by a third- party payor may depend upon a number of factors, including the third- party payor’ s determination
that use of a product is: * a covered benefit under its health plan; « safe, effective and medically necessary;  appropriate for the
specific patient; * cost- effective; and ¢ neither experimental nor investigational. Obtaining coverage approval and
reimbursement for a product from a government or other third- party payor is a time- consuming and costly process that could
require us to provide supporting scientific, clinical and cost- effectiveness data for the use of our products to the payor. We may
not be able to provide data sufficient to gain acceptance with respect to coverage and reimbursement at a satisfactory level. If



coverage and adequate reimbursement of our future products, if any, are unavailable or limited in scope or amount, such as may
result where alternative or generic treatments are available, we may be unable to achieve or sustain profitability. Adverse
coverage and reimbursement limitations may hinder our ability to recoup our investment in our product candidates, even if such
product candidates obtain regulatory approval. For products administered under the supervision of a physician, obtaining
coverage and adequate reimbursement may be particularly difficult because of the higher prices often associated with such
products . Even if favorable coverage and reimbursement status is attained for one or more products for which we
receive regulatory approval, less favorable coverage policies and reimbursement rates may be implemented in the future
. Additionally, separate reimbursement for the product itself or the treatment or procedure in which the product is used may not
be available, which may impact physician utilization. There is significant uncertainty related to the insurance coverage and
reimbursement of newly approved products. There is no uniform policy for coverage and reimbursement in the United States
and, as a result, coverage and reimbursement can differ significantly from payor to payor. In the United States, private payors
often, but not always, follow Medicare coverage and reimbursement policies with respect to newly approved products. It is
difficult to predict what third- party payors will decide with respect to coverage and reimbursement for fundamentally novel
products such as ours, as there is no body of established practices and precedents for these new products. Further, one payor’ s
determination to provide coverage and adequate reimbursement for a product does not assure that other payors will also provide
coverage and adequate reimbursement for that product. We may need to conduct expensive pharmaco- economic studies in
order to demonstrate the medical necessity and cost- effectiveness of our product candidates. There can be no assurance that our
product candidates will be considered medically necessary or cost- effective. In addition to third- party payors, professional
organizations and patient advocacy groups such as the National Comprehensive Cancer Network and the American Society of
Clinical Oncology can influence decisions about reimbursement for new medicines by determining standards for care.
Therefore, it is possible that any of our product candidates, even if approved, may not be covered by third- party payors or the
reimbursement limit may be so restrictive that we cannot commercialize the product candidates profitably. Reimbursement
agencies in the European Union may be more restrictive than payors in the United States. For example, a number of cancer
products have been approved for reimbursement in the United States but not in certain European countries. In Europe, pricing
and reimbursement schemes vary widely from country to country. For example, some countries provide that products may be
marketed only after an agreement on reimbursement price has been reached. Such pricing negotiations with governmental
authorities can take considerable time after receipt of marketing approval for a product. Political, economic and regulatory
developments may further complicate pricing negotiations, and pricing negotiations may continue after reimbursement has been
obtained. Other countries require the completion of additional health technology assessments that compare the cost-
effectiveness of a particular product candidate to currently available therapies. In addition, the European Union provides options
for its member states to restrict the range of products for which their national health insurance systems provide reimbursement
and to control the prices of medicinal products for human use. European Union member states may approve a specific price for
a product, may adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitability of the company placing the product on the
market or monitor and control prescription volumes and issue guidance to physicians to limit prescriptions. Reference pricing
used by various European Union member states and parallel distribution, or arbitrage between low- priced and high- priced
member states, can further reduce prices. Furthermore, many countries in the European Union have increased the amount of
discounts required on pharmaceutical products, and these efforts could continue as countries attempt to manage healthcare
expenditures, especially in light of the severe fiscal and debt crises experienced by many countries in the European Union. The
downward pressure on healthcare costs in general, and prescription products in particular, has become increasingly intense. As a
result, there are increasingly higher barriers to entry for new products. There can be no assurance that any country that has
reimbursement limitations for pharmaceutical products will allow favorable reimbursement and pricing arrangements for any of
our products, if approved in those countries. Accordingly, the reimbursement for any products in the European Union may be
reduced compared with the United States and may be insufficient to generate commercially reasonable revenues and profits.
Furthermore, the containment of healthcare costs has become a priority of foreign and domestic governments as well as private
third- party payors. The prices of drugs have been a focus in this effort. Governments and private third- party payors have
attempted to control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular medications, which could affect
our ability to sell our product candidates profitably. We also expect to experience pricing pressures due to the trend towards
managed healthcare, the increasing influence of health maintenance organizations and additional legislative changes. These and
other cost- control initiatives could cause us to decrease the price we might establish for products, which could result in lower-
than- anticipated product revenues. In addition, the publication of discounts by third- party payors or authorities may lead to
further pressure on the prices or reimbursement levels within the country of publication and other countries. If pricing is set at
unsatisfactory levels or if coverage and adequate reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount,
our revenues and the potential profitability of our product candidates in those countries would be negatively affected. Legal
Proceedings From time to time, we may become involved in legal proceedings or be subject to claims arising in the ordinary
course of our business. We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings. Regardless of outcome, such proceedings
or claims can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of resources and other factors,
and there can be no assurances that favorable outcomes will be obtained. Facilities Our corporate headquarters is located in San
Diego, California, where we lease office and laboratory space pursuant to a lease agreement which commenced in July, 2022
and expires in January, 2033. We believe that our existing facilities are adequate for the foreseeable future. As we expand, we
believe that suitable additional alternative spaces will be available in the future on commercially reasonable terms, if required.
Corporate Information We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on June 27, 2017. Our principal executive
offices are located at 10955 Vista Sorrento Parkway, Suite 200, San Diego, California, and our telephone number is (858) 751-
4493. Our corporate website address is www. januxrx. com. Information contained on, or accessible through, our website shall



not be deemed incorporated into and is not a part of this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Our Annual Reports on Form 10 - K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10 - Q, Current Reports on Form 8 - K and amendments to such reports filed or furnished pursuant to
Section 13 (a) and 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), are available free of charge
on the Investors & Media portion of our website as soon as reasonably practical after we electronically file such material with, or
furnish it to, the SEC. All brand names or trademarks appearing in this Annual Report are the property of their respective
holders. Use or display by us of other parties’ trademarks, trade dress, or products in this Annual Report is not intended to, and
does not, imply a relationship with, or endorsements or sponsorship of, us by the trademark or trade dress owners. Employees
and Human Capital Resources As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we had 64-81 full- time employees. Of these employees, 4763
were engaged in research and development and +7-18 were engaged in general and administrative activities. As of December 31,
2623-2024 , we had 59-74 employees based at our headquarters in San Diego, California. Our employees are not represented by
labor unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements. We consider our relationship with our employees to be good. Our
human capital resources objectives include, as applicable, identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing and integrating our
existing and additional employees. We believe that we have been successful in attracting and retaining talented personnel to
support our expanding business, though competition for personnel in our industry is intense. We monitor recruiting efforts using
a variety of metrics, including cycle times, cost per hire, information on the retention of business- critical hires, and the
percentage of budgeted openings filled on time and on budget. We also track voluntary and involuntary turnover rates for
business- critical talent, time in role, and job level. We offer competitive pay and benefits designed to attract and retain
exceptional talent and drive company performance. In setting appropriate compensation levels, we look at the average base pay
rate for each position based on market data. We also offer equity incentive plans designed to assist in attracting, retaining and
motivating selected employees, consultants and directors through the granting of stock- based compensation awards. Our
standard employee benefits include paid and unpaid leaves, medical, dental and vision insurance coverage, a 401 (k) plan, short-
and long- term disability, life insurance, health savings and flexible spending accounts, paid time off, and an employee stock
purchase plan. We also offer a variety of voluntary benefits that allow employees to select options that meet their needs,
including a long- term care plan, an employee assistance program, and wellness programs. We benchmark our benefits program
against others in our industry on an annual basis. Item 1A. Risk Factors. We operate in a dynamic and rapidly changing
environment that involves numerous risks and uncertainties. Certain factors may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations, and you should carefully consider them. Accordingly, in evaluating our business,
we encourage you to consider the following discussion of risk factors, in its entirety, in addition to other information contained
in this Annual Report on Form 10- K and our other public filings with the SEC. Other events that we do not currently anticipate
or that we currently deem immaterial may also affect our results of operations and financial condition. Risks Related to Our
Limited Operating History, Financial Position and Capital Requirements We have a limited operating history, have incurred net
losses since our inception, and anticipate that we will continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future. We may
never generate any revenue or become profitable or, if we achieve profitability, may not be able to sustain it. We are an early-
stage biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history that may make it difficult to evaluate the success of our
business to date and to assess our future viability. Our operations to date have been limited to organizing and staffing our
company, business planning, business development, raising capital, developing and optimizing our technology platform,
identifying potential product candidates, undertaking research and preclinical studies for our lead programs, establishing and
enhancing our intellectual property portfolio and providing general and administrative support for these operations. All of our
product candidates and research programs other than JANX007 and JANXO008 are in preclinical development, and none have
been approved for commercial sale. We have never generated any revenue from product sales and have incurred net losses each
year since we commenced operations. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-, our net losses were $ 69. 0
million and $ 58. 3 miienand-$-63—-million, respectively. We expect that it will be several years, if ever, before we have a
product candidate ready for regulatory approval and commercialization. We expect to incur increasing levels of operating losses
over the next several years and for the foreseeable future as we advance our product candidates through clinical development.
Our prior losses, combined with expected future losses, have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on our
stockholders’ equity and working capital. To become and remain profitable, we must develop and eventually commercialize a
product or products with significant market potential. This will require us to be successful in a range of challenging activities,
including completing preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates, obtaining marketing approval for these
product candidates, manufacturing, marketing and selling those products for which we may obtain marketing approval and
satisfying any post- marketing requirements. We may never succeed in these activities and, even if we succeed in
commercializing one or more of our product candidates, we may never generate revenue that is significant or large enough to
achieve profitability. In addition, as a young business, we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications,
delays and other known and unknown challenges. If we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase
profitability on a quarterly or annual basis and we will continue to incur substantial research and development and other
expenditures to develop and market additional product candidates. Our failure to become and remain profitable would decrease
the value of the company and could impair our ability to raise capital, maintain our research and development efforts, expand
our business or continue our operations. A decline in the value of our company could also cause the loss of all or part of
investments. If we are unable to raise additional capital when needed, we may be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our
product development programs or other operations. Since our inception, we have used substantial amounts of cash to fund our
operations and expect our expenses to increase substantially during the next few years. The development of biopharmaceutical
product candidates is capital intensive. As our product candidates enter and advance through preclinical studies and potential
clinical trials, we will need substantial additional funds to expand our clinical, regulatory, quality and manufacturing
capabilities. In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant



commercialization expenses related to marketing, sales, manufacturing and distribution. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we
had $ 344-1 . 0 mithen-billion in cash and-, cash equivalents and short- term investments. Based upon our current operating plan,
we estimate that our existing cash and-, cash equivalents and short- term investments will be sufficient to fund our operating
expenses and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months following the date of this Annual Report.
However, we believe that our existing cash ane-, cash equivalents and short- term investments will not be sufficient to fund any
of our product candidates through regulatory approval, and we will need to raise substantial additional capital to complete the
development and commercialization of our product candidates. We have based these estimates on assumptions that may prove to
be incorrect or require adjustment as a result of business decisions, and we could utilize our available capital resources sooner
than we currently expect. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including: * the initiation, trial design,
progress, timing, costs and results of drug discovery, preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates ;-and , in
particular , the clinical trials for JANX007 and JANXO00S; ¢ the number and characteristics of clinical programs that we pursue;
« the outcome, timing and costs of seeking FDA, European Commission and any other comparable regulatory approvals for any
future drug candidates; ¢ the costs of manufacturing our product candidates; * the costs associated with hiring additional
personnel and consultants as our preclinical, manufacturing and clinical activities increase; * the receipt of marketing approval
and revenue received from any commercial sales of any of our product candidates, if approved; ¢ the cost of commercialization
activities for any of our product candidates, if approved, including marketing, sales and distribution costs; * the ability to
establish and maintain strategic collaboration, licensing or other arrangements and the financial terms of such agreements; ¢ the
extent to which we in- license or acquire other products and technologies; ¢ the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting,
maintaining, expanding, defending and enforcing patent claims, including litigation costs and the outcome of such litigation; e
our implementation of additional internal systems and infrastructure, including operational, financial and management
information systems; ¢ our costs associated with expanding our facilities or building out our laboratory space; * the effects of the
disruptions to and volatility in the credit and financial markets in the United States and worldwide resulting from geopolitical
and macroeconomic conditions, including €0VIB-19;-the military conflict in Ukraine and Russia, the war in the Middle East ,
epidemics and bank failures; and ¢ the costs of operating as a public company. Because we do not expect to generate revenue
from product sales for many years, if at all, we will need to obtain substantial additional funding in connection with our
continuing operations and expected increases in expenses. Until such time as we can generate significant revenue from sales of
our product candidates, if ever, we expect to finance our cash needs through equity offerings, debt financings or other capital
sources, including potentially grants, collaborations, licenses or other similar arrangements. In addition, we may seek additional
capital due to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations, even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current
or future operating plans. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, we would be forced to delay,
reduce or eliminate our research and development programs or future commercialization efforts. Raising additional capital may
cause dilution to our stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or product
candidates. Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenue, we expect to finance our operations through
equity offerings, debt financings or other capital sources, including potentially grants, collaborations, licenses or other similar
arrangements. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, current
stockholders will be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect
the rights of existing stockholders. Debt financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or
restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, make capital
expenditures or declare dividends. To the extent we raise funds through collaborations or licensing arrangements with third
parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product
candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. For example, we have entered into a collaboration with
Merck to develop certain specified product candidates, which contains exclusive license rights in favor of Merck. If Merck
decides not to pursue the collaboration, we will not receive the benefit of the milestone and royalty payments that we would
otherwise potentially receive pursuant to our collaboration with Merck and accordingly may need to raise capital from other
sources. If we are unable to raise additional funds when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our
product development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we would
otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves. Our ability to raise additional funds may be adversely impacted by potential
worsening global economic conditions and disruptions to and volatility in the credit and financial markets in the United States
and worldwide. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with product development, we cannot predict the
timing or amount of increased expenses and cannot assure you that we will ever be profitable or generate positive cash flow
from operating activities. Risks Related to the Discovery, Development and Regulatory Approval of Our Product Candidates
We are early in our development efforts and all of our product candidates and research programs other than JANX007 and
JANXO08 are in the preclinical development or discovery stage. We have a ¥ery-limited history of conducting clinical trials to
test our product candidates in humans. We are early in our development efforts and most of our operations to date have been
limited to developing our platform technologies and conducting drug discovery and preclinical studies. Other than JANX007 and
JANXO008, our platform technologies and product candidates remain in the preclinical or discovery stage and our product
candidates are based on novel technologies. As a result, we have limited infrastructure, experience conducting clinical trials as a
company and regulatory interactions, and cannot be certain that our clinical trials will be completed on time, if at all, that our
planned development programs would be acceptable to the FDA, the EMA or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities,
or that, if approval is obtained, such product candidates could be successfully commercialized. Because of the early stage of
development of our products candidates, our ability to eventually generate significant revenues from product sales will depend
on a number of factors, including: * completion of additional preclinical studies with favorable results;  acceptance of INDs by
the FDA or similar regulatory filing with comparable foreign regulatory authorities for the conduct of clinical trials of our



product candidates and our proposed design of future clinical trials; * successful enrollment in, and completion of, clinical trials
and achieving positive results from the trials; « demonstrating a risk- benefit profile acceptable to regulatory authorities; * receipt
of marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities, including biologics license applications (BLAs), from the FDA
and equivalent approvals from comparable foreign regulatory authorities and maintaining such approvals; « making
arrangements with third- party manufacturers, or establishing manufacturing capabilities for clinical supply and, if and when
approved, for commercial supply; ¢ establishing sales, marketing and distribution capabilities and launching commercial sales of
our products, if and when approved, whether alone or in combination with others; ¢ acceptance of our products, if and when
approved, by patients, the medical community and third- party payors; * effectively competing with other therapies; ¢ obtaining
and maintaining third- party coverage and adequate reimbursement; * obtaining and maintaining patent, trade secret and other
intellectual property protection and regulatory exclusivity for our product candidates; and ¢ maintaining a continued acceptable
safety profile of any product following approval, if any. The success of our business, including our ability to finance our
company and generate any revenue in the future, will primarily depend on the successful development, regulatory approval and
commercialization of JANX007 and JANXO008, as well as our other product candidates, which may never occur. In the future,
we may also become dependent on other product candidates that we may develop or acquire; however, given our early stage of
development, it may be several years, if at all, before we have demonstrated the safety and efficacy of a treatment sufficient to
warrant approval for commercialization. If we are unable to develop, or obtain regulatory approval for, or, if approved,
successfully commercialize our product candidates, we may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to continue our business.
Preclinical and clinical development is a lengthy, expensive and uncertain process. The results of preclinical studies and early
clinical trials are not always predictive of future results. JANX007, JANX008 and any other product candidate that we advance
into clinical trials may not achieve favorable results in later clinical trials, if any, or receive marketing approval. Preclinical and
clinical development is expensive and can take many years to complete, and their outcome is inherently uncertain. Failure or
delay can occur at any time during the drug development process including due to factors outside of our control. Success in
preclinical testing and early clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical trials will be successful. A number of companies in
the biopharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in clinical trials, even after promising results in earlier
preclinical or clinical trials. These setbacks have been caused by, among other things, preclinical findings made while clinical
trials were underway and safety or efficacy observations made in clinical trials, including previously unreported adverse events.
The results of preclinical and early clinical trials of our product candidates may not be predictive of the results of later- stage
clinical trials. Product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy traits despite
having progressed through preclinical and initial clinical trials. Notwithstanding any potential promising results in earlier
studies, we cannot be certain that we will not face similar setbacks. Even if our clinical trials are completed, the results may not
be sufficient to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates. We may experience delays in conducting our current
clinical trials and initiating our future clinical trials for our product candidates and we cannot be certain that the trials or any
other future clinical trials for our product candidates will begin on time, need to be redesigned, enroll an adequate number of
patients on time or be completed on schedule, if at all. Clinical trials can be delayed or terminated for a variety of reasons,
including delay or failure related to: * the FDA, the EMA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities disagreeing as to the
design or implementation of our clinical trials, or the sufficiency of preclinical data to initiate clinical trials; ¢ the size of the
study population for further analysis of the study’ s primary endpoints; * obtaining regulatory approval to commence a trial;
reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective CROs and clinical trial sites, the terms of which can be subject to
extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites; ¢ obtaining IRB approval or ethics
committee positive opinions; ¢ recruiting suitable patients to participate in a trial; « having patients complete a trial or return for
post- treatment follow- up; * addressing patient safety concerns that arise during the course of a trial; * addressing any conflicts
with new or existing laws or regulations; * adding a sufficient number of clinical trial sites; or « manufacturing sufficient
quantities of product candidate for use in clinical trials. Our product candidates may be used in combination with other cancer
drugs, such as other immuno- oncology agents, monoclonal antibodies or other protein- based drugs or small molecule anti-
cancer agents such as targeted agents or chemotherapy, which can cause side effects or adverse events that are unrelated to our
product candidate but may still impact the success of our clinical trials. Additionally, our product candidates could potentially
cause adverse events. The inclusion of critically ill patients in our clinical trials may result in deaths or other adverse medical
events due to other therapies or medications that such patients may be using. As described above, any of these events could
prevent us from obtaining regulatory approval or achieving or maintaining market acceptance of our product candidates and
impair our ability to commercialize our products. Because all of our product candidates are derived from our platform
technologies, a clinical failure of one of our product candidates may also increase the actual or perceived likelihood that our
other product candidates will experience similar failures. Of the large number of products in development, only a small
percentage successfully complete the FDA, the European Commission’ s or comparable foreign regulatory authorities’ approval
processes and are commercialized. The lengthy approval process as well as the unpredictability of future clinical trial results
may result in our failing to obtain regulatory approval to market our product candidates, which would significantly harm our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Even if we eventually complete clinical testing and receive
approval of a BLA or foreign marketing application for our product candidates, the FDA, the European Commission or the
comparable foreign regulatory authorities may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly additional clinical trials,
including post- market clinical trials. The FDA, the European Commission or the comparable foreign regulatory authorities also
may approve a product candidate for a more limited indication or patient population than we originally request, and the FDA,
the European Commission or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may not approve the labeling that we believe is
necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of a product candidate. Any delay in obtaining, or inability to obtain,
applicable regulatory approval would delay or prevent commercialization of that product candidate and would adversely impact



our business and prospects. In addition, the FDA, the EMA and the European Commission or comparable foreign regulatory
authorities may change their policies, adopt additional regulations or revise existing regulations or take other actions, which may
prevent or delay approval of our future product candidates under development on a timely basis. Such policy or regulatory
changes could impose additional requirements upon us that could delay our ability to obtain approvals, increase the costs of
compliance or restrict our ability to maintain any marketing authorizations we may have obtained. Our product candidates are
based on novel technologies, which make it difficult to predict the timing, results and cost of product candidate development
and likelihood of obtaining regulatory approval. We have concentrated our research and development efforts on product
candidates using our proprietary technology, and our future success depends on the successful development of this approach.
We have not yet succeeded and may not succeed in demonstrating efficacy and safety for any product candidates based on our
platform technologies in clinical trials or in obtaining marketing approval thereafter, and use of our platform technologies may
not ever result in marketable products. Additionally, although JAN007 and JANXO008 have been in Phase 1 clinical development
since October 2022 and April 2023, respectively, our clinical data are limited, and nonclinical data from animal models and
preclinical cell lines may not translate into humans and may not accurately predict the safety and efficacy of our product
candidates in humans. Our approach may be unsuccessful in identifying product candidates for our development programs. We
may also experience delays in developing a sustainable, reproducible and scalable manufacturing process or transferring that
process to commercial partners or establishing our own commercial manufacturing capabilities, which may prevent us from
completing our ongoing and planned clinical trials or commercializing any products on a timely or profitable basis, if at all.
Further, because all of our product candidates and development programs are based on the same platform technologies, adverse
developments with respect to one of our programs may have a significant adverse impact on the actual or perceived likelihood of
success and value of our other programs. The clinical trial requirements of the FDA, EMA and other comparable foreign
regulatory authorities, and the criteria regulators use to determine the safety and efficacy of a product candidate vary
substantially according to the type, complexity, novelty and intended use and market of the potential products. The regulatory
approval process for novel product candidates such as ours can be more expensive and take longer than for other, better known
or extensively studied pharmaceutical or other product candidates. The immuno- oncology industry is also rapidly developing,
and our competitors may introduce new technologies that render our technologies obsolete or less attractive, or limit the
commercial value of our product candidates. New technology could emerge at any point in the development cycle of our product
candidates. By contrast, adverse developments with respect to other companies that attempt to use a similar approach to our
approach may adversely impact the actual or perceived value and potential of our product candidates. If any of these events
occur, we may be forced to abandon our development efforts for a program or programs, which would have a material adverse
effect on our business and could potentially cause us to cease operations. If we experience delays in or difficulties enrolling our
ongoing and planned clinical trials, our research and development efforts and business, financial condition and results of
operations could be materially adversely affected. We may not be able to initiate or continue our ongoing and planned clinical
trials for our product candidates if we are unable to identify and enroll a sufficient number of eligible patients to participate in
these trials as required by the FDA, the EMA, or comparable foreign regulatory authorities. Patient enrollment, a significant
factor in the timing of clinical trials, is affected by many factors including the size and nature of the patient population, the
proximity of patients to clinical sites, the eligibility criteria for the clinical trial, the design of the clinical trial, competing
clinical trials and clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages of the product candidate being studied in
relation to other available therapies, including any new drugs that may be approved for the indications we are investigating. The
timely completion of clinical trials in accordance with their protocols depends, among other things, on our ability to enroll a
sufficient number of patients who remain in the study until its conclusion. We may experience difficulties in patient enrollment
or retention in our clinical trials for a variety of reasons. The enrollment of patients depends on many factors, including: * the
patient eligibility criteria defined in the protocol; * the size of the patient population required for analysis of the trial’ s primary
endpoints; * the proximity of patients to study sites; * the design of the trial; * our ability to recruit clinical trial investigators
with the appropriate competencies and experience; ¢ clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages of the
product candidate being studied in relation to other available therapies, including any new drugs that may be approved for the
indications we are investigating;  our ability to obtain and maintain patient consents; and ¢ the risk that patients enrolled in
clinical trials will drop out of the trials before completion. In addition, our ongoing and planned clinical trials may compete with
other clinical trials that are in the same therapeutic areas as our product candidates, and this competition will reduce the number
and types of patients available to us, because some patients who might have opted to enroll in our trials may instead opt to enroll
in a trial being conducted by one of our competitors. Further, because our ongoing and planned clinical trials are in patients with
relapsed / refractory cancer, the patients are typically in the late stages of their disease and may experience disease progression
independent from our product candidates, making them unevaluable for purposes of the clinical trial and requiring additional
patient enrollment. Delays in patient enrollment may result in increased costs or may affect the timing or outcome of our
ongoing and planned clinical trials, which could prevent completion of these trials and adversely affect our ability to advance the
development of our product candidates. Serious adverse events, undesirable side effects or other unexpected properties of our
product candidates may be identified during development or after approval, which could lead to the discontinuation of our
clinical development programs, refusal by regulatory authorities to approve our product candidates or, if discovered following
marketing approval, revocation of marketing authorizations or limitations on the use of our product candidates thereby limiting
the commercial potential of such product candidate. As we continue developing and conducting clinical trials of our product
candidates, serious adverse events (SAEs), undesirable side effects, relapse of disease or unexpected characteristics may emerge
causing us to abandon these product candidates or limit their development to more narrow uses or subpopulations in which the
SAEs or undesirable side effects or other characteristics are less prevalent, less severe or more acceptable from a risk- benefit
perspective or in which efficacy is more pronounced or durable. Should we observe any SAEs in our ongoing or planned clinical



trials or identify other undesirable side effects or other unexpected findings depending on their severity, our trials could be
delayed or even stopped and our development programs may be halted entirely, such as imposition of a clinical hold by the FDA
or comparable actions of foreign regulatory authorities and institutional review boards and ethics committees. The class of TCEs
has been associated with overactivation of the immune system leading to cytokine release syndrome (CRS) and on- target
healthy tissue toxicities, and while we have designed our TRACTr and TRACIr platform technologies and product candidates to
mitigate these safety risks, until such time as we complete large- scale human trials there can be no assurances that our product
candidates will not experience similar effects. Even if our product candidates initially show positive results in early clinical
trials, the side effects of biological products are frequently only detectable after they are tested in larger, longer and more
extensive clinical trials or, in some cases, after they are made available to patients on a commercial scale after approval.
Sometimes, it can be difficult to determine if the serious adverse or unexpected side effects were caused by the product
candidate or another factor, especially in oncology subjects who may suffer from other medical conditions and be taking other
medications. If serious adverse or unexpected side effects are identified during development or after approval and are
determined to be attributed to our product candidate, we may be required to develop a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy
(REMS) , a Risk Management Plan, or equivalent foreign procedure to ensure that the benefits of treatment with such product
candidate outweigh the risks for each potential patient, which may include, among other things, a communication plan to health
care practitioners, patient education, extensive patient monitoring or distribution systems and processes that are highly
controlled, restrictive and more costly than what is typical for the industry. Product- related side effects could also result in
potential product liability claims. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition and prospects
significantly. In addition, if one or more of our product candidates receives marketing approval, and we or others later identify
undesirable side effects caused by such products, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result,
including: « regulatory authorities may suspend, vary, withdraw, or limit approvals of such product, or seek an injunction against
its manufacture or distribution; ¢ regulatory authorities may require additional warnings on the label, including “ boxed
warnings, or issue safety alerts, Dear Healthcare Provider letters, press releases or other communications containing warnings or
other safety information about the product; « we may be required to create a medication guide outlining the risks of such side
effects for distribution to patients; * we may be required to change the way a product is administered or conduct additional
clinical trials; * the product may become less competitive, and our reputation may suffer; « we may be obliged to, need to, or
decide to recall or remove the product from the marketplace; and * we may be subject to fines, injunctions or the imposition of
civil or criminal penalties. Interim, topline and preliminary data from our preclinical studies or clinical trials may change as
more patient data become available, and are subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in
the final data. From time to time, we have and may continue to publicly disclose preliminary, interim or topline data from our
preclinical studies or clinical trials, which may be subject to change following a more comprehensive review of the data related
to the particular study or trial. We also make assumptions, estimations, calculations and conclusions as part of our analyses of
data, and we may not have received or had the opportunity to fully and carefully evaluate all data. As a result, the interim,
topline or preliminary results that we report may differ from future results of the same studies, or different conclusions or
considerations may qualify such results, once additional data have been received and fully evaluated. Topline data also remain
subject to audit and verification procedures that may result in the final data being materially different from the preliminary data
we previously published. As a result, interim, topline and preliminary data should be viewed with caution until the final data are
available. From time to time, we may also disclose interim data from our clinical trials. Interim, topline, or preliminary data
from clinical trials that we may complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change
as patient enrollment continues and more patient data become available. Adverse differences between preliminary, interim or
topline data and final data could significantly harm our business prospects. Further, others, including regulatory authorities, may
not accept or agree with our assumptions, estimates, calculations, conclusions or analyses or may interpret or weigh the
importance of data differently, which could impact the value of the particular program, the approvability or commercialization
of the particular product candidate or product and our company in general. In addition, the information we choose to publicly
disclose regarding a particular study or clinical trial is based on what is typically extensive information, and you or others may
not agree with what we determine to be material or otherwise appropriate information to include in our disclosure, and any
information we determine not to disclose may ultimately be deemed significant with respect to future decisions, conclusions,
views, activities or otherwise regarding a particular product candidate or our business. If the interim, topline, or preliminary data
that we report differ from actual results, or if others, including regulatory authorities, disagree with the conclusions reached, our
ability to obtain approval for and commercialize our product candidates, our business, operating results, prospects or financial
condition may be harmed. The regulatory approval process is lengthy, expensive and uncertain, and we may be unable to obtain
regulatory approval for our product candidates under applicable regulatory requirements. The denial or delay of any such
approval would delay commercialization of our product candidates and adversely impact our ability to generate revenue, our
business and our results of operations. The development, research, testing, manufacturing, labeling, approval, selling, import,
export, marketing, promotion and distribution of drug products are subject to extensive and evolving regulation by federal, state
and local governmental authorities in the United States, principally the FDA, and by foreign regulatory authorities, which
regulations may differ from country to country. Neither we nor any current or future collaborator is permitted to market any of
our product candidates in the United States until we receive regulatory approval of a BLA from the FDA. Equivalent limitations
are imposed by comparable foreign regulatory authorities within their territories. Obtaining regulatory approval of a BLA, or in
an equivalent foreign process, can be a lengthy, expensive and uncertain process. Prior to obtaining approval to commercialize a
product candidate in the United States or abroad, we or our collaborators must demonstrate with substantial evidence from well-
controlled clinical trials, and to the satisfaction of the FDA, the EMA and the European Commission, or other foreign regulatory
authorities, that such product candidates are safe and effective for their intended uses. The number of nonclinical studies and



clinical trials that will be required for FDA, European Commission or comparable foreign regulatory approval varies depending
on the product candidate, the disease or condition that the product candidate is designed to address, and the regulations
applicable to any particular product candidate. Results from nonclinical studies and clinical trials can be interpreted in different
ways. Even if we believe the nonclinical or clinical data for our product candidates are positive, such data may not be sufficient
to support approval by the FDA, the European Commission or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities. Administering
product candidates to humans may produce undesirable side effects, which could interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials and result
in the FDA, the European Commission or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities denying approval of a product
candidate for any or all indications. The FDA, the EMA, the European Commission or other comparable foreign regulatory
authorities, may also require us to conduct additional studies or trials for our product candidates either prior to or post- approval,
or may object to elements of our clinical development program such as the number of subjects in our clinical trials from the
United States or abroad. The FDA, the EMA, the European Commission or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities can
delay, limit or deny approval of our product candidates or require us to conduct additional nonclinical or clinical testing or
abandon a program for many reasons, including: * the FDA, the EMA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities’
disagreement with the design or implementation of our ongoing or planned clinical trials; * negative or ambiguous results from
our clinical trials or results that may not meet the level of statistical s1gn1ﬁcance required by the FDA, the EMA sthe-Eurepean
Commisstorror comparable forelgn regulatory authorities for approval » serious and unexpected drug- related side effects
experienced by participants in our clinical trials or by individuals using drugs similar to our product candidates; ¢ our inability to
demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA, the EMA and-theEuropean-Commisstoror comparable foreign regulatory
authorities that our product candidates are safe and effective for the proposed indication; * the FDA’ s, the EMA’ s, or
comparable foreign regulatory authorities’ disagreement with the interpretation of data from nonclinical studies or clinical trials;
* our inability to demonstrate the clinical and other benefits of our product candidates outweigh any safety or other perceived
risks; « the FDA’ s, the EMA’ s or a comparable foreign regulatory authorities’ requirement for additional nonclinical studies or
clinical trials; « the FDA” s, the EMA” s;-the-Eurepean-Commisston—s or comparable foreign regulatory authorities'
disagreement regarding the formulation, labeling and / or the specifications of our product candidates; * the FDA’ s or
comparable foreign regulatory authorities’ failure to approve the manufacturing processes or facilities of third- party
manufacturers with which we contract; or « the potential for approval policies or regulations of the FDA, the European
Commission or comparable foreign regulatory authorities’ to significantly change in a manner rendering our clinical data
insufficient for approval. Of the large number of drugs in development, only a small percentage successfully complete the FDA,
the European Commission, or other regulatory approval processes and are commercialized. The lengthy approval process as
well as the unpredictability of future clinical trial results may result in our failing to obtain regulatory approval to market our
product candidates, which would significantly harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Even
if we eventually complete clinical testing and receive approval of a BLA or foreign marketing authorization application for our
product candidates, the FDA, the European Commission, or the applicable foreign regulatory authority may grant approval
contingent on the performance of costly additional clinical trials, including Phase 4 clinical trials, and / or in the case of the
FDA, the implementation of a REMS, and in the case of comparable foreign regulatory authorities equivalent actions, which
may be required to ensure safe use of the drug after approval. The FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory authority also may
approve a product candidate for a more limited indication or a narrower patient population than we originally requested, and the
FDA, European Commission, or applicable foreign regulatory authority may not approve the labeling that we believe is
necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of a product candidate. Any delay in obtaining, or inability to obtain,
applicable regulatory approval would delay or prevent commercialization of that product candidate and would materially
adversely impact our business and prospects. Even if we obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates, they will remain
subject to ongoing regulatory oversight. Additionally, our product candidates, if approved, could be subject to labeling and other
restrictions on marketing or withdrawal from the market, and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory
requirements or if we experience unanticipated problems with our product candidates, when and if any of them are approved.
Even if we obtain regulatory approval for any of our product candidates, they will be subject to extensive and ongoing
regulatory requirements for manufacturing, labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising,
promotion, sampling and record- keeping. These requirements include submissions of safety and other post- marketing
information and reports, registration, as well as continued compliance with current cGMP regulations, as well as GCPs for any
clinical trials that we conduct post- approval, all of which may result in significant expense and limit our ability to
commercialize such products. In addition, any regulatory approvals that we receive for our product candidates may also be
subject to limitations on the approved indicated uses for which the product may be marketed or to the conditions of approval, or
contain requirements for potentially costly post- marketing testing, including Phase 4 clinical trials, and surveillance to monitor
the safety and efficacy of the product candidate. The FDA may also require a REMS and the European Commission, or
comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require Risk Management Plans or equivalent actions as a condition of
approval of our product candidates, which could include requirements for a medication guide, physician communication plans or
additional elements to ensure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization
tools. Such regulatory requirements may differ from country to country depending on where we have received regulatory
approval. The FDA’ s, EMA’ s, European Commission 's , and other regulatory authorities’ policies may change and additional
government regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates. We
cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative
action, either in the United States or abroad. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the
adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing
approval that we may have obtained and we may not achieve or sustain profitability. Moreover, if there are changes in the



application of legislation or regulatory policies, or if problems are discovered with a product or our manufacture of a product, or
if we or one of our distributors, licensees or co- marketers fails to comply with regulatory requirements, the regulators could
take various actions. These include: ¢ issuing warning or untitled letters; « mandating modifications to promotional materials or
require us to provide corrective information to healthcare professionals, or require other restrictions on the labeling or marketing
of such products; * seeking an injunction or imposing civil or criminal penalties or monetary fines; * suspension or imposition of
restrictions on operations, including product manufacturing; ¢ seizure or detention of products, refusal to permit the import or
export of products or request that we initiate a product recall; ¢ suspension, modification or withdrawal of our marketing
authorizations; * suspension of any ongoing clinical trials;  refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to
applications submitted by us; ¢ refusal to permit the import or export of products; or * requiring us to conduct additional clinical
trials, change our product labeling or submit additional applications for marketing authorization. Moreover, the FDA and other
regulatory authorities strictly regulate the promotional claims that may be made about biologic products. In particular, while
physicians may choose to prescribe products for uses that are not described in the product’ s labeling and for uses that differ
from those tested in clinical trials and approved by the regulatory authorities, a product may not be promoted for uses that are
not approved by the FDA, the European Commission or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities as reflected in the
product’ s approved labeling. The FDA and other comparable foreign regulatory authorities actively enforce the laws and
regulations prohibiting the promotion of off- label uses, and a company that is found to have improperly promoted off- label
uses may be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties. These penalties could include delays or refusal to
authorize the conduct of clinical trials, or to grant marketing authorization, product withdrawals and recalls, product seizures,
suspension, withdrawal or variation of the marketing authorization, total or partial suspension of production, distribution,
manufacturing or clinical trials, operating restrictions, injunctions, suspension of licenses, fines and criminal penalties. Any
government investigation of alleged violations of law could require us to expend significant time and resources in response and
could generate negative publicity. The occurrence of any event or penalty described above may inhibit our ability to
commercialize our product candidates and harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. If any of
these events occurs, our ability to sell such product may be impaired, and we may incur substantial additional expense to
comply with regulatory requirements, which could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Disruptions at the FDA and other comparable foreign regulatory authorities and bodies caused by funding shortages or global
health concerns could hinder their ability to hire, retain or deploy key leadership and other personnel, or otherwise prevent new
or modified products from being developed, or approved or commercialized in a timely manner or at all, which could negatively
impact our business. The ability of the FDA, EMA, European Commission, and other foreign regulatory authorities to review
applications for approval and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and
funding levels, ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and statutory, regulatory, and policy
changes. Average review times at the FDA have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding of other
government agencies that fund research and development activities is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid
and unpredictable. Disruptions at the FDA and other foreign regulatory authorities may also slow the time necessary for new
biologics to be reviewed and / or approved by necessary forergn regulatory authorrtres which would adversely affect our
business. For example, over the last several years e g d —the U. S.
government has shut down several times and certain regulatory auth0r1t1es such as the FDA, have had to furlough critical FDA
employees and stop critical activities. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, it could significantly impact the ability of
the FDA to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Separately, the FDA and regulatory authorities outside the United States have and may adopt restrictions or other policy
measures in response to public health crises that divert resources and delay their attention from any submissions we may make.
If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, or if global health concerns continue to prevent the FDA or other foreign
regulatory authorities from conducting their regular inspections, reviews, or other regulatory activities, it could significantly
impact the ability of the FDA or other foreign regulatory authorities to timely review and process our regulatory submissions,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business. We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product
candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product candidates or indications that may be more profitable or for which there
is a greater likelihood of success. Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we must prioritize our research
programs and will need to focus our discovery and development on select product candidates and indications. Correctly
prioritizing our research and development activities is particularly important for us due to the breadth of potential product
candidates and indications that we believe could be pursued using our platform technologies. As a result, we may forego or
delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or for other indications that later prove to have greater commercial
potential. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market
opportunities. Our spending on current and future research and development programs and product candidates for specific
indications may not yield any commercially viable products. If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target
market for a particular product candidate, we may also relinquish valuable rights to that product candidate through collaboration,
licensing or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have been more advantageous for us to retain sole
development and commercialization rights to such product candidate. We may not be successful in our efforts to identify or
discover additional product candidates in the future. Our research programs may initially show promise in identifying potential
product candidates, yet fail to yield product candidates for clinical development for a number of reasons, including: * our
inability to design such product candidates with the properties that we desire; or * potential product candidates may, on further
study, be shown to have harmful side effects or other characteristics that indicate that they are unlikely to be products that will
receive marketing approval and achieve market acceptance. Research programs to identify new product candidates require
substantial technical, financial and human resources. If we are unable to identify suitable additional candidates for preclinical




and clinical development, our opportunities to successfully develop and commercialize therapeutic products will be limited.
Risks Related to Manufacturing, Commercialization and Reliance on Third Parties We sray-rely on third parties to conduct,
supervise, and / or monitor our ongoing and planned clinical trials and perform some of our research and preclinical studies. If
these third parties do not satisfactorily carry out their contractual duties or fail to meet expected deadlines, our development
programs may be delayed or subject to increased costs, each of which may have an adverse effect on our business and prospects.
We do not have the ability to conduct all aspects of our preclinical testing or clinical trials ourselves. As a result, we are and
expect to remain dependent on third parties to conduct our preclinical studies, ongoing clinical trials and any future clinical trials
of our product candidates. The timing of the initiation and completion of these studies and trials will therefore be partially
controlled by such third parties and may result in delays to our development programs. Nevertheless, we are responsible for
ensuring that each of our preclinical studies and clinical trials is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol, legal
requirements, and scientific standards, and our reliance on the CROs and other third parties does not relieve us of our regulatory
responsibilities. We and our CROs are required to comply with GLP and GCP requirements, which are regulations and
guidelines enforced by the FDA, the Competent Authorities of EEA countries, and comparable foreign regulatory authorities for
all of our product candidates in clinical development. Regulatory authorities enforce these GLP and GCP requirements through
periodic inspections of preclinical study sites, trial sponsors, clinical trial investigators and clinical trial sites. If we or any of our
CROs or clinical trial sites fail to comply with applicable GLP or GCP requirements, the data generated in our preclinical studies
and clinical trials may be deemed unreliable, and the FDA, the EMA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require
us to perform additional preclinical or clinical trials before approving our marketing authorization applications. In addition, our
clinical trials must be conducted with product produced under cGMP regulations. Our failure to comply with these regulations
may require us to stop and / or repeat clinical trials, which would delay the marketing approval process. There is no guarantee
that any such CROs, clinical trial investigators or other third parties on which we rely will devote adequate time and resources to
our development activities or perform as contractually required. If any of these third parties fail to meet expected deadlines,
adhere to our clinical protocols or meet regulatory requirements, otherwise performs in a substandard manner, or terminates its
engagement with us, the timelines for our development programs may be extended or delayed or our development activities may
be suspended or terminated. If any of our clinical trial sites terminates for any reason, we may experience the loss of follow- up
information on subjects enrolled in such clinical trials unless we are able to transfer those subjects to another qualified clinical
trial site, which may be difficult or impossible. In addition, clinical trial investigators for our clinical trials may serve as
scientific advisors or consultants to us from time to time and may receive cash or equity compensation in connection with such
services. If these relationships and any related compensation result in perceived or actual conflicts of interest, or the FDA, the
EMA or any comparable foreign regulatory authority concludes that the financial relationship may have affected the
interpretation of the trial, the integrity of the data generated at the applicable clinical trial site may be questioned and the utility
of the clinical trial itself may be jeopardized, which could result in the delay or rejection of any marketing authorization
application we submit by the FDA, the EMA or any comparable foreign regulatory authority. Any such delay or rejection could
prevent us from commercializing our product candidates. Furthermore, these third parties may also have relationships with other
entities, some of which may be our competitors. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties, meet
expected deadlines or conduct our clinical trials in accordance with regulatory requirements or our stated protocols, we will not
be able to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, marketing approvals for our product candidates and will not be able to, or may
be delayed in our efforts to, successfully commercialize our products. We contract with third parties for the manufacturing and
supply of certain of our product candidates for use in preclinical testing and clinical trials, which supply may become limited or
interrupted or may not be of satisfactory quality and quantity. We do not have any manufacturing facilities. We produce in our
laboratory relatively small quantities of product for evaluation in our research programs. We rely on third parties for the
manufacture of our product candidates for clinical testing and we will continue to rely on such third parties for commercial
manufacture if any of our product candidates are approved. We currently have limited manufacturing arrangements and expect
that the Bulk Drug Substance ( BDS ) for each of our product candidates will only be covered by single source suppliers for
the foreseeable future. This reliance increases the risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of our product candidates or
products, if approved, or such quantities at an acceptable cost or quality, which could delay, prevent or impair our development
or commercialization efforts. Furthermore, all entities involved in the preparation of therapeutics for clinical trials or
commercial sale, including our existing contract manufacturers for our product candidates, are subject to extensive regulation.
Components of a finished therapeutic product approved for commercial sale or used in clinical trials must be manufactured in
accordance with cGMP requirements. These regulations govern manufacturing processes and procedures, including record
keeping, and the implementation and operation of quality systems to control and assure the quality of investigational products
and products approved for sale. Poor control of production processes can lead to the introduction of contaminants, or to
inadvertent changes in the properties or stability of our product candidates that may not be detectable in final product testing.
We or our contract manufacturers must supply all necessary documentation in support of a BLA, or equivalent foreign
application, on a timely basis and must adhere to the relevant Good Laboratory Practice regulations and cGMP regulations
enforced by the FDA, and competent authorities of EEA countries, through their facilities inspection program. Comparable
foreign regulatory authorities may require compliance with similar requirements. The facilities and quality systems of our third-
party contract manufacturers must pass a pre- approval inspection for compliance with the applicable regulations as a condition
of marketing approval of our product candidates. We de-nethave limited control ever the manufacturing activities of, and are
completely dependent on, our contract manufacturers for compliance with cGMP regulations. In the event that any of our
manufacturers fails to comply with such requirements or to perform its obligations to us in relation to quality, timing or
otherwise, or if our supply of components or other materials becomes limited or interrupted for other reasons, we may be forced
to manufacture the materials ourselves, for which we currently do not have the capabilities or resources, or enter into an



agreement with another third- party, which we may not be able to do on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. In particular,
any replacement of our manufacturers could require significant effort and expertise because there may be a limited number of
qualified replacements. In some cases, the technical skills or technology required to manufacture our product candidates may be
unique or proprietary to the original manufacturer and we may have difficulty transferring such skills or technology to another
third- party and a feasible alternative may not exist. In addition, certain of our product candidates and our own proprietary
methods have never been produced or implemented outside of our company, and we may therefore experience delays to our
development programs if and when we attempt to establish new third- party manufacturing arrangements for these product
candidates or methods. These factors would increase our reliance on such manufacturer or require us to obtain a license from
such manufacturer in order to have another third- party manufacture our product candidates. If we are required to or voluntarily
change manufacturers for any reason, we will be required to verify that the new manufacturer maintains facilities and procedures
that comply with quality standards and with all applicable regulations and guidelines and that the product produced is equivalent
to that produced in a prior facility. The delays associated with the verification of a new manufacturer and equivalent product
could negatively affect our ability to develop product candidates in a timely manner or within budget. Our or a third- party’ s
failure to execute on our manufacturing requirements, do so on commercially reasonable terms and timelines and comply with
c¢GMP requirements could adversely affect our business in a number of ways, including: * inability to meet our product
specifications and quality requirements consistently; ¢ an inability to initiate or continue preclinical studies or clinical trials of
our product candidates under development; ¢ delay in submitting regulatory applications, or receiving marketing approvals, for
our product candidates, if at all; « loss of the cooperation of future collaborators; ¢ subjecting third- party manufacturing
facilities or our manufacturing facilities to additional inspections by regulatory authorities; ¢ requirements to cease development
or to recall batches of our product candidates; and ¢ in the event of approval to market and commercialize our product
candidates, an inability to meet commercial demands for our product or any other future product candidates. Our ongoing
manufacturing activities with WuXi Biologics may expose us to additional risk. Certain Chinese biotechnology
companies may become subject to trade restrictions, sanctions, other regulatory requirements, or proposed legislation by
the U. S. government, which would restrict or even prohibit our ability to work with such entities, thereby potentially
disrupting the supply of material to us. Any U. S. executive action, legislative action, or potential sanctions with China
could materially impact our work with WuXi Biologics. U. S. executive agencies have the ability to designate entities and
individuals on various governmental prohibited and restricted parties lists. Depending on the designation, potential
consequences can range from a comprehensive prohibition on all transactions or dealings with designated parties, or a
limited prohibition on certain types of activities, such as exports and financing activities, with designated parties. Any
unfavorable government policies on international trade, such as export controls, capital controls or tariffs, new
legislation or regulations, renegotiation of existing trade agreements, or any retaliatory trade actions due to recent trade
tension, may impede, delay, limit, or increase the cost of potentially manufacturing our product candidates including
pursuant to any manufacturing service arrangements with WuXi Biologics. Such events could have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations. Manufacturing our product candidates is complex and our third-
party manufacturers may encounter difficulties in production. If any of our third- party manufacturers encounter such
difficulties, our ability to provide supply of our product candidates for clinical trials or our products for patients, if approved,
could be delayed or prevented. Manufacturing our product candidates is complex and requires the use of technologies directed to
handle living cells. Manufacturing these products requires facilities specifically designed for and validated for this purpose and
sophisticated quality assurance and quality control procedures are necessary. Slight deviations anywhere in the manufacturing
process, including filling, labeling, packaging, storage and shipping and quality control and testing, may result in lot failures,
product recalls or expiry. When changes are made to the manufacturing process, we may be required to provide preclinical and
clinical data showing the comparable identity, strength, quality, purity or potency of the products before and after such changes.
If microbial, viral or other contaminations are discovered at manufacturing facilities, such facilities may need to be closed for an
extended period of time to investigate and remedy the contamination, which could delay clinical trials and adversely harm our
business. The use of biologically derived ingredients can also lead to allegations of harm, including infections or allergic
reactions, or closure of product facilities due to possible contamination. In addition, there are risks associated with large scale
manufacturing for clinical trials or commercial scale including, among others, cost overruns, potential problems with process
scale- up, process reproducibility, stability issues, compliance with good manufacturing practices, lot consistency, significant
lead times and timely availability of raw materials. Even if we obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates,
there is no assurance that we or our manufacturers will be able to manufacture the approved product to specifications acceptable
to the FDA , the EMA or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities, to produce it in sufficient quantities to meet the
requirements for the potential commercial launch of the product or to meet potential future demand. If our manufacturers are
unable to produce sufficient quantities for clinical trials or for commercialization, our development and commercialization
efforts would be impaired, which would have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and
growth prospects. Due to the early nature of our product candidates, the drug product may not be stable over time causing
changes to be made to the manufacturing, formulation or storage process, which may result in delays or stopping the
development of the product candidate. Changes in methods of product candidate manufacturing may result in additional costs or
delays. As product candidates progress through preclinical to late- stage clinical trials to marketing approval and
commercialization, it is common that various aspects of the development program, such as manufacturing methods, are altered
along the way in an effort to optimize yield, manufacturing batch size, change drug product dosage form, minimize costs and
achieve consistent quality and results. Such changes carry the risk that they will not achieve these intended objectives. Any of
these changes could cause our product candidates to perform differently and affect the results of clinical trials or other future
clinical trials conducted with the altered materials. This could delay completion of clinical trials, require the conduct of bridging



clinical trials or the repetition of one or more clinical trials, increase clinical trial costs, delay approval of our product candidates
and jeopardize our ability to commercialize our product candidates and generate revenue. Any approved products may fail to
achieve the degree of market acceptance by physicians, patients, hospitals, cancer treatment centers, healthcare payors and
others in the medical community necessary for commercial success. If any of our product candidates receive marketing
approval, they may nonetheless fail to gain sufficient market acceptance by physicians, patients, healthcare payors and others in
the medical community. For example, current cancer treatments like chemotherapy and radiation therapy are well established in
the medical community, and physicians may continue to rely on these treatments. Most of our product candidates target
meehanisms-medical conditions for which there are limited or no currently approved products, which may result in slower
adoption by physicians, patients and payors. If our product candidates do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance, we may
not generate significant product revenue and we may not become profitable. The degree of market acceptance of our product
candidates, if approved for commercial sale, will depend on a number of factors, including: « efficacy and potential advantages
compared to alternative treatments; ¢ our ability to offer our products for sale at competitive prices; * convenience and ease of
administration compared to alternative treatments; ¢ the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies and of
physicians to prescribe these therapies; ¢ the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement from third- party payors, and
the willingness of patients to pay out of pocket in the absence of coverage or limited third- party payor reimbursement; ¢ the
strength of marketing and distribution support; and * the prevalence and severity of any side effects. We may not be able to
successfully commercialize our product candidates, if approved, due to unfavorable pricing regulations or third- party coverage
and reimbursement policies, which could make it difficult for us to sell our product candidates profitably. Obtaining coverage
and reimbursement approval for a product from a government or other third- party payor is a time- consuming and costly
process, with uncertain results, that could require us to provide supporting scientific, clinical and cost effectiveness data for the
use of our products to the payor. There may be significant delays in obtaining such coverage and reimbursement for newly
approved products, and coverage may not be available, or may be more limited than the purposes for which the product is
approved by the FDA, the European Commission, or comparable foreign regulatory authorities. Moreover, eligibility for
coverage and reimbursement does not imply that a product will be paid for in all cases or at a rate that covers our costs,
including research, development, intellectual property, manufacture, sale and distribution expenses. Interim reimbursement
levels for new products, if applicable, may also not be sufficient to cover our costs and may not be made permanent.
Reimbursement rates may vary according to the use of the product and the clinical setting in which it is used, may be based on
reimbursement levels already set for lower cost products and may be incorporated into existing payments for other services. Net
prices for products may be reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required by government healthcare programs or private
payors, by any future laws limiting drug prices and by any future relaxation of laws that presently restrict imports of product
from countries where they may be sold at lower prices than in the United States. There is significant uncertainty related to the
insurance coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products. In the United States, there is no uniform policy among
third- party payors for coverage and reimbursement. Third- party payors often rely upon Medicare coverage policy and payment
limitations in setting reimbursement policies, but also have their own methods and approval process apart from Medicare
coverage and reimbursement determinations. Therefore, one third- party payor’ s determination to provide coverage for a
product does not assure that other payors will also provide coverage for the product. The approach to pricing and reimbursement
also varies widely between third countries, including between EEA countries. We cannot be sure that reimbursement will be
available for any product that we commercialize and, if coverage and reimbursement are available, what the level of
reimbursement will be. Obtaining reimbursement for our products may be particularly difficult because of the higher prices
often associated with branded therapeutics and therapeutics administered under the supervision of a physician. Our inability to
promptly obtain coverage and adequate reimbursement rates from both government- funded and private payors for any approved
products that we develop could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to
commercialize products and our overall financial condition. Reimbursement may impact the demand for, and the price of, any
product for which we obtain marketing approval. Even if we obtain coverage for a given product by a third- party payor, the
resulting reimbursement payment rates may not be adequate or may require co- payments that patients find unacceptably high.
Patients who are prescribed medications for the treatment of their conditions, and their prescribing physicians, generally rely on
third- party payors to reimburse all or part of the costs associated with those medications. Patients are unlikely to use our
products unless coverage is provided and reimbursement is adequate to cover all or a significant portion of the cost of our
products. Therefore, coverage and adequate reimbursement are critical to a new product’ s acceptance. Coverage decisions may
depend upon clinical and economic standards that disfavor new products when more established or lower cost therapeutic
alternatives are already available or subsequently become available. For products administered under the supervision of a
physician, obtaining coverage and adequate reimbursement may be particularly difficult because of the higher prices often
associated with such drugs. Even if favorable coverage and reimbursement status is attained for one or more products for
which we receive regulatory approval, less favorable coverage policies and reimbursement rates may be implemented in
the future. Additionally, separate reimbursement for the product itself may or may not be available. Instead, the hospital or
administering physician may be reimbursed only for providing the treatment or procedure in which our product is used. Further,
from time to time, in the US the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) revises the reimbursement systems used to
reimburse health care providers, including the Medicare Physician Fee Schedule and Hospital Outpatient Prospective Payment
System, which may result in reduced Medicare payments . Equivalent competent foreign authorities sometimes adopt an
equivalent approach with similar consequences . We expect to experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of any
of our product candidates due to the trend toward managed healthcare, the increasing influence of health maintenance
organizations, and additional legislative changes. The downward pressure on healthcare costs in general, particularly
prescription medicines, medical devices and surgical procedures and other treatments, has become very intense. As a result,



increasingly high barriers are being erected to the successful commercialization of new products. Further, the adoption and
implementation of any future governmental cost containment or other health reform initiative may result in additional
downward pressure on the price that we may receive for any approved product. Outside of the United States, many countries
require approval of the sale price of a product before it can be marketed, and the pricing review period only begins after
marketing or product licensing approval is granted. To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in some of these countries,
including in some EEA countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost- effectiveness of our
product candidate to other available therapies. In the EU, this Health Technology Assessment (HTA) process, which is currently
governed by the national laws of the individual EU Member States, is the procedure to assess therapeutic, economic and societal
impact of a given medicinal product in the national healthcare systems of the individual country. HTA of medicinal products is
becoming an increasingly common part of the pricing and reimbursement procedures in some EU Member States, including
those representing the larger markets. The outcome of an HTA will often influence the pricing and reimbursement status granted
to these medicinal products by the competent authorities of individual EU Member States. The extent to which pricing and
reimbursement decisions are influenced by the HTA of the specific medicinal product currently varies between EU Member
States. Moreover, EU Member States may choose to restrict the range of products for which their national health insurance
systems provide reimbursement and to control the prices of medicinal products for human use. EU Member States may approve
a specific price for a product or it may instead adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitability of the company
placing the product on the market. Other EU Member States allow companies to fix their own prices for products but monitor
and control prescription volumes and issue guidance to physicians to limit. If we are unable to maintain favorable pricing and
reimbursement status in EU Member States for our products, any anticipated revenue from and growth prospects for those
products in the EU could be negatively affected. In some other foreign markets, prescription pharmaceutical pricing remains
subject to continuing governmental control even after initial approval is granted. As a result, we might obtain marketing
approval for a product candidate in a particular country, but then be subject to price regulations that delay our commercial
launch of the product, possibly for lengthy time periods, and negatively impact the revenue, if any, we are able to generate from
the sale of the product in that country. Adverse pricing limitations may hinder our ability to recoup our investment in one or
more product candidates, even if such product candidates obtain marketing approval. Our product candidates for which we
intend to seek approval as biologic products may face competition sooner than anticipated. The Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (the Affordable Care Act)
signed into law on March 23, 2010, includes a subtitle called the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009
(BPCIA) which created an abbreviated approval pathway for biological products that are biosimilar to or interchangeable with
an FDA- licensed reference biological product. Under the BPCIA, an application for a biosimilar product may not be submitted
to the FDA until four years following the date that the reference product was first licensed by the FDA. In addition, the approval
of a biosimilar product may not be made effective by the FDA until 12 years from the date on which the reference product was
first licensed. During this 12- year period of exclusivity, another company may still market a competing version of the reference
product if the FDA approves a full BLA for the competing product containing the sponsor’ s own preclinical data and data from
adequate and well- controlled clinical trials to demonstrate the safety, purity and potency of their product. Equivalent laws and
procedures apply in foreign countries. We believe that any of our product candidates approved as a biological product under a
BLA should qualify for the 12- year period of exclusivity. However, there is a risk that this exclusivity could be shortened due
to congressional action, court decisions or otherwise, or that the FDA will not consider our product candidates to be reference
products for competing products, potentially creating the opportunity for generic competition sooner than anticipated. Other
aspects of the BPCIA, some of which may impact the BPCIA exclusivity provisions, have also been the subject of recent
litigation. Moreover, the extent to which a biosimilar, once approved, will be substituted for any one of our reference products in
a way that is similar to traditional generic substitution for non- biological products is not yet clear, and will depend on a number
of marketplace and regulatory factors that are still developing. If any approved products are subject to biosimilar competition
sooner than we expect, we will face significant pricing pressure and our commercial opportunity will be limited. Relevant
regulatory exclusivities may not be granted or, if granted, may be limited. The EU provides opportunities for data and market
exclusivity related to Marketing Authorizations (MAs). Upon receiving an MA, innovative medicinal products are generally
entitled to receive eight years of data exclusivity and 10 years of market exclusivity. Data exclusivity, if granted, prevents
regulatory authorities in the EU from referencing the innovator’ s data to assess an application for authorization of a generic
product or of a biosimilar for eight years from the date of authorization of the innovative product, after which an application for
authorization of a generic or biosimilar may be submitted, and the innovator’ s data may be referenced. The market exclusivity
period prevents a successful applicant for authorization of a generic or biosimilar from commercializing its product in the EU
until 10 years have elapsed from the initial MA of the reference product in the EU. The overall ten year period may,
occasionally, be extended for a further year to a maximum of 11 years if, during the first eight years of those ten years, the MA
holder obtains an authorization for one or more new therapeutic indications which, during the scientific evaluation prior to their
authorization, are held to bring a significant clinical benefit in comparison with existing therapies. However, there is no
guarantee that a product will be considered by the EU’ s regulatory authorities to be a new chemical / biological entity, and
products may not qualify for data exclusivity. The market opportunity for our product candidates may be relatively small as it
will be limited to those patients who are ineligible for or have failed prior treatments and our estimates of the prevalence of our
target patient populations may be inaccurate. Cancer therapies are sometimes characterized as first line, second line, or third
line, and the FDA customarily approves new therapies only for a second line or later lines of use. When cancer is detected early
enough, first line therapy is sometimes adequate to cure the cancer or prolong life without a cure. Whenever first line therapies,
usually chemotherapy, antibody drugs, tumor- targeted small molecules, hormone therapy, radiation therapy, surgery or a
combination of these, proves unsuccessful, second line therapy may be administered. Second line therapies often consist of



more chemotherapy, radiation, antibody drugs, tumor- targeted small molecules or a combination of these. Third line therapies
can include chemotherapy, antibody drugs and small molecule tumor- targeted therapies, more invasive forms of surgery and
new technologies. We expect to initially seek approval of our product candidates in most instances at least as a second line
therapy. Subsequently, depending on the nature of the clinical data and experience with any approved products or product
candidates, if any, we may pursue approval as an earlier line therapy and potentially as a first line therapy. But there is no
guarantee that our product candidates, even if approved as a second or subsequent line of therapy, would be approved for an
earlier line of therapy, and, prior to any such approvals, we may have to conduct additional clinical trials. Our projections of the
number of people who have PSMA, EGFR or other specific anti- tumor target expression are based on our assumptions and
estimates. These estimates have been derived from a variety of sources, including scientific literature, surveys of clinics, patient
foundations or market research, and may prove to be incorrect. Further, new therapies may change the estimated incidence or
prevalence of the cancers that we are targeting. Consequently, even if our product candidates are approved for a second or third
line of therapy, the number of patients who may be eligible for treatment with our product candidates may turn out to be much
lower than expected. In addition, we have not yet conducted market research to determine how treating physicians would expect
to prescribe a product that is approved for multiple tumor types if there are different lines of approved therapies for each such
tumor type. Our reliance on third parties requires us to share our trade secrets, which increases the possibility that a competitor
will discover them or that our trade secrets will be misappropriated or disclosed. Because we rely on third parties to research and
develop and to manufacture our product candidates, we must share trade secrets with them. We seek to protect our proprietary
technology in part by entering into confidentiality agreements and, if applicable, material transfer agreements, consulting
agreements or other similar agreements with our advisors, employees, third- party contractors and consultants prior to beginning
research or disclosing proprietary information. These agreements typically limit the rights of the third parties to use or disclose
our confidential information, including our trade secrets. Despite the contractual provisions employed when working with third
parties, the need to share trade secrets and other confidential information increases the risk that such trade secrets become
known by our competitors, are inadvertently incorporated into the technology of others, or are disclosed or used in violation of
these agreements. Given that our proprietary position is based, in part, on our know- how and trade secrets, a competitor’ s
independent discovery of our trade secrets or other unauthorized use or disclosure would impair our competitive position and
may have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, these agreements typically restrict the ability of our advisors,
employees, third- party contractors and consultants to publish data potentially relating to our trade secrets, although our
agreements may contain certain limited publication rights. For example, any academic institution that we may collaborate with
will likely expect to be granted rights to publish data arising out of such collaboration and any joint research and development
programs may require us to share trade secrets under the terms of our research and development or similar agreements. Despite
our efforts to protect our trade secrets, our competitors may discover our trade secrets, either through breach of our agreements
with third parties, independent development or publication of information by any of our third- party collaborators. A competitor’
s discovery of our trade secrets would impair our competitive position and have an adverse impact on our business. If any of our
product candidates are approved for marketing and commercialization and we are unable to establish sales and marketing
capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to sell and market our product candidates, we will be unable to
successfully commercialize our product candidates if and when they are approved. We have no sales, marketing or distribution
capabilities or experience. To achieve commercial success for any approved product for which we retain sales and marketing
responsibilities, we must either develop a sales and marketing organization, which would be expensive and time consuming, or
outsource these functions to other third parties. In the future, we may choose to build a focused sales and marketing
infrastructure to sell, or participate in sales activities with our collaborators for, some of our product candidates if and when they
are approved. There are risks involved with both establishing our own sales and marketing capabilities and entering into
arrangements with third parties to perform these services. For example, recruiting and training a sales force is expensive and
time consuming and could delay any product launch. If the commercial launch of a product candidate for which we recruit a
sales force and establish marketing capabilities is delayed or does not occur for any reason, we would have prematurely or
unnecessarily incurred these commercialization expenses. This may be costly, and our investment would be lost if we cannot
retain or reposition our sales and marketing personnel. Factors that may inhibit our efforts to commercialize future products on
our own include: ¢ our inability to recruit and retain adequate numbers of effective sales and marketing personnel; « the inability
of sales personnel to obtain access to physicians or educate adequate numbers of physicians on the benefits of prescribing any
future products; * the lack of complementary products to be offered by sales personnel, which may put us at a competitive
disadvantage relative to companies with more extensive product portfolios; and ¢ unforeseen costs and expenses associated with
creating an independent sales and marketing organization. If we enter into arrangements with third parties to perform sales,
marketing and distribution services, our product revenue or the profitability of these product revenue to us are likely to be lower
than if we were to market and sell any products that we develop ourselves. In addition, we may not be successful in entering into
arrangements with third parties to sell and market our product candidates or may be unable to do so on terms that are favorable
to us. In entering into third- party marketing or distribution arrangements, any revenue we receive will depend upon the efforts
of the third parties and we cannot assure you that such third parties will establish adequate sales and distribution capabilities or
devote the necessary resources and attention to sell and market any future products effectively. If we do not establish sales and
marketing capabilities successfully, either on our own or in collaboration with third parties, we will not be successful in
commercializing our product candidates. Even if we obtain FDA approval of any of our product candidates, we may never
obtain approval or commercialize such products outside of the United States, which would limit our ability to realize their full
market potential. In order to market any products outside of the United States, we must establish and comply with numerous and
varying regulatory requirements of other countries regarding safety and efficacy. Clinical trials conducted in one country may
not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other countries, and regulatory approval in one country does not mean that



regulatory approval will be obtained in any other country. Approval procedures vary among countries and can involve additional
product testing and validation and additional administrative review periods. Seeking foreign regulatory approvals could result in
significant delays, difficulties and costs for us and may require additional preclinical studies or clinical trials which would be
costly and time consuming. Regulatory requirements can vary widely from country to country and could delay or prevent the
introduction of our products in those countries. Satisfying these and other regulatory requirements is costly, time consuming,
uncertain and subject to unanticipated delays. In addition, our failure to obtain regulatory approval in any country may delay or
have negative effects on the process for regulatory approval in other countries. We do not have any product candidates approved
for sale in any jurisdiction, including international markets, and we do not have experience in obtaining regulatory approval in
international markets. If we fail to comply with regulatory requirements in international markets or to obtain and maintain
required approvals, our ability to realize the full market potential of our products will be harmed. Risks Related to Our
Collaborations and Other Strategic Agreements Our existing collaboration with Merck is important to our business. If Merck
ceases development efforts under our existing or future collaboration agreements, or if any of those agreements are terminated,
these collaborations may fail to lead to commercial products and we may never receive milestone payments or future royalties
under these agreements. We have entered into collaboration with Merck to develop certain specified product candidates. All of
our revenue to date has been derived from our existing collaboration agreement with Merck, and a significant portion of our
near- term future revenue is expected to be derived from this agreement or other similar agreements into which we may enter in
the future. Revenue from research and development collaborations depends upon continuation of the collaborations, payments
for research and development services and product supply, and the achievement of milestones, contingent payments and
royalties, if any, derived from future products developed from our research. If we are unable to successfully advance the
development of our product candidates or achieve milestones, revenue and cash resources from milestone payments under our
collaboration agreement will be substantially less than expected. We are unable to predict the success of our collaborations and
we may not realize the anticipated benefits of our strategic collaborations. Our collaborators have discretion in determining and
directing the efforts and resources, including the ability to discontinue all efforts and resources, they apply to the development
and, if approval is obtained, commercialization and marketing of the product candidates covered by such collaborations. As a
result, our collaborators may elect to de- prioritize our programs, change their strategic focus or pursue alternative technologies
in a manner that results in reduced, delayed or no revenue to us. Our collaborators may have other marketed products and
product candidates under collaboration with other companies, including some of our competitors, and their corporate objectives
may not be consistent with our best interests. Our collaborators may also be unsuccessful in developing or commercializing our
products. If our collaborations are unsuccessful, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be
adversely affected. In addition, any dispute or litigation proceedings we may have with our collaborators in the future could
delay development programs, create uncertainty as to ownership of intellectual property rights, distract management from other
business activities and generate substantial expense. Moreover, to the extent that any of our existing or future collaborators were
to terminate a collaboration agreement, we may be forced to independently develop these product candidates, including funding
preclinical studies or clinical trials, assuming marketing and distribution costs and defending intellectual property rights, or, in
certain instances, abandon product candidates altogether, any of which could result in a change to our business plan and have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. We may not realize the benefits
of any acquisitions, collaborations, in- license or strategic alliances that we enter into. We have entered into a research
collaboration and exclusive license agreement with Merck and in the future may seek and form strategic alliances, create joint
ventures or additional collaborations, or enter into acquisitions or licensing arrangements with third parties that we believe will
complement or augment our existing technologies and product candidates. These transactions can entail numerous operational
and financial risks, including exposure to unknown liabilities, disruption of our business and diversion of our management’ s
time and attention in order to manage a collaboration or develop acquired products, product candidates or technologies,
incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuances of equity securities to pay transaction consideration or costs, higher than
expected collaboration, acquisition or integration costs, write- downs of assets or goodwill or impairment charges, increased
amortization expenses, difficulty and cost in facilitating the collaboration or combining the operations and personnel of any
acquired business, impairment of relationships with key suppliers, manufacturers or customers of any acquired business due to
changes in management and ownership and the inability to retain key employees of any acquired business. As a result, if we
enter into acquisition or in- license agreements or strategic partnerships, we may not be able to realize the benefit of such
transactions if we are unable to successfully integrate them with our existing operations and company culture, which could
delay our timelines or otherwise adversely affect our business. We also cannot be certain that, following a strategic transaction
or license, we will achieve the revenue or specific net income that justifies such transaction or such other benefits that led us to
enter into the arrangement. We may wish to form additional collaborations in the future with respect to our product candidates,
but may not be able to do so or to realize the potential benefits of such transactions, which may cause us to alter or delay our
development and commercialization plans. We may, in the future, decide to collaborate with other biopharmaceutical companies
for the development and potential commercialization of those product candidates, including in territories outside the United
States or for certain indications. We will face significant competition in seeking appropriate collaborators. We may not be
successful in our efforts to establish a strategic partnership or other alternative arrangements for our product candidates because
they may be deemed to be at too early of a stage of development for collaborative effort and third parties may not view our
product candidates as having the requisite potential to demonstrate safety and efficacy. If and when we collaborate with a third-
party for development and commercialization of a product candidate, we can expect to relinquish some or all of the control over
the future success of that product candidate to the third- party. Our ability to reach a definitive agreement for a collaboration
will depend, among other things, upon our assessment of the collaborator’ s resources and expertise, the terms and conditions of
the proposed collaboration and the proposed collaborator’ s evaluation of our technologies, product candidates and market



opportunities. The collaborator may also consider alternative product candidates or technologies for similar indications that may
be available to collaborate on and whether such a collaboration could be more attractive than the one with us for our product
candidate. We may also be restricted under any license agreements from entering into agreements on certain terms or at all with
potential collaborators. Collaborations are complex and time- consuming to negotiate and document. In addition, there have
been a significant number of recent business combinations among large pharmaceutical companies that have resulted in a
reduced number of potential future collaborators and changes to the strategies of the combined company. As a result, we may
not be able to negotiate collaborations on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to do so, we may have to
curtail the development of such product candidate, reduce or delay one or more of our other development programs, delay the
potential commercialization or reduce the scope of any planned sales or marketing activities for such product candidate, or
increase our expenditures and undertake development, manufacturing or commercialization activities at our own expense. If we
elect to increase our expenditures to fund development, manufacturing or commercialization activities on our own, we may need
to obtain additional capital, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If we do not have sufficient funds, we
may not be able to further develop our product candidates or bring them to market and generate product revenue. Our product
candidates may also require specific components to work effectively and efficiently, and rights to those components may be held
by others. We may be unable to in- license any compositions, methods of use, processes or other third- party intellectual
property rights from third parties that we identify. We may fail to obtain any of these licenses at a reasonable cost or on
reasonable terms, which would harm our business. Even if we are able to obtain a license, it may be non- exclusive, thereby
giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us. In that event, we may be required to expend significant
time and resources to develop or license replacement technology. Risks Related to Our Industry and Business Operations Our
employees, principal investigators, consultants and commercial partners may engage in misconduct or other improper activities,
including non- compliance with regulatory standards and requirements and insider trading. We are exposed to the risk of fraud
or other misconduct by our employees, principal investigators, consultants and commercial partners. Misconduct by these
parties could include intentional failures to comply with the regulations of the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities, provide
accurate information to the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities, comply with healthcare fraud and abuse laws and
regulations in the United States and abroad, report financial information or data accurately or disclose unauthorized activities to
us. In particular, sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and
regulations intended to prevent fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self- dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and
regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer
incentive programs and other business arrangements. Such misconduct could also involve the improper use of information
obtained in the course of clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and cause serious harm to our reputation. It is
not always possible to identify and deter employee misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity
may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations
or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to comply with these laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted
against us those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of significant civil, criminal
and administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, imprisonment, exclusion from government funded healthcare
programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid or comparable foreign healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm,
diminished profits and future earnings, additional reporting obligations and oversight if subject to a corporate integrity
agreement or other agreement to resolve allegations of non- compliance with these laws, and the curtailment or restructuring of
our operations. We face potential product liability, and, if successful claims are brought against us, we may incur substantial
liability and costs. If the use of our product candidates harms patients or is perceived to harm patients even when such harm is
unrelated to our product candidates, our regulatory approvals could be revoked or otherwise negatively impacted and we could
be subject to costly and damaging product liability claims. The use of our product candidates in clinical trials and the sale of any
products for which we obtain marketing approval exposes us to the risk of product liability claims. Product liability claims
might be brought against us by consumers, healthcare providers, pharmaceutical companies or others selling or otherwise
coming into contact with our products. There is a risk that our product candidates may induce adverse events. If we cannot
successfully defend against product liability claims, we could incur substantial liability and costs. In addition, regardless of
merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in: * impairment of our business reputation; * withdrawal of
clinical trial participants;  costs due to related litigation; ¢ distraction of management’ s attention from our primary business; *
substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants; * the inability to commercialize our product candidates; and ¢
decreased demand for our product candidates, if approved for commercial sale. We may not be able to maintain product liability
insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against losses due to liability. If and when we
obtain marketing approval for product candidates, we intend to expand our insurance coverage to include the sale of commercial
products; however, we may be unable to obtain product liability insurance on commercially reasonable terms or in adequate
amounts. On occasion, large judgments have been awarded in class action lawsuits based on drugs or medical treatments that
had unanticipated adverse effects. A successful product liability claims, or series of claims brought against us could cause our
stock price to decline and, if judgments exceed our insurance coverage, could adversely affect our results of operations and
business. Patients with cancer and other diseases targeted by our product candidates are often already in severe and advanced
stages of disease and have both known and unknown significant pre- existing and potentially life- threatening health risks.
During the course of treatment, patients may suffer adverse events, including death, for reasons that may be related to our
product candidates. Such events could subject us to costly litigation, require us to pay substantial amounts of money to injured
patients, delay, negatively impact or end our opportunity to receive or maintain regulatory approval to market our products, or
require us to suspend or abandon our commercialization efforts. Even in a circumstance in which we do not believe that an
adverse event is related to our products, the investigation into the circumstance may be time- consuming or inconclusive. These



investigations may interrupt our sales efforts, delay our regulatory approval process in other countries, or impact and limit the
type of regulatory approvals our product candidates could receive or maintain. As a result of these factors, a product liability
claim, even if successfully defended, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations. We are highly dependent on our key personnel, and if we are not successful in attracting and retaining highly
qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement our business strategy. Our ability to compete in the highly
competitive biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries depends upon our ability to attract and retain highly qualified
managerial, scientific and medical personnel. We are highly dependent on our management, scientific and medical personnel.
The loss of the services of any of our executive officers, other key employees, and other scientific and medical advisors, and our
inability to find suitable replacements could result in delays in product development and harm our business. We conduct
substantially all of our operations remotely and at our facilities in San Diego, California. This region is headquarters to many
other biopharmaceutical companies and many academic and research institutions. Competition for skilled personnel in our
market is intense and may limit our ability to hire and retain highly qualified personnel on acceptable terms or at all. To induce
valuable employees to remain at our company, in addition to salary and cash incentives, we have provided stock options that
vest over time. The value to employees of stock options that vest over time may be significantly affected by movements in our
stock price that are beyond our control and may at any time be insufficient to counteract more lucrative offers from other
companies. There also may be shortages of skilled labor due to public health crises, macroeconomic conditions, or other factors
that may make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified personnel and lead to increased labor costs. Despite our
efforts to retain valuable employees, members of our management, scientific and development teams may terminate their
employment with us on short notice. Although we have employment agreements with certain of our key employees, these
employment agreements provide for at- will employment, which means that any of our employees could leave our employment
at any time, with or without notice. We do not maintain “ key person ” insurance policies on the lives of these individuals or the
lives of any of our employees. Our success also depends on our ability to continue to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled
junior, mid- level and senior managers as well as junior, mid- level and senior scientific and medical personnel. We expect to
expand our development, regulatory and operational capabilities and, as a result, we may encounter difficulties in managing our
growth, which could disrupt our operations. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we had 64-81 full- time employees. As we
advance our research and development programs, we will be required to further increase the number of our employees and the
scope of our operations, particularly in the areas of research and clinical development, medical affairs, general and
administrative matters relating to being a public company, regulatory affairs and, if any of our product candidates receives
marketing approval, sales, marketing and distribution. To manage any future growth, we must: « identify, recruit integrate,
maintain and motivate additional qualified personnel; * manage our development efforts effectively, including the initiation and
conduct of clinical trials for our product candidates, both as monotherapy and in combination with other therapeutics; and ¢
improve our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures. Our future financial
performance and our ability to develop, manufacture and commercialize our product candidates, if approved, will depend, in
part, on our ability to effectively manage any future growth, and our management may also have to divert financial and other
resources, and a disproportionate amount of its attention away from day- to- day activities in order to devote a substantial
amount of time, to managing these growth activities. If we are not able to effectively expand our organization by hiring new
employees and expanding our groups of consultants and contractors, we may not be able to successfully implement the tasks
necessary to further develop and commercialize our product candidates and, accordingly, may not achieve our research,
development and commercialization goals. We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing
or commercializing products more quickly or marketing them more successfully than us. The development and
commercialization of new products is highly competitive. We largely compete in the segments of the pharmaceutical,
biotechnology and other related markets that develop immunotherapies for the treatment of cancer. Our commercial opportunity
could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer, more effective, have fewer
or less severe side effects, are more convenient, or are less expensive than any products that we may develop. Our competitors
also may obtain FDA, European Commission, or other regulatory approval for their products more rapidly than we may obtain
approval for ours, if ever, which could result in our competitors establishing a strong market position before we are able to enter
the market or make our development more complicated. Moreover, with the proliferation of new drugs and therapies into
oncology, we expect to face increasingly intense competition as new technologies become available. If we fail to stay at the
forefront of technological change, we may be unable to compete effectively. Any product candidates that we successfully
develop and commercialize will compete with existing therapies and new therapies that may become available in the future. The
highly competitive nature of and rapid technological changes in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries could render
our product candidates or our technology obsolete, less competitive or uneconomical. Other products that are similar to our
product candidates have already been approved and other products in the same class are further along in development. As more
product candidates within a particular class of biopharmaceutical products proceed through clinical development to regulatory
review and approval, the amount and type of clinical data that may be required by regulatory authorities may increase or change.
Consequently, the results of our clinical trials for product candidates in those classes will likely need to show a risk benefit
profile that is competitive with or more favorable than those products and product candidates in order to obtain marketing
approval or, if approved, a product label that is favorable for commercialization. If the risk benefit profile is not competitive
with those products or product candidates, we may have developed a product that is not commercially viable, that we are not
able to sell profitably or that is unable to achieve favorable pricing or reimbursement. In such circumstances, our future product
revenue and financial condition would be materially and adversely affected. Specifically, there are many companies pursuing a
variety of approaches to immuno- oncology treatments, including large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, such as
AbbVie, Amgen, AstraZeneca, BeiGene, Bristol Myers Squibb, Gilead, Johnson & Johnson, Eli Lilly, Merck & Co., Novartis,



Pfizer, Regeneron , Pharmaeeutteals-and-Roche / Genentech , Takeda and Xencor . Other companies using PSMA- targeting
therapeutics for the treatment of cancer include AbbVie, Amgen , Bayer , Crescendo Biologics, Eli Lilly, Johnson and Johnson,

Lava Therapeutics, Novartis Posetda—Therapeuttes-, Regeneron s FmunityTherapentie; Novartis-and Bayer-Vir Biotechnology .
We also face competition from biologic prodrug developers such as Adagene, Saneft; BteAtla;-Chugai Pharmaceutical Co. /

Roche Holding AG, CytomX Therapeutics, HarpeorTherapeunties;-Merck & Co., Takeda and Xilio-Therapeuties-Vir
Biotechnology . Many of our competitors, either alone or with their collaboration partners, have significantly greater financial
resources and expertise in research and development, preclinical testing, clinical trials, manufacturing and marketing than we
do. Future collaborations and mergers and acquisitions may result in further resource concentration among a smaller number of
competitors. Smaller or early- stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative
arrangements with large and established companies. These competitors will also compete with us in recruiting and retaining
qualified scientific and management personnel and establishing clinical trial sites and subject registration for clinical trials, as
well as in acquiring technologies complementary to, or that may be necessary for, our programs. The key competitive factors
affecting the success of all of our programs are likely to be efficacy, safety, and convenience. If we are not successful in
developing, commercializing and achieving higher levels of reimbursement than our competitors, we will not be able to compete
against them and our business would be materially harmed. Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain
other tax attributes may be limited. We have incurred substantial losses during our history and do not expect to become
profitable in the near future, and we may never achieve profitability. Under-enrrentdaw;-U. S. federal net operating losses
(NOLs) incurred in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 ;can be carried forward indefinitely to offset future taxable
income, but the deductibility of such U. S. federal NOL carryforwards in a taxable year is limited to 80 % of taxable income in
such year. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , we had $ 49-66 . 9-2 million of U. S. federal N©SEs—- NOL carryforwards and $
HF167 . 6 million of state NOEs— NOL carryforwards . Of the total federal NOLs, $ 49-65 . 4-7 million have an indefinite
carryforward period. The remaining federal and total state NOLs have a 20- year carryforward period, and will begin to expire in
2037 unless previously utilized. Our NOL carryforwards are subject to review and possible adjustment by the U. S. and state tax
authorities. In addition, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code), and
corresponding provisions of state law, if a corporation undergoes an “ ownership change, ”” which is generally defined as a
greater than 50 percentage point change (by value) in its equity ownership over a rolling three- year period, the corporation’ s
ability to use its pre- change NOL carryforwards and certain other tax attributes to offset its post- change income or taxes may
be limited. This could limit the amount of NGEs— NOL carryforwards or other applicable tax attributes that we can utilize
annually to offset future taxable income or tax liabilities. Subsequent ownership changes and changes to the U. S. tax rules in
respect of the utilization of NOLs and other applicable tax attributes carried forward may further affect the limitation in future
years. We have not undertaken a Section 382 study, and it is possible that we have previously undergone one or more ownership
changes so that our use of net operating fesses—- loss carryforwards is subject to limitation. We may experience ownership
changes in the future as a result of subsequent shifts in our stock ownership. As a result, if we earn net taxable income, our
ability to use our pre- change NOEs—- NOL carryforwards to offset U. S. federal taxable income may be subject to limitations,
which could potentially result in increased future tax liability to us. In addition, at the state level, there may be periods during
which the use of NOEs—- NOL carryforwards is suspended or otherwise limited, which could accelerate or permanently
increase state taxes owed . For example, California imposed limits on the usability of California state net operating losses
to offset taxable income in tax years beginning after 2023 and before 2027 . As a result, we may be unable to use all or a
material portion of our NOL carryforwards and other tax attributes, which could adversely affect our future cash flows.
Epidemic diseases could adversely impact our business, including our ongoing and planned clinical trials, supply chain and
business development activities. A health epidemic or pandemic may cause, significant disruptions that could severely impact
our business and clinical trials, including: * interruption or delays in our operations, which may impact our ability to conduct
and produce preclinical results required for submission of an IND in the United States or equivalent marketing authorization
applications in foreign jurisdictions; ¢ delays in receiving approval from regulatory authorities to initiate our planned clinical
trials; « delays or difficulties in enrolling patients in our ongoing and planned clinical trials; * delays or difficulties in clinical site
initiation, including difficulties in recruiting clinical site investigators and clinical site staff; ¢ delays in clinical sites receiving
the supplies and materials needed to conduct our ongoing and planned clinical trials, including interruption in global shipping
that may affect the transport of clinical trial materials;  changes in local regulations which may require us to change the ways in
which our ongoing and planned clinical trials are conducted, which may result in unexpected costs, or to discontinue the clinical
trials altogether; ¢ diversion of healthcare resources away from the conduct of clinical trials, including the diversion of hospitals
serving as our clinical trial sites and hospital staff supporting the conduct of our clinical trials; * interruption of key clinical trial
activities, such as clinical trial site monitoring, due to limitations on travel imposed or recommended by federal or state
governments, employers and others, or interruption of clinical trial subject visits and study procedures, the occurrence of which
could affect the integrity of clinical trial data; * interruption or delays in the operations of the FDA, the EMA or the European
Commission, or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities, which may impact review and approval timelines; * risk that
participants enrolled in our clinical trials will acquire an epidemic disease while the clinical trial is ongoing, which could impact
the results of the clinical trial, including by increasing the number of observed adverse events; and ¢ refusal of the FDA, the
EMA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to accept data from clinical trials in affected geographies. These and other
disruptions in our operations and the global economy could negatively impact our business, operating results and financial
condition. A resurgenee-of-COVAID-—9-oranother-health epidemic or pandemic may also materially affect us economically.
While the potential economic impact brought by, and the duration of, a resargenee-of COVID-—9-or-other-hecalth erises— crise
may be difficult to assess or predict, there could be a significant disruption of global financial markets, reducing our ability to
access capital, which could in the future negatively affect our liquidity and financial position. The extent to which a resurgence



of a health epidemic or pandemic or other health crises may impede the development of our product candidates, reduce the
productivity of our employees, disrupt our supply chains, delay our clinical trials, reduce our access to capital or limit our
business development activities, will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with
confidence and may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described in this “ Risk Factors ” section. Our
business operations and current and future relationships with investigators, health care professionals, consultants, third- party
payors and customers are subject, directly or indirectly, to U. S. federal and state, EU, or foreign jurisdictions’ healthcare fraud
and abuse laws, transparency laws and other healthcare laws and regulations. If we are unable to comply, or have not fully
complied, with such laws, we could face substantial penalties. Our current and future operations may be, directly or indirectly
through our prescribers, customers and third- party payors, subject to various U. S. federal and state healthcare laws and
regulations, including, without limitation, the U. S. federal Anti- Kickback Statute, the U. S. federal civil and criminal false
claims laws and the Physician Payments Sunshine Act and regulations. Healthcare providers and others play a primary role in
the recommendation and prescription of any products for which we obtain marketing approval. These laws may impact, among
other things, our current business operations, including our clinical research activities, and proposed sales, marketing and
education programs and constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships with healthcare providers and other
parties through which we may market, sell and distribute our products for which we obtain marketing approval. In addition, we
may be subject to additional healthcare, statutory and regulatory requirements and enforcement by foreign regulatory authorities
in jurisdictions in which we conduct our business. The laws that may affect our ability to operate include: * the U. S. federal
Anti- Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons or entities from knowingly and willfully soliciting,
offering, receiving or paying any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe or certain rebates), directly or indirectly, overtly
or covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, lease, order or
recommendation of, any good, facility, item or service, for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under U. S. federal
and state healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. A person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the
statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation; « the U. S. federal false claims laws, including the
False Claims Act, which can be enforced through whistleblower actions, and civil monetary penalties laws, which, among other
things, impose criminal and civil penalties against individuals or entities for knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to
the U. S. federal government, claims for payment or approval that are false or fraudulent, knowingly making, using or causing to
be made or used, a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim, or from knowingly making a false statement
to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the U. S. federal government. In addition, the government may
assert that a claim including items and services resulting from a violation of the U. S. federal Anti- Kickback Statute constitutes
a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the False Claims Act; « the U. S. federal Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) which imposes criminal and civil liability for, among other things, knowingly and
willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, or knowingly and willfully
falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false statement, in connection with the delivery of,
or payment for, healthcare benefits, items or services; similar to the U. S. federal Anti- Kickback Statute, a person or entity does
not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation; « the U. S.
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, which prohibits, among other things, the adulteration or misbranding of drugs, biologics
and medical devices; ¢ the U. S. federal legislation commonly referred to as Physician Payments Sunshine Act, enacted as part
of the Affordable Care Act, and its implementing regulations, which requires certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics
and medical supplies that are reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’ s Health Insurance Program to report
annually to the CMS information related to certain payments and other transfers of value to physicians (defined to include
doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), other healthcare professionals (such as physicians assistants and
nurse practitioners), and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held by the physicians described
above and their immediate family members; * analogous state laws and regulations, including: state anti- kickback and false
claims laws, which may apply to our business practices, including, but not limited to, research, distribution, sales and marketing
arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by any third- party payor, including private insurers;
state laws that require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’ s voluntary compliance guidelines
and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the U. S. federal government, or otherwise restrict payments that may be
made to healthcare providers and other potential referral sources; state laws and regulations that require drug manufacturers to
file reports relating to pricing and marketing information, which requires tracking gifts and other remuneration and items of
value provided to healthcare professionals and entities; and state and local laws requiring the registration of pharmaceutical
sales representatives; and « European Union and other foreign law equivalents of each of the laws, including reporting
requirements detailing interactions with and payments to healthcare providers. Ensuring that our internal operations and future
business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial costs. It
is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices do not comply with current or future statutes,
regulations, agency guidance or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our
operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental laws and regulations that
may apply to us, we may be subject to significant penalties, including civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages,
fines, exclusion from U. S. government funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, or similar programs in
other countries or jurisdictions, disgorgement, imprisonment, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits,
additional reporting requirements and oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or similar agreement to
resolve allegations of non- compliance with these laws and the delay, reduction, termination or restructuring of our operations.
Further, defending against any such actions can be costly and time- consuming, and may require significant financial and
personnel resources. Therefore, even if we are successful in defending against any such actions that may be brought against us,



our business may be impaired. If any of the physicians or other providers or entities with whom we expect to do business is
found to not be in compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to significant criminal, civil or administrative sanctions,
including exclusions from government funded healthcare programs and imprisonment. If any of the above occur, it could
adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations. Enacted and future legislation may increase the
difficulty and cost for us to obtain marketing approval of and commercialize our product candidates and affect the prices we
may charge for such product candidates. The United States and many foreign jurisdictions have enacted or proposed legislative
and regulatory changes affecting the healthcare system that could prevent or delay marketing approval of our product
candidates, restrict or regulate post- approval activities and affect our ability to profitably sell any product for which we obtain
marketing approval. In March 2010, the Affordable Care Act was enacted, which includes measures that have significantly
changed the way health care is financed by both governmental and private insurers. There have been executive, judicial and
congres%ronal challenoeq and amendments to certain a%pect% of the Affordable Care Act. For example on :F&ne—l—7—292—l—t-he—U—

2022 -P-festdeﬁt—Btdeﬁ—s-rgﬂed—the Inflatron Reductlon Act of 2022 (IRA was 51gned into laW Wthh among other thrngs
extends enhanced subsidies for individuals purchasing health insurance coverage in Affordable Care Act marketplaces through
plan year 2025. The IRA also eliminates the “ donut hole ”” under the Medicare Part D program beginning in 2025 by
significantly lowering the beneficiary maximum out- of- pocket cost and through a newly established manufacturer discount
program. It is also unclear how any additional healthcare reform measures of the Bider-second Trump administration will
impact the Affordable Care Act or our business. In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the
Affordable Care Act was enacted. For example, in August 2011, the Budget Control Act of 2011 was signed into law, which,
among other things, included aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of, on average, 2 % per fiscal year until
2032. Additionally, on March 11, 2021, PrestdentBiden-stgned-the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 was signed into law,
which eliminates-eliminated the statutory Medicaid drug rebate cap, earrently-previously set at 100 % of a drug’ s average
manufacturer price, for single source and innovator multiple source drugs, effective January 1, 2024. Recently, there has been
increasing legislative and enforcement interest in the United States with respect to specialty drug pricing practices. Specifically,
there have been several U. S. presidential executive orders, congressional inquiries and legislation designed to, among other
things, bring more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the cost of prescription drugs under Medicare, review the relationship
between pricing and manufacturer patient programs and reform gove1 nment program rermburqement methodologre% for drug@

F or example the IRAm—J-u-lry%G%l— among t-he—other thlngs ; s-tntentto-purs

certain hlgh- expendlture irngle source d-rugs—&ﬂd—brologrcq that have been on the market for at least 11 years covered
under Medicare (the Medicare Drug Price Negotiation Program) and (2) imposes rebates under Medicare Part B and
Medicare Part D to penalize price increases that outpace inflation. These provisions began to take effect progressively starting
in fiscal year 2023. On August 29-15 , 2623-2024 , HHS announced the Hst-agreed- upon prices of the first ten drugs that were
wwittbe-subject to price negotiations, although the Medicare drag-Drug priee-Price negotiation-Negotiation program-Program is
currently subject to legal challenges. On January 17, 2024, HHS has-selected fifteen additional products covered under Part
D for price negotiation in 2025. Each year thereafter more Part B and Part D products will eentinte-become subject to

-tssue—aﬁd-upd&te—gtuda-nee—as—t-hese» the Medlcare Drug Prlce Negotlatlon pfegf&rns» Program are—rmp}emeﬂted—}t—rs

ﬂ&easufes—rﬁ—t-he—ﬁitttfe— Further on December 7 2023 ﬂ&e—Btdeﬁ—admmtst-r&t—teﬂ—aﬂﬂeuﬁeed—an initiative to control the price of
prescription drugs through the use of march- in rights under the Bayh- Dole Act was announced . On December 8, 2023, the
National Institute of Standards and Technology published for comment a Draft Interagency Guidance Framework for
Considering the Exercise of March- In Rights which for the first time includes the price of a product as one factor an agency can
use when deciding to exercise march- in rights. While march- in rights have not previously been exercised, it is uncertain if that
will continue under the new framework. At the state level, legislatures have increasingly passed legislation and implemented
regulations designed to control costs pharmaceutical and biological products. Moreover, regional healthcare authorities and
individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures to determine what pharmaceutical products and which suppliers
will be included in their prescription drug and other healthcare programs . We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent
of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, either in the United States or
abroad. For example, the regulatory landscape related to clinical trials in the EU has undergone recent changes. The EU



Clinical Trials Regulation, or CTR, which was adopted in April 2014 and repeals the EU Clinical Trials Directive,
became effective on January 31, 2022. The CTR permits trial sponsors to make a single submission to both the
competent authority and an ethics committee in each EU Member State, leading to a single decision for each EU
Member State. The assessment procedure for the authorization of clinical trials has been harmonized as well, including a
joint assessment of some elements of the application by all EU Member States in which the trial is to be conducted, and a
separate assessment by each EU Member State with respect to specific requirements related to its own territory,
including ethics rules. Each EU Member State’ s decision is communicated to the sponsor through a centralized EU
portal, the Clinical Trial Information System, or CTIS. The CTR provides a three- year transition period. The extent to
which ongoing clinical trials will be governed by the CTR varies. For clinical trials in relation to which an application for
approval was made on the basis of the Clinical Trials Directive before January 31, 2023, the CTD will continue to apply
on a transitional basis until January 31, 2025. By that date, all ongoing trials will become subject to the provisions of the
CTR. The CTR foresaw a three- year transition period that ended on January 31, 2025. Since this date, all new or
ongoing trials are subject to the provisions of the CTR . In the European Union, many EU Member States periodically review
their 1elmbursement ploeedmes for medicinal ploduets which could hd\ e an adverse impact on 1elmbursement status. We

pafa-Hel—mpeﬁ—te—keep—hea%heafe—eesﬁhdeWﬂ—MmeO\ er, in 01del to obtdm 1elmbursement for our ploduets in some Eumpedn

countries, including some EU Member States, we may be required to compile additional data comparing the cost- effectiveness
of our products to other available therapies threugh-. This Health Technology Assessment (“ HTA preeesses-”) of medicinal
products is becoming an increasingly common part of the pricing and reimbursement procedures in some EU Member
States, including those representing the larger markets . The HTA process is eutrently-governed-the procedure to assess
therapeutic, economic and societal impact of a given medicinal product in the national healthcare systems of the
individual country. The outcome of an HTA will often influence the pricing and reimbursement status granted to these
medicinal products by natienaHaws-inreach-the competent authorities of individual EU Member State-States . The extent to
which pricing and reimbursement decisions are influenced by the HTA of the specific medicinal product currently varies
between EU Member States . In December 2021 , Regulation No 2021 /2282 on HTA, was adopted in the EU. This
Regulation, which entered into application on January 12, 2025 and has a phased implementation, is intended to boost
cooperation among EU Member States in assessing health technologies, including new medicinal products, and
providing the basis for cooperation at EU level for joint clinical assessments in these areas. The Regulation permits EU
Member States to use common HTA tools, methodologies, and procedures across the EU, working together in four main
areas, including joint clinical assessment of the innovative health technologies with the most potential impact for patients,
joint scientific consultations whereby developers can seek advice from HTA authorities, identification of emerging
health technologies to identify promising technologies early, and continuing voluntary cooperation in other areas.
Individual EU Member States continue to be responsible for assessing non- clinical (e. g., economic, social, ethical)
aspects of health technologies, and making decisions on pricing and reimbursement. In addition, on April 26, 2023, the
European Commission adopted a proposal for a new Directive and Regulation to revise the existing pharmaceutical
legislation and on April 10, 2024, the European Union Parliament adopted the- HFAregulation-whieh,-when-it-its enters-inte
appheationin2025-wittrelated position. The proposed revisions remain to be agreed and adopted by intended-to
hafﬂ&efnze—the—eﬁneal—beﬂeﬁeassessmer&e-ﬁH%ﬁ—&efess—the Emopean U-n-teﬁ—Councﬂ Moreover Fu-ﬁ-l‘ler—a—n—rﬂereas-rﬁg

December 1, %92—3—2024 t-he—a new European Commission ae}epfed—a—took ofﬁce The ploposal for-anewDireetive-and
Regulation-could, therefore, still be subject to revisions revise-the-existingpharmaeeutteaHegislatton. [f adopted in the form
proposed, the recent European Commission proposals to revise the existing EU laws governing authorization of medicinal
products may result in a number of changes to the regulatory framework governing medicinal products, including a
decrease in data and market exclusivity opportunities for our product candidates in the EU. We expect that the healthcare reform
measures that have been adopted, and that may be adopted in the future , particularly in light of the recent U. S. Presidential
and Congressional elections , may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and in additional downward pressure on the price
that we receive for any approved product and could seriously harm our future revenues. Any reduction in reimbursement from
Medicare or other comparable government programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors. The
implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate revenue,
attain profitability or commercialize our products. The United Kingdom’ s withdrawal from the European Union may have a
negative effect on global economic conditions, financial markets and our business, which could reduce the price of our common
stock. The United Kingdom’ s, or UK, withdrawal from the EU on January 31, 2020, commonly referred to as Brexit, has
changed the regulatory relationship between the UK and the EU. The Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency, or
MHRA, is now the UK’ s standalone regulator for medicinal ploduets and medical de\ ices. The Unlted ngdom Gfe&t—Bﬂ-t—&lﬁ

{England;-Seetland-and-Wales)-is now a third country to the EU —Ne g
to-follow-the EJ-regulatoryralesfornow-. The UK regulatory framework in 1eldt10n to CllnlCdl tllals is gov erned by the

Medicines for Human Use (Clinical Trials) Regulations 2004, as amended, which is derived from the CTD, as implemented into
UK national law through secondary legislation. On January 17, 2022, the MHRA launched an eight- week consultation on
reframing the UK legislation for clinical trials, and which aimed to streamline clinical trials approvals, enable innovation,




enhance clinical trials transparency, enable greater risk proportionality, and promote patient and public involvement in clinical
trials. The UK Government published its response to the consultation on March 21, 2023 confirming that it would bring forward
changes to the legislation and such changes were laid in parliament on December 12, 2024 . These resulting legislative
amendments will determine-how-etosely, if implemented in their current form, bring the UK into closer alignment
regutations-withaliga-with-the CTR. In October 2023, the MHRA announced a new Notification Scheme for clinical trials which
enables a more streamlined and risk- proportionate dppIOdCh to initial clinical trial applications for Phase 4 and low- risk Phase 3
clinical trial applications. Marketing authorizations in the UK are governed by the Human Medicines Regulations (SI 2012 /
1916), as amended. Since January 1, 2021, an applicant for the EU centralized procedure marketing authorization can no longer
be established in the UK. As a result, since this date, companies established in the UK cannot use the EU centralized procedure
and instead must follow one of the UK national authorization procedures or one of the remaining post- Brexit international
cooperation procedures . Applications are governed by the Human Medicines Regulations (SI 2012 / 1916) and are made
electronically through the MHRA Submissions Portal. The MHRA has introduced changes to national licensing
procedures, including procedures to prioritize access to new medicines that will benefit patients, a 150- day assessment
(subject to clock- stops) and a rolling review procedure. The rolling- review procedure permits the separate or joint
submission of quality, non- clinical, and clinical data to the MHRA which can be reviewed on a rolling basis. After an
application under the rolling- review procedure has been validated, the decision should be received within 100 days
(subject to clock- stops). In addition, since January 1, 2024, the MHRA may rely on the International Recognition
Procedure (“ IRP ”), when reviewing certain types of MAAs. Pursuant to the IRP, the MHRA will take into account the
expertise and decision- making of trusted regulatory partners (e. g., the regulatory in Australia, Canada, Switzerland,
Singapore, Japan, the U. S. A. and the EU). The MHRA will conduct a targeted assessment of IRP applications but
retain the authority to reject applications if the evidence provided is considered insufficiently robust. The IRP allows
medicinal products approved by such trusted regulatory partners that meet certain criteria to undergo a fast- tracked
MHRA review to obtain and / or update a marketing-MA in the United Kingdom. Applications should be decided within a
maximum of 60 days if there are no major objections identified that cannot be resolved within such 60 day period and
the approval from the trusted regulatory partner selected has been granted within the previous 2 years or if there are
such major objections identified or such approval hasn’ t been granted within the previous 2 years within 110 days.
Applicants can submit initial MAAs to the IRP but the procedure can also be used throughout the lifecycle of a product
for post- authorization te-matket-produetsinrthe-K-procedures including line extensions, variations and renewals . All
existing EU marketing authorizations for centrally authorized products were automatically converted or grandfathered into the
UK ? s marketing authorization, effective in Great Britain only, free of charge on January 1, 2021, unless the marketing
authorization holder opted- out of this possibility. Northern Ireland eurrenthy-remains-remained within the scope of
authorizations of the EU aﬂt-heﬂi&&t—teﬂs—m reldtlon to centmlly authorized medicinal products —Aeeerdingly;-until January 1,
2025. However, : apd-on January 1, 2025, a new arrangement as part
of the so- called “ Wlndsor Framework ” came into effect and reintegrated Northern Ireland under the regulatory
authority of the MHRA w1th respect to medlclnal products The Windsor Framework removes faling-withinthe-seepe-of
the-EU otigh-licensing processes and EU labelling and serialization
requlrements in relatlon to Northern Ireland and 1ntroduces a UK - w1de llcensmg process for ﬁaﬁeﬂal—auﬂ&eﬂzaﬁeﬂ

marketing duthOIlZdthH orphan designation for medlcmdl products in the UK Instead, the MHRA reviews dppllCdthnS for
orphan designation in parallel to the corresponding marketing authorization application. The criteria are essentially the same as
those in the EU, but have been tailored for the market. This includes the criterion that prevalence of the condition in Great
Britairrthe UK , rather than the EU, must not be more than five in 10, 000. Upon the grant of a marketing authorization with
orphan status, the medicinal product will benefit from up to 10 years of market exclusivity from similar products in the approved
orphan indication. The start of this market exclusivity period will be set from the date of first approval of the product in Great
Britainrthe UK . We and the third parties with whom we work are subject to stringent and evolving U. S. and foreign laws,
regulations, rules, contractual obligations, industry standards, policies and other obligations related to data privacy and security.
Our (or the third parties with whom we work) actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could lead to
regulatory investigations or actions; litigation (including class claims) and mass arbitration demands; fines and penalties;
disruptions of our business operations; reputational harm; loss of revenue or profits; and other adverse business consequences. In
the ordinary course of business, we Proeess-process personal information and other sensitive information, including proprietary
and confidential business data, trade secrets, intellectual property, data we collect about trial participants in connection with
clinical trials, and sensitive third- party data. Our data processing activities subject us to numerous data privacy and security
obligations, such as various laws, regulations, guidance, industry standards, external and internal privacy and security policies,
contractual requirements, and other obligations relating to data privacy and security. In the United States, federal, state, and
local governments have enacted numerous data privacy and security laws, including health information privacy laws, data
breach notification laws, personal information privacy laws, consumer protection laws (e. g., Section 5 of the Federal Trade



Commission Act), and other similar laws (e. g., wiretapping laws). For example, we may obtain health information from third
parties (including research institutions from which we obtain clinical trial data) that are subject to privacy and security
requirements under the HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of
2009 (HITECH), and their respective implementing regulations. HIPAA imposes specific requirements relating to the privacy,
security, and transmrssron of 1nd1V1dually identifiable health information. Additionally, in the past few years, numerous U. S.
states neludingCa At einta ade ettan ah—have enacted comprehenswe privacy laws that
impose certain obhgatrons on covered busrnesses 1nclud1ng provrdrng specific disclosures in privacy notices and affording
residents with certain rights concerning their personal information. As applicable, such rights may include the right to access,
correct, or delete certain personal information, and to opt- out of certain data processing activities, such as targeted advertising,
profiling, and automated decision- making. The exercise of these rights may impact our business and ability to provide our
products and services. Certain states also impose stricter requirements for processing certain personal information, including
sensitive information, such as conducting data privacy impact assessments. These state laws allow for statutory fines for
noncompliance. For example, the CCPA applies to personal information of consumers, business representatives, and employees
who are California residents, and requires businesses to provide specific disclosures in privacy notices and honor request of
California residents to exercise certain privacy rights with respect to their personal information, such as those noted below. The
CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations tup-te-$-7-566-per-intentional-viotationy-and allows private litigants affected by
certain data breaches to recover significant statutory damages. The Adtheughthe-CCPA ( ttke-and other U. S. comprehensive
prlvacy laws) exempts— exempt some data processed in the context of clinical trials, but the-these €€PA-developments t
trereases— increase compliance costs and potential liability with respect to other personal information we maintain about
€alifornia-residents in these states . Similar laws are being considered in several other states, as well as at the federal and local
levels, and we expect more jurisdictions to pass similar laws in the future. Additionally, under various privacy laws and other
obligations, we are may-be-required to obtain certain consents to process personal information. Our inability or failure to do so
could result in material adverse consequences, including interrupting our clinical trial activities. In many jurisdictions,
enforcement actions and consequences for noncompliance are rising. In the United States, these include enforcement actions in
response to rules and regulations promulgated under the authority of federal agencies, state attorneys general, legislatures and
consumer protection agencies. Outside the United States, an increasing number of laws, regulations, and industry standards may
govern te-data privacy and security. For example, the European Union’ s General Data Protection Regulation (EU GDPR), the
United Kingdom’ s GDPR (UK GDPR) (collectively, the GDPR) and Australia’ s Privacy Act , impose strict requirements for
processing personal data and violators of these laws face significant penalties. For example, under the F-GDPR-and- &
GDPR, government regulators may-impose temporary or definitive bans on data processing, as well as fines of up to 20 million
euros funder the EU GDPR, £ 17. 5 million fer-under the UK GDPR) or 4 % of annual global revenue, whichever is greater ¢
, or —private litigation related to the processing of personal data, brought by classes of data subjects or consumer protection
organizations authorized by law to represent their interests . Our employees and personnel use generative artificial
intelligence (AI) technologies to perform their work, and the disclosure and use of personal data in generative Al
technologies is subject to various privacy laws and other privacy obligations. Governments have passed and are likely to
pass additional laws regulating generative Al. Our use of this technology could result in additional compliance costs,
regulatory investigations and actions, and lawsuits. If we are unable to use generative Al, it could make our business less
efficient and result in competitive disadvantages . We are also bound by contractual obligations related to data privacy and
security, and our efforts to comply with such obligations may not be successful. For example, certain privacy laws, such as the
GDPR and the CCPA, require us to impose specific contractual restrictions on our service providers. Moreover, clinical trial
subjects about whom we or our potential collaborators obtain information, as well as the providers who share this information
with us, may contractually limit our ability to use and disclose such information. We also publish privacy policies, marketing
materials , white papers, and other statements regarding data privacy and security. If these policies, materials or statements are
found to be deficient, lacking in transparency, deceptive, unfair , misleading , or misrepresentative of our practices, we may be
subject to investigation, enforcement actions by regulators or other adverse consequences. In addition, privacy advocates and
industry groups have regularly proposed, and may propose in the future, self- regulatory standards with which we are legally or
contractually bound to comply, or may become subject to in the future. Our obligations related to data privacy and security (and
consumers’ data privacy expectations) are quickly changing in an increasingly stringent fashion, creating some uncertainty as to
the effective future legal framework. Additionally, these obligations may be subject to differing applications and interpretations,
which may be inconsistent or conflict among jurisdictions. Preparing for and complying with these obligations requires
significant resources, which may necessitate changes to our information technologies, systems, and practices and to those of any
third parties with whom we work thatpreeesspersonaHnformatiorronout-behalf- Although we endeavor to comply with all
applicable data privacy and security obligations, we may at times fail (or be perceived to have failed) to do so. Moreover,
despite our efforts, our personnel or the third parties upon with whom we rely-work may fail to comply with such obligations,
which could negatively impact our business operations and compliance posture. If we or any of the third parties en-whteh-with
whom we rely-work fail, or are perceived to have failed, to address or comply with applicable data privacy and security
obligations, we could face significant consequences, including but not limited to: government enforcement actions (e. g.,
investigations, fines, penalties, audits, inspections, and similar); litigation (including class- action claims) and mass arbitration
demands; additional reporting requirements and / or oversight; bans or restrictions on processing personal information; orders
to destroy or not use personal information; and imprisonment of company officials. In particular, plaintiffs have become
increasingly more active in bringing privacy- related claims against companies, including class claims and mass arbitration
demands. Some of these claims allow for the recovery of statutory damages on a per violation basis, and, if viable, carry the
potential for monumental statutory damages, depending on the volume of data and the number of violations. Any of these




events could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, or financial condition, including but not limited to,
interruptions or stoppages in our business operations (including, as relevant, clinical trials), inability to process personal
information or to operate in certain jurisdictions, limited ability to develop or commercialize our products, expenditure of time
and resources to defend any claim or inquiry, adverse publicity, or substantial changes to our operations. In addition, we may be
unable to transfer personal data from Europe and other jurisdictions to the United States or other countries due to data
localization requirements or limitations on cross- border data flows. Although there are various mechanisms that may be used in
some cases to lawfully transfer personal data to the United States or other countries, these mechanisms are subject to legal
challenges and may not be available to us. An inability or material limitation on our ability to transfer personal data to the
United States or other countries could materially impact our business operations. In the ordinary course of business, we may
transfer personal data from Europe and other jurisdictions to the United States or other countries. Europe and other jurisdictions
have enacted laws requiring data to be localized or limiting the transfer of personal data to other countries. In particular, the
EEA and the UK have significantly restricted the transfer of personal data to the United States and other countries whose
privacy laws it generally believes are inadequate. Other jurisdictions may-have adept-adopted similarly stringent interpretations
of their data localization and cross- border data transfer laws. Although there are currently various mechanisms that may be used
to transfer personal data from the EEA and UK to the United States in compliance with law, such as the EEA and UK’ s
standard contractual clauses, the UK’ s International Data Transfer Agreement / Addendum, and the EU- U. S. Data Privacy
Framework (Framework) and the UK extension thereto (which allows for transfers for relevant U. S.- based organizations who
self- certify compliance and participate in the Framework), these mechanisms are subject to legal challenges, and there is no
assurance that we can satisfy or rely on these measures to lawfully transfer personal data to the United States. If there is no
lawful manner for us to transfer personal data from the EEA, the UK or other jurisdictions to the United States, or if the
requirements for a legally- compliant transfer are too onerous, we could face significant adverse consequences, including the
interruption or degradation of our operations, the need to relocate part of or all of our business or data processing activities to
other jurisdictions (such as Europe) at significant expense, increased exposure to regulatory actions, substantial fines and
penalties, the inability to transfer data and work with partners, vendors and other third parties, and injunctions against our
processing or transferring of personal data necessary to operate our business. Additionally, companies that transfer personal data
out of the EEA and UK to other jurisdictions, particularly to the United States, are subject to increased scrutiny from regulators,
individual litigants, and activist groups. Some European regulators have ordered certain companies to suspend or permanently
cease certain transfers out of Europe for allegedly violating the GDPR’ s cross- border data transfer limitations. Regulators in
the United States are also increasingly scrutinizing certain personal data transfers and may impose data localization
requirements, for example, the Biden Administration’ s executive order Preventing Access to Americans’ Bulk Sensitive
Personal Data and United States Government- Related Data by Countries of Concern. Risks Related to Our Intellectual
Property If we are unable to obtain and maintain sufficient intellectual property protection for our platform technologies and
product candidates, or if the scope of the intellectual property protection is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could develop
and commercialize products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize our products may be
adversely affected. We rely upon a combination of patents, know- how and confidentiality agreements to protect the intellectual
property related to our products and technologies and to prevent third parties from copying and surpassing our achievements,
thus eroding our competitive position in our market. Our success depends in large part on our ability to obtain and maintain
patent protection for our platform technologies, product candidates and their uses, as well as our ability to operate without
infringing the proprietary rights of others. We seek to protect our proprietary position by filing patent applications in the United
States and abroad related to our novel discoveries and technologies that are important to our business. Our pending and future
patent applications may not result in patents being issued or that issued patents will afford sufficient protection of our product
candidates or their intended uses against competitors, nor can there be any assurance that the patents issued will not be infringed,
designed around, invalidated by third parties, or effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies,
products or product candidates. Obtaining and enforcing patents is expensive and time- consuming, and we may not be able to
file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications or maintain and / or enforce patents that may issue based on our
patent applications, at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. It is also possible that we will fail to identify patentable aspects
of our research and development results before it is too late to obtain patent protection. Although we enter into non- disclosure
and confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to patentable aspects of our research and development output, such
as our employees, corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators, contract research organizations, contract
manufacturers, consultants, advisors and other third parties, any of these parties may breach these agreements and disclose such
results before a patent application is filed, thereby jeopardizing our ability to seek patent protection. Composition of matter
patents for biological and pharmaceutical product candidates often provide a strong form of intellectual property protection for
those types of products, as such patents provide protection without regard to any method of use. We cannot be certain that the
claims in our pending patent applications directed to composition of matter of our product candidates will be considered
patentable by the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) or by patent offices in foreign countries, or that any
claims that issue from our patent applications will be considered valid and enforceable by courts in the United States or foreign
countries. Method of use patents protect the use of a product for the specified method. This type of patent does not prevent a
competitor from making and marketing a product that is identical to our product for an indication that is outside the scope of the
patented method. Moreover, even if competitors do not actively promote their product for our targeted indications, physicians
may prescribe these products “ off- label. ” Although off- label prescriptions may infringe or contribute to the infringement of
method of use patents, the practice is common and such infringement is difficult to prevent or prosecute. The patent position of
biopharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex legal and factual questions and has in recent years
been the subject of much litigation, resulting in court decisions, including Supreme Court decisions, which have increased



uncertainties as to the ability to enforce patent rights in the future. In addition, the laws of foreign countries may not protect our
rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, or vice versa. Ne-eather-than-Oetober4;2022;-European applications
wilknow have the option, upon grant of a patent, of becoming a Unitary Patent which will be subject to the jurisdiction of the
Unitary Patent Court (UPC). This is witl-be-a significant change in European patent practice. As the UPC is a new court system,
there is no precedent for the court, increasing the uncertainty of any litigation. Geopolitical actions in the United States and in
foreign countries could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution or maintenance of our patent
applications or those of any current or future licensors and the maintenance, enforcement or defense of our issued patents or
those of any current or future licensors. For example, the United States and foreign government actions related to the military
conflict in Ukraine and Russia may limit or prevent filing, prosecution and maintenance of patent applications in Russia.
Government actions may also prevent maintenance of issued patents in Russia. These actions could result in abandonment or
lapse of our patents or patent applications, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in Russia. If such an event were to
occur, it could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, a decree was adopted by the Russian government in
March 2022, allowing Russian companies and individuals to exploit inventions owned by patentees that have citizenship or
nationality in, are registered in, or have predominately primary place of business or profit- making activities in the United States
and other countries that Russia has deemed unfriendly without consent or compensation. Consequently, we would not be able to
prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in Russia or from selling or importing products made using our inventions in
and into Russia. Accordingly, our competitive position may be impaired, and our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects may be adversely affected. The patent application process is subject to numerous risks and
uncertainties, and there can be no assurance that we or any of our potential future collaborators will be successful in protecting
our product candidates by obtaining and defending patents. For example, we may not be aware of all third- party intellectual
property rights potentially relating to our product candidates or their intended uses, and as a result the impact of such third- party
intellectual property rights upon the patentability of our own patents and patent applications, as well as the impact of such third-
party intellectual property upon our freedom to operate, is highly uncertain. Patent applications in the United States and other
jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing or, in some cases, not at all. Therefore, we cannot know with
certainty whether we were the first to make the inventions claimed in our patents or pending patent applications, or that we were
the first to file for patent protection of such inventions. As a result, the issuance, inventorship, scope, validity, enforceability and
commercial value of our patent rights are highly uncertain. Our pending patent applications may be challenged in patent offices
in the United States and abroad. Even issued patents may later be found invalid or unenforceable or may be modified or revoked
in proceedings instituted by third parties before various patent offices or in courts. For example, our pending patent applications
may be subject to third- party pre- issuance submissions of prior art to the USPTO or our issued patents may be subject to post-
grant review (PGR) proceedings, oppositions, derivations, reexaminations, or inter partes review proceedings, in the United
States or elsewhere, challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others. An adverse determination in any such challenges
may result in loss of exclusivity or in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated, or held unenforceable, in whole or in part,
which could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or limit
the duration of the patent protection of our technology and products. In addition, given the amount of time required for the
development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or
shortly after such candidates are commercialized. The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain. Only
limited protection may be available and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep any competitive
advantage. Any failure to obtain or maintain patent protection with respect to our product candidates or their uses could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. In addition to the protection
afforded by patents, we rely on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect proprietary know- how that is
not patentable, processes for which patents are difficult to enforce and any other elements of our discovery and development
processes that involve proprietary know- how, information or technology that is not covered by patents. We may also rely on
trade secret protection as temporary protection for concepts that may be included in a future patent filing. However, trade secret
protection will not protect us from innovations that a competitor develops independently of our proprietary know how. If a
competitor independently develops a technology that we protect as a trade secret and files a patent application on that
technology, then we may not be able to patent that technology in the future, may require a license from the competitor to use our
own know- how, and if the license is not available on commercially- viable terms, then we may not be able to launch our
product. Although we require all of our employees to assign their inventions to us, and require all of our employees, consultants,
advisors and any third parties who have access to our proprietary know- how, information or technology to enter into
confidentiality agreements, we cannot be certain that our trade secrets and other confidential proprietary information will not be
disclosed or that competitors will not otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or independently develop substantially
equivalent information and techniques. Furthermore, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to the
same extent or in the same manner as the laws of the United States. As a result, we may encounter significant problems in
protecting and defending our intellectual property both in the United States and abroad. If we are unable to prevent unauthorized
material disclosure of our intellectual property to third parties, we will not be able to establish or maintain a competitive
advantage in our market, and this scenario could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations. We cannot ensure that patent rights relating to inventions described and claimed in our pending patent applications
will issue or that patents based on our patent applications will not be challenged and rendered invalid and / or unenforceable. The
patent application process is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, and there can be no assurance that we or any of our
potential future collaborators will be successful in protecting our product candidates by obtaining and defending patents. We
have pending H—S-Patent Cooperation Treaty applications, U. S. patent applications ., and foreign patent applications in our
portfolio; however, we cannot predict: « if and when patents may issue based on our patent applications; ¢ the scope of



protection of any patent issuing based on our patent applications; « whether the claims of any patent issuing based on our patent
applications will provide protection against competitors; « whether or not third parties will find ways to invalidate or circumvent
our patent rights; * whether or not others will obtain patents claiming aspects similar to those covered by our patents and patent
applications; * whether we will need to initiate litigation or administrative proceedings to enforce and / or defend our patent
rights which will be costly whether we win or lose; and / or » whether the patent applications that we own or in- license will
result in issued patents with claims that cover our product candidates or uses thereof in the United States or in other foreign
countries. We cannot be certain that the claims in our pending patent applications directed to our product candidates and / or
technologies will be considered patentable by the USPTO or by patent offices in foreign countries. There can be no assurance
that any such patent applications will issue as granted patents. One aspect of the determination of patentability of our inventions
depends on the scope and content of the * prior art, ” information that was or is deemed available to a person of skill in the
relevant art prior to the priority date of the claimed invention. There may be prior art of which we are not aware that may affect
the patentability of our patent claims or, if issued, affect the validity or enforceability of a patent claim. Even if the patents do
issue based on our patent applications, third parties may challenge the validity, enforceability or scope thereof, which may result
in such patents being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable. Furthermore, even if they are unchallenged, patents in our
portfolio may not adequately exclude third parties from practicing relevant technology or prevent others from designing around
our claims. If the breadth or strength of our intellectual property position with respect to our product candidates is threatened, it
could dissuade companies from collaborating with us to develop and threaten our ability to commercialize our product
candidates. In the event of litigation or administrative proceedings, we cannot be certain that the claims in any of our issued
patents will be considered valid by courts in the United States or foreign countries. Intellectual property rights do not necessarily
address all potential threats to our competitive advantage. The degree of future protection afforded by our intellectual property
rights is uncertain because intellectual property rights have limitations and may not adequately protect our business or permit us
to maintain our competitive advantage. For example: * others may be able to make product candidates that are similar to ours but
that are not covered by the claims of the patents that we own or may exclusively license; * we or licensors or collaborators
might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by the issued patent or pending patent application that we own or
have exclusively licensed; * we or licensors or collaborators might not have been the first to file patent applications covering
certain aspects of our inventions; * others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our
technologies without infringing our intellectual property rights; ¢ it is possible that noncompliance with the USPTO and foreign
governmental patent agencies requirement for a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other provisions during
the patent process can result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application, and partial or complete loss of patent
rights in the relevant jurisdiction; e it is possible that our pending patent applications will not lead to issued patents; * issued
patents that we own or have exclusively licensed may be revoked, modified, or held invalid or unenforceable, as a result of legal
challenges by our competitors; ¢ our competitors might conduct research and development activities in countries where we do
not have patent rights and then use the information learned from such activities to develop competitive products for sale in our
major commercial markets; * we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable; * we cannot predict
the scope of protection of any patent issuing based on our patent applications, including whether the patent applications that we
own or in- license will result in issued patents with claims that directed to our product candidates or uses thereof in the United
States or in other foreign countries; * there may be significant pressure on the U. S. government and international governmental
bodies to limit the scope of patent protection both inside and outside the United States for disease treatments that prove
successful, as a matter of public policy regarding worldwide health concerns; ¢ countries other than the United States may have
patent laws less favorable to patentees than those upheld by U. S. courts, allowing foreign competitors a better opportunity to
create, develop and market competing product candidates; ¢ the claims of any patent issuing based on our patent applications
may not provide protection against competitors or any competitive advantages, or may be challenged by third parties;  if
enforced, a court may not hold that our patents are valid, enforceable and infringed; * we may need to initiate litigation or
administrative proceedings to enforce and / or defend our patent rights which will be costly whether we win or lose; « we may
choose not to file a patent application in order to maintain certain trade secrets or know- how, and a third- party may
subsequently file a patent application covering such intellectual property; « we may fail to adequately protect and police our
trademarks and trade secrets; and  the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business, including if others obtain
patents claiming subject matter similar to or improving that covered by our patents and patent applications. Should any of these
or similar events occur, they could significantly harm our business, results of operations and prospects. We may not identify
relevant third- party patents or may incorrectly interpret the relevance, scope or expiration of a third- party patent, which might
adversely affect our ability to develop and market our products. We cannot guarantee that any of our patent searches or analyses,
including the identification of relevant patents, the scope of patent claims or the expiration of relevant patents, are complete or
thorough, nor can we be certain that we have identified each and every third- party patent and pending application in the United
States and abroad that is relevant to or necessary for the commercialization of our product candidates in any jurisdiction. The
scope of a patent claim is determined by an interpretation of the law, the written disclosure in a patent and the patent’ s
prosecution history. Our interpretation of the relevance or the scope of a patent or a pending application may be incorrect. For
example, we may incorrectly determine that our products are not covered by a third- party patent or may incorrectly predict
whether a third- party’ s pending application will issue with claims of relevant scope. Our determination of the expiration date
of any patent in the United States or abroad that we consider relevant may be incorrect. Our failure to identify and correctly
interpret relevant patents may negatively impact our ability to develop and market our products. We are currently a party to an
in- license agreement under which we were granted rights to manufacture certain components of our product candidates. If we
breach our obligations under this and future license agreements, we may be required to pay damages, lose our rights to these
technologies or both, which would adversely affect our business and prospects. We rely, in part, on license and other strategic



agreements, which subject us to various obligations, including payment obligations for achievement of certain milestones on
product sales. For example, we have licensed a cell line to manufacture these products under an agreement with WuXi
Biologics. If we fail to comply with the obligations under our license agreements or use the intellectual property licensed to us in
an unauthorized manner, we may be required to pay damages and our licensors may have the right to terminate the license. If
our license agreements are terminated, we may experience significant delays, difficulties, and costs in developing new cell lines
and identifying an alternative source to manufacture components of our candidate products covered by our agreements and those
being tested or approved in combination with such products. Such an occurrence could materially adversely affect the value of
the product candidates being developed under any such agreement. In addition, the agreements under which we license
intellectual property or technology to or from third parties are complex, and certain provisions in such agreements may be
susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution of any contract interpretation disagreement that may arise could narrow
what we believe to be the scope of our rights to the relevant intellectual property or technology or increase what we believe to be
our financial or other obligations under the relevant agreement, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects. In the event we breach any of our obligations related to such
prosecution, we may incur significant liability to our licensing partners. Licensing intellectual property involves complex legal,
business and scientific issues and is complicated by the rapid pace of scientific discovery in our industry. Disputes may arise
regarding intellectual property subject to a licensing agreement, including: « the scope of rights granted under the license
agreement and other interpretation- related issues; * the extent to which our technology and processes infringe on intellectual
property of the licensor that is not subject to the licensing agreement; * the sublicensing of patent and other rights; ¢ our
diligence obligations under the license agreement and what activities satisfy those diligence obligations;  the ownership of
inventions and know- how resulting from the creation or use of licensed intellectual property by us alone or with our licensors
and partners; ¢ the right to control prosecution, maintenance, enforcement, and defense of the licensed patents and improvements
thereof; « the scope and duration of our payment obligations; and ¢ the priority of invention of patented technology. If disputes
over intellectual property and other rights that we have licensed prevent or impair our ability to maintain our current licensing
arrangements on acceptable terms, we may be unable to successfully develop and commercialize the affected product
candidates. We are generally also subject to all of the same risks with respect to protection of intellectual property that we
license as we are for intellectual property that we own, which are described herein. If we or our licensor fail to adequately
protect this intellectual property, our ability to develop, manufacture, or commercialize products could suffer. In addition, while
we cannot currently determine the amount of the royalty obligations we would be required to pay on sales of future products, if
any, the amounts may be significant. The amount of our future royalty obligations will depend on the technology and intellectual
property we use in products that we successfully develop and commercialize, if any. Therefore, even if we successfully develop
and commercialize products, we may be unable to achieve or maintain profitability. If we are unable to successfully obtain
rights to required third- party intellectual property rights or maintain the existing intellectual property rights we have, we may
have to abandon development of the relevant research programs or product candidates and our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects could suffer. In the future, we may need to obtain licenses of third- party technology that
may not be available to us or are available only on commercially unreasonable terms, and which may cause us to operate our
business in a more costly or otherwise adverse manner that was not anticipated. We currently own intellectual property directed
to our product candidates and other proprietary technologies. Other pharmaceutical companies and academic institutions may
also have filed or are planning to file patent applications potentially relevant to our business. From time to time, in order to avoid
infringing these third- party patents, we may be required to license technology from additional third parties to further develop or
commercialize our product candidates. Should we be required to obtain licenses to any third- party technology, including any
such patents required to manufacture, use or sell our product candidates, such licenses may not be available to us on
commercially reasonable terms, or at all. The inability to obtain any third- party license required to develop or commercialize
any of our product candidates could cause us to abandon any related efforts, which could seriously harm our business and
operations. The licensing or acquisition of third- party intellectual property rights is a competitive area, and several more
established companies may pursue strategies to license or acquire third- party intellectual property rights we may consider
attractive or necessary. These established companies may have a competitive advantage over us due to their size, capital
resources and greater clinical development and commercialization capabilities. In addition, companies that perceive us to be a
competitor may be unwilling to assign or license rights to us. Moreover, some of our owned patent applications and patents may
be co- owned with third parties. If we are unable to obtain an exclusive license to any such third- party co- owners’ interest in
such patents or patent applications, such co- owners may be able to license their rights to other third parties, including our
competitors, and our competitors could market competing products and technology. In addition, we may need the cooperation of
any such co- owners of our patents in order to enforce such patents against third parties, and such cooperation may not be
provided to us. Furthermore, our owned patents may be subject to a reservation of rights by one or more third parties. Any of the
foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financial conditions, results of operations
and prospects. If we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties, such litigation could be costly and time
consuming and could prevent or delay us from developing or commercializing our product candidates. Our commercial success
depends, in part, on our ability to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product candidates without infringing the
intellectual property and other proprietary rights of third parties. Third parties may allege that we have infringed or
misappropriated their intellectual property. Litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims, with or
without merit, is unpredictable and generally expensive and time consuming and, even if resolved in our favor, is likely to divert
significant resources from our core business, including distracting our technical and management personnel from their normal
responsibilities. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim
proceedings or developments and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a



substantial adverse effect on the market price of our common stock. Such litigation or proceedings could substantially increase
our operating losses and reduce the resources available for development activities or any future sales, marketing or distribution
activities. We may not have sufficient financial or other resources to adequately conduct such litigation or proceedings. Some of
our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively than we can because of their
greater financial resources and more mature and developed intellectual property portfolios. Uncertainties resulting from the
initiation and continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our ability to compete
in the marketplace. There is a substantial amount of intellectual property litigation in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical
industries, and we may become party to, or threatened with, litigation or other adversarial proceedings regarding intellectual
property rights with respect to our products candidates. We cannot be certain that our product candidates and other proprietary
technologies we may develop will not infringe existing or future patents owned by third parties. We are currently aware of a
third- party European patent that may cover our products. However, we do not plan to launch any product in the European
Union before the expiration of such patent. Third parties may assert infringement claims against us based on existing or future
intellectual property rights. Proving invalidity may be difficult. For example, in the United States, proving invalidity in court
requires a showing of clear and convincing evidence to overcome the presumption of validity enjoyed by issued patents. If we
are found to infringe a third- party’ s intellectual property rights, we could be forced, including by court order, to cease
developing, manufacturing or commercializing the infringing candidate product or product. Alternatively, we may be required to
obtain a license from such third- party in order to use the infringing technology and continue developing, manufacturing or
marketing the infringing candidate product or product. However, we may not be able to obtain any required license on
commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we were able to obtain a license, it could be non- exclusive, thereby giving our
competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us. In addition, we could be found liable for monetary damages,
including treble damages and attorneys’ fees if we are found to have willfully infringed a patent. A finding of infringement
could prevent us from commercializing our investigational products or force us to cease some of our business operations, which
could materially harm our business. We may not be aware of patents that have already been issued and that a third- party, for
example, a competitor in the fields in which we are developing our product candidates, might assert are infringed by our current
or future product candidates, including claims to compositions, formulations, methods of manufacture or methods of use or
treatment that cover our product candidates. It is also possible that patents owned by third parties of which we are aware, but
which we do not believe are relevant to our product candidates and other proprietary technologies we may develop, could be
found to be infringed by our product candidates. In addition, because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may
be currently pending patent applications that may later result in issued patents that our product candidates may infringe. Our
competitors in both the United States and abroad, many of which have substantially greater resources and have made substantial
investments in patent portfolios and competing technologies, may have applied for or obtained or may in the future apply for
and obtain, patents that will prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with our ability to make, use and sell our product candidates.
The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have produced a considerable number of patents, and it may not always be
clear to industry participants, including us, which patents cover various types of products or methods of use. The coverage of
patents is subject to interpretation by the courts, and the interpretation is not always uniform. If we were sued for patent
infringement, we would need to demonstrate that our product candidates, products or methods either do not infringe the patent
claims of the relevant patent or that the patent claims are invalid or unenforceable, and we may not be able to do this. Proving
invalidity may be difficult and there is no assurance that a court of competent jurisdiction would invalidate the claims of any
such U. S. patent. Even if we are successful in these proceedings, we may incur substantial costs and the time and attention of
our management and scientific personnel could be diverted in pursuing these proceedings, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business and operations. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with
intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure
during litigation. In addition, we may not have sufficient resources to bring these actions to a successful conclusion. We may
choose to challenge the enforceability or validity of claims in a third- party’ s U. S. patent by requesting that the USPTO review
the patent claims in an ex- parte re- exam, inter partes review or post- grant review proceedings. These proceedings are
expensive and may consume our time or other resources. We may choose to challenge a third- party’ s patent in patent
opposition proceedings in the European Patent Office (EPO), or other foreign patent office. The costs of these opposition
proceedings could be substantial, and may consume our time or other resources. If we fail to obtain a favorable result at the
USPTO, EPO or other patent office then we may be exposed to litigation by a third- party alleging that the patent may be
infringed by our product candidates or proprietary technologies. If we are found to infringe a third- party’ s intellectual property
rights, we could be forced, including by court order, to cease developing, manufacturing or commercializing the infringing
product candidate or product. Alternatively, we may be required to obtain a license from such third- party in order to use the
infringing technology and continue developing, manufacturing or marketing the infringing product candidate. However, we may
not be able to obtain any required license on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we were able to obtain a license, it
could be non- exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us. In addition, we could be
found liable for monetary damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees if we are found to have willfully infringed a
patent. A finding of infringement could prevent us from commercializing our product candidates or force us to cease some of
our business operations, and could divert the time and attention of our technical personnel and management, cause development
delays, and / or require us to develop non- infringing technology, which may not be possible on a cost- effective basis, any of
which could materially harm our business. In the event of a successful claim of infringement against us, we may have to pay
substantial monetary damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees for willful infringement, pay royalties and other
fees, redesign our infringing drug or obtain one or more licenses from third parties, which may be impossible or require
substantial time and monetary expenditure. Claims that we have misappropriated the confidential information or trade secrets of



third parties could have a similar negative impact on our business. We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce
our patents or other intellectual property, which could be expensive, time consuming and unsuccessful. Competitors or other
third parties may infringe our patents, trademarks or other intellectual property. To counter infringement or unauthorized use,
we may be required to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time consuming and divert the time and attention of
our management and scientific personnel. Our pending patent applications cannot be enforced against third parties practicing the
technology claimed in such applications unless and until a patent issues from such applications. Any claims we assert against
perceived infringers could provoke these parties to assert counterclaims against us alleging that we infringe their patents, in
addition to counterclaims asserting that our patents are invalid or unenforceable, or both. In patent litigation in the United States,
defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity and / or unenforceability are commonplace. Grounds for a validity challenge could
be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness, non- enablement or
insufficient written description. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with
prosecution of the patent withheld relevant information from the USPTO or made a misleading statement during prosecution.
The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. In any patent infringement
proceeding, there is a risk that a court will decide that a patent of ours is invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, and that
we do not have the right to stop the other party from using the invention at issue. There is also a risk that, even if the validity of
such patents is upheld, the court will construe the patent’ s claims narrowly or decide that we do not have the right to stop the
other party from using the invention at issue on the grounds that our patent claims do not cover the invention, or decide that the
other party’ s use of our patented technology falls under the safe harbor to patent infringement under 35 U. S. C. § 271 (e) (1).
An adverse outcome in a litigation or proceeding involving our patents could limit our ability to assert our patents against those
parties or other competitors and may curtail or preclude our ability to exclude third parties from making and selling similar or
competitive products. Any of these occurrences could adversely affect our competitive business position, business prospects and
financial condition. Similarly, if we assert trademark infringement claims, a court may determine that the marks we have
asserted are invalid or unenforceable, or that the party against whom we have asserted trademark infringement has superior
rights to the marks in question. In this case, we could ultimately be forced to cease use of such trademarks. Even if we establish
infringement, the court may decide not to grant an injunction against further infringing activity and instead award only monetary
damages, which may or may not be an adequate remedy. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required
in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be
compromised by disclosure during litigation. There could also be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or
other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have
a material adverse effect on the price of shares of our common stock. Moreover, we cannot assure you that we will have
sufficient financial or other resources to file and pursue such infringement claims, which typically last for years before they are
concluded. Even if we ultimately prevail in such claims, the monetary cost of such litigation and the diversion of the attention of
our management and scientific personnel could outweigh any benefit we receive as a result of the proceedings. Because of the
expense and uncertainty of litigation, we may not be in a position to enforce our intellectual property rights against third parties.
Because of the expense and uncertainty of litigation, we may conclude that even if a third- party is infringing our patents that
may be issued as a result of our pending or future patent applications or other intellectual property rights, the risk- adjusted cost
of bringing and enforcing such a claim or action may be too high or not in the best interest of our company or our stockholders,
or it may be otherwise impractical or undesirable to enforce our intellectual property against some third parties. Our competitors
or other third parties may be able to sustain the costs of complex patent litigation or proceedings more effectively than we can
because of their greater financial resources and more mature and developed intellectual property portfolios. In such cases, we
may decide that the more prudent course of action is to simply monitor the situation or initiate or seek some other non- litigious
action or solution. In addition, the uncertainties associated with litigation could compromise our ability to raise the funds
necessary to continue our preclinical studies, initiate and continue clinical trials, continue our internal research programs, in-
license needed technology or other product candidates, or enter into development partnerships that would help us bring our
product candidates to market. We may be subject to claims that we have wrongfully hired an employee from a competitor or that
our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed confidential information of third
parties. As is common in the pharmaceutical industry, in addition to our employees, in the future we may engage the services of
consultants to assist us in the development of our product candidates. Many of these potential consultants, and many of our
employees, were previously employed at, or may have previously provided or may be currently providing consulting services to,
other pharmaceutical companies including our competitors or potential competitors. We could in the future be subject to claims
that we or our employees have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed alleged trade secrets or other confidential
information of former employers or competitors. Although we try to ensure that our employees and consultants do not use the
intellectual property, proprietary information, know- how or trade secrets of others in their work for us, we may become subject
to claims that we caused an employee to breach the terms of his or her non- competition or non- solicitation agreement, or that
we or these individuals have, inadvertently or otherwise, used or disclosed the alleged trade secrets or other proprietary
information of a former employer or competitor. While we may litigate to defend ourselves against these claims, even if we are
successful, litigation could result in substantial costs and could be a distraction to management. If our defenses to these claims
fail, in addition to requiring us to pay monetary damages, a court could prohibit us from using technologies or features that are
essential to our product candidates, if such technologies or features are found to incorporate or be derived from the trade secrets
or other proprietary information of the former employers. Moreover, any such litigation or the threat thereof may adversely
affect our reputation, our ability to form strategic alliances or sublicense our rights to collaborators, engage with scientific
advisors or hire employees or consultants, each of which would have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be



a distraction to management. Changes in patent law in the United States and other jurisdictions could diminish the value of
patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our product candidates. As is the case with other biopharmaceutical
companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and enforcing patents in the
biopharmaceutical industry involves both technological and legal complexity and is therefore costly, time consuming and
inherently uncertain. Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States could increase the
uncertainties and costs, and may diminish our ability to protect our inventions, obtain, maintain, and enforce our intellectual
property rights and, more generally, could affect the value of our intellectual property or narrow the scope of our owned patents
that issue in the future. Patent reform legislation in the United States and other countries, including the Leahy- Smith America
Invents Act (the Leahy- Smith Act), signed into law on September 16, 2011, could increase those uncertainties and costs
surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents. The Leahy- Smith
Act includes a number of significant changes to U. S. patent law. These include provisions that affect the way patent
applications are prosecuted, redefine prior art and provide more efficient and cost- effective avenues for competitors to
challenge the validity of patents. These include allowing third- party submission of prior art to the USPTO during patent
prosecution and additional procedures to attack the validity of a patent by USPTO administered post- grant proceedings,
including post- grant review, inter partes review, and derivation proceedings. Further, because of a lower evidentiary standard in
these USPTO post- grant proceedings compared to the evidentiary standard in United States federal courts necessary to
invalidate a patent claim, a third- party could potentially provide evidence in a USPTO proceeding sufficient for the USPTO to
hold a claim invalid even though the same evidence would be insufficient to invalidate the claim if first presented in a district
court action. Accordingly, a third- party may attempt to use the USPTO procedures to invalidate our patent claims that would
not have been invalidated if first challenged by the third- party as a defendant in a district court action. Thus, the Leahy- Smith
Act and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and
the enforcement or defense of our issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects. After March 2013, under the Leahy- Smith Act, the United States transitioned to a
first inventor to file system in which, assuming that the other statutory requirements are met, the first inventor to file a patent
application will be entitled to the patent on an invention regardless of whether a third- party was the first to invent the claimed
invention. A third- party that files a patent application in the USPTO after March 2013, but before we file an application
covering the same invention, could therefore be awarded a patent covering an invention of ours even if we had made the
invention before it was made by such third- party. This will require us to be cognizant going forward of the time from invention
to filing of a patent application. Since patent applications in the United States and most other countries are confidential for a
period of time after filing or until issuance, we cannot be certain that we or our licensors were the first to either (i) file any patent
application related to our product candidates and other proprietary technologies we may develop or (ii) invent any of the
inventions claimed in our or our licensor’ s patents or patent applications. Even where we have a valid and enforceable patent,
we may not be able to exclude others from practicing the claimed invention where the other party can show that they used the
invention in commerce before our filing date or the other party benefits from a compulsory license. However, the Leahy- Smith
Act and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and
the enforcement or defense of our issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects. In addition, the patent positions of companies in the development and
commercialization of pharmaceuticals are particularly uncertain. The U. S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in
recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances or weakening the rights of patent
owners in certain situations. We cannot predict how decisions by the federal courts, the U. S. Congress or the USPTO may
impact the value of our patent rights. Fer-In the 2013 case Assoc. for Molecular Pathology v. Myriad Genetics, Inc., the U.
S. Supreme Court held that certain claims to DNA molecules are not patentable. As another example, the Supreme Court
of the United States held in Amgen v. Sanofi (2023) that a functionally claimed genus of antibodies that bind and block the
PCSKO receptor was invalid for failing to comply with the enablement requirement of the Patent Act. In addition, the Federal
eirenit-Circuit reeently-issued a decision involving the interaction of patent term adjustment (PTA), terminal disclaimers, and
obvious- type double patenting. Depending on future actions by the U. S. Congress, the U. S. courts, the USPTO and the
relevant law- making bodies in other countries, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways
that would weaken our ability to obtaln new patents or to enforce our ex1st1ng patents and patents that we mlght obtain in the
future. example-in-th : MeleeularRatholog Re he

A 8 patentable-. While we do not belleve that any of the patents owned or licensed by
us will be found invalid based on t-his—these deeis-ten—decmlons we cannot predict how future decisions by the courts, the U. S.
Congress or the USPTO may impact the value of our patents. Obtaining and maintaining patent protection depends on
compliance with various procedural, document submissions, fee payment and other requirements imposed by governmental
patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non- compliance with these requirements. Periodic
maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuities fees and various other governmental fees on patents and / or patent applications are
due to be paid to the USPTO and foreign patent agencies in several stages over the lifetime of the patent and / or patent
application. The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies also require compliance with a number of
procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process. While an inadvertent
lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules, there are
situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or
complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Non- compliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a
patent or patent application include, but are not limited to, failure to respond to official actions within prescribed time limits,
non- payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit formal documents. If we fail to maintain the patents and patent



applications covering our product candidates, our competitive position would be adversely affected. We may rely on trade secret
and proprietary know- how which can be difficult to trace and enforce and, if we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our
trade secrets, our business and competitive position would be harmed. In addition to seeking patents for some of our technology
and product candidates, we may also rely on trade secrets, including unpatented know- how, technology and other proprietary
information, to maintain our competitive position. Elements of our product candidates, including processes for their preparation
and manufacture, may involve proprietary know- how, information, or technology that is not covered by patents, and thus for
these aspects we may consider trade secrets and know- how to be our primary intellectual property. Any disclosure, either
intentional or unintentional, by our employees, the employees of third parties with whom we share our facilities or third- party
consultants and vendors that we engage to perform research, clinical trials or manufacturing activities, or misappropriation by
third parties (such as through a cybersecurity breach) of our trade secrets or proprietary information could enable competitors to
duplicate or surpass our technological achievements, thus eroding our competitive position in our market. Because we expect to
rely on third parties in the development and manufacture of our product candidates, we must, at times, share trade secrets with
them. Our reliance on third parties requires us to share our trade secrets, which increases the possibility that a competitor will
discover them or that our trade secrets will be misappropriated or disclosed. Trade secrets and know- how can be difficult to
protect. We require our employees to enter into written employment agreements containing provisions of confidentiality and
obligations to assign to us any inventions generated in the course of their employment. We and any third parties with whom we
share facilities enter into written agreements that include confidentiality and intellectual property obligations to protect each
party’ s property, potential trade secrets, proprietary know- how, and information. We further seek to protect our potential trade
secrets, proprietary know- how, and information in part, by entering into non- disclosure and confidentiality agreements with
parties who are given access to them, such as our corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators, contract research
organizations, contract manufacturers, consultants, advisors and other third parties. With our consultants, contractors, and
outside scientific collaborators, these agreements typically include invention assignment obligations. We cannot guarantee that
we have entered into such agreements with each party that may have or has had access to our trade secrets or proprietary
technology and processes. We cannot be certain that our trade secrets and other confidential proprietary information will not be
disclosed or that competitors will not otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or independently develop substantially
equivalent information and techniques. Despite these efforts, any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose our
proprietary information, including our trade secrets, and we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for such breaches.
Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive and time- consuming,
and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and outside the United States are less willing or unwilling to
protect trade secrets. We may need to share our proprietary information, including trade secrets, with future business partners,
collaborators, contractors and others located in countries at heightened risk of theft of trade secrets, including through direct
intrusion by private parties or foreign actors, and those affiliated with or controlled by state actors. Further, if any of our trade
secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor or other third- party, we would have no right to
prevent them from using that technology or information to compete with us. If any of our trade secrets were to be disclosed to or
independently developed by a competitor or other third- party, our competitive position would be harmed. We may become
subject to claims challenging the inventorship or ownership of our patents and other intellectual property. We may be subject to
claims that former employees, collaborators or other third parties have an interest in our patents or other intellectual property as
an inventor or co- inventor. The failure to name the proper inventors on a patent application can result in the patents issuing
thereon being unenforceable. Inventorship disputes may arise from conflicting views regarding the contributions of different
individuals named as inventors, the effects of foreign laws where foreign nationals are involved in the development of the
subject matter of the patent, conflicting obligations of third parties involved in developing our product candidates or as a result
of questions regarding co- ownership of potential joint inventions. Litigation may be necessary to resolve these and other claims
challenging inventorship and / or ownership. Alternatively, or additionally, we may enter into agreements to clarify the scope of
our rights in such intellectual property. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may
lose valuable intellectual property rights, such as exclusive ownership of, or right to use, valuable intellectual property. Such an
outcome could have a material adverse effect on our business. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims,
litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management and other employees. Our current or future
licensors may have relied on third- party consultants or collaborators or on funds from third parties, such as the U. S.
government, such that our licensors are not the sole and exclusive owners of the patents we in- licensed. If other third parties
have ownership rights or other rights to our in- licensed patents, they may be able to license such patents to our competitors, and
our competitors could market competing products and technology. This could have a material adverse effect on our competitive
position, business, financial conditions, results of operations, and prospects. In addition, while it is our policy to require our
employees and contractors who may be involved in the conception or development of intellectual property to execute
agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with each party
who, in fact, conceives or develops intellectual property that we regard as our own. The assignment of intellectual property
rights may not be self- executing, or the assignment agreements may be breached, and we may be forced to bring claims against
third parties, or defend claims that they may bring against us, to determine the ownership of what we regard as our intellectual
property. Such claims could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and
prospects. Patent terms may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our product candidates for an adequate amount
of time. Patent rights are of limited duration. In the United States, if all maintenance fees are paid timely, the natural expiration
of a patent is generally 20 years after its first effective filing date excluding U. S. provisional patent applications. Given the
amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such
candidates might expire before or shortly after such product candidates are commercialized. Even if patents covering our product



candidates are obtained, once the patent life has expired for a product, we may be open to competition from biosimilar or
generic products. As a result, our patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from
commercializing product candidates similar or identical to ours. Upon issuance in the United States, the term of a patent can be
increased by patent term adjustment, which is based on certain delays caused by the USPTO, but this increase can be reduced or
eliminated based on certain delays caused by the patent applicant during patent prosecution. The term of a United States patent
may also be shortened if the patent is terminally disclaimed over an earlier- filed patent. A patent term extension (PTE) based on
regulatory delay may be available in the United States. However, only a single patent can be extended for each marketing
approval, and any patent can be extended only once, for a single product. Moreover, the scope of protection during the period of
the PTE does not extend to the full scope of the claim, but instead only to the scope of the product as approved. Laws governing
analogous PTEs in foreign jurisdictions vary widely, as do laws governing the ability to obtain multiple patents from a single
patent family. Additionally, we may not receive an extension if we fail to exercise due diligence during the testing phase or
regulatory review process, apply within applicable deadlines, fail to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise fail
to satisfy applicable requirements. If we are unable to obtain PTE or restoration, or the term of any such extension is less than
we request, the period during which we will have the right to exclusively market our product will be shortened and our
competitors may obtain approval of competing products following our patent expiration and may take advantage of our
investment in development and clinical trials by referencing our clinical and preclinical data to launch their product earlier than
might otherwise be the case, and our revenue could be reduced, possibly materially. If our trademarks and trade names are not
adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition in our markets of interest and our business may be
adversely affected. Our current or future trademarks or trade names may be challenged, infringed, circumvented or declared
generic or descriptive or determined to be infringing on other marks. We may not be able to protect our rights to these
trademarks and trade names or may be forced to stop using these names, which we need for name recognition by potential
partners or customers in our markets of interest. During trademark registration proceedings, we may receive rejections of our
applications by the USPTO or in other foreign jurisdictions. Although we would be given an opportunity to respond to those
rejections, we may be unable to overcome such rejections. In addition, in the USPTO and in comparable agencies in many
foreign jurisdictions, third parties are given an opportunity to oppose pending trademark applications and to seek to cancel
registered trademarks. Opposition or cancellation proceedings may be filed against our trademarks, and our trademarks may not
survive such proceedings. If we are unable to establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, we may not
be able to compete effectively and our business may be adversely affected. We may license our trademarks and trade names to
third parties, such as distributors. Although these license agreements may provide guidelines for how our trademarks and trade
names may be used, a breach of these agreements or misuse of our trademarks and tradenames by our licensees may jeopardize
our rights in or diminish the goodwill associated with our trademarks and trade names. Moreover, any name we have proposed
to use with our product candidate in the United States must be approved by the FDA, regardless of whether we have registered
it, or applied to register it, as a trademark. Similar requirements exist in Europe. The FDA typically conducts a review of
proposed product names, including an evaluation of potential for confusion with other product names. If the FDA (or an
equivalent administrative body in a foreign jurisdiction) objects to any of our proposed proprietary product names, it may be
required to expend significant additional resources in an effort to identify a suitable substitute name that would qualify under
applicable trademark laws, not infringe the existing rights of third parties and be acceptable to the FDA. Furthermore, in many
countries, owning and maintaining a trademark registration may not provide an adequate defense against a subsequent
infringement claim asserted by the owner of a senior trademark. At times, competitors or other third parties may adopt trade
names or trademarks similar to ours, thereby impeding our ability to build brand identity and possibly leading to market
confusion. In addition, there could be potential trade name or trademark infringement claims brought by owners of other
registered trademarks or trademarks that incorporate variations of our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names. If
we assert trademark infringement claims, a court may determine that the marks we have asserted are invalid or unenforceable,
or that the party against whom we have asserted trademark infringement has superior rights to the marks in question. In this
case, we could ultimately be forced to cease use of such trademarks. Risks Related to the Securities Market and Ownershrp of
OurCommonStock e-trading-marke may-noteontimtie-to-be-de ; be-stistaine ch

3 shares-at-a-priee ae at-aH—The price of our common stock could be subject to Volatrhty
related or unrelated to our operations. Our stock price has been and may continue to be volatile. The stock market in general
and the market for biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, in particular, have experienced extreme volatility that has
often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. As a result of this volatility, you may not be able to
sell your shares at a price that is attractive to you, or at all. The market price for our common stock may be influenced by
numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including: ¢ adverse results or delays in preclinical studies or clinical
trials; ¢ results from our future clinical trials with our future product candidates or of our competitors; ¢ failure to commercialize
our product candidates; * unanticipated serious safety concerns related to immuno- oncology or related to the use of our product
candidates; * changes in our projected operating results that we provide to the public, our failure to meet these projections or
changes in recommendations by securities analysts that elect to follow our common stock; ¢ any delay in our regulatory filings
for our product candidates and any adverse development or perceived adverse development with respect to the applicable
regulatory authority’ s review of such filings, including without limitation the FDA” s issuance of a ““ refusal to file ” letter or a
request for additional information; * regulatory or legal developments in the United States and other countries; * the level of
expenses related to future product candidates or clinical development programs; ¢ our failure to achieve product development



goals in the timeframe we announce; * announcements of acquisitions, strategic alliances or significant agreements by us or by
our competitors; * recruitment or departure of key personnel; « developments with respect to our intellectual property rights; ¢
overall performance of the equrty markets . the economy asa Whole and market condrtrons n our lndustry, trading-aetivity by
d d o-tog S 0 0 ; —s—the published
opinions and thlrd- party Valuatlons by banklng and market analysts . pohtlcal uncertamty and / or 1nstab111ty in the United
States; * the future impact of a resurgenee-of-COVID—9-or-other-health epidemic or pandemic; and » any other factors
discussed in this Annual Report. In addition, the stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that
have affected and continue to affect the market prices of equity securities of many immuno- oncology companies. Stock prices
of many immuno- oncology companies have fluctuated in a manner unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance
of those companies. Our principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to
exert significant control over matters subject to stockholder approval. Certain of our executive officers, directors and large
stockholders own a significant percentage of our outstanding capital stock. As a result of their share ownership, these
stockholders will have the ability to influence us through their ownership positions. These stockholders may be able to
determine all matters requiring stockholder approval. For example, these stockholders, acting together, may be able to control
elections of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, or approval of any merger, sale of assets, or other major
corporate transaction. This may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our common stock that you
may believe are in your best interest as one of our stockholders. If there are substantial sales of shares of our common stock, the
market price of our common stock could decline. The price of our common stock could decline if there are substantial sales of
our common stock, particularly sales by our directors, executive officers and significant stockholders, or if there is a large
number of shares of our common stock available for sale and the market perceives that sales will occur. As of December 31,
2623-2024 , we had 46,262,759 59, 064, 606 outstanding shares of common stock. Future sales and issuances of our common
stock or rights to purchase common stock, including pursuant to our equity incentive plans, could result in additional dilution of
the percentage ownership of our stockholders and could cause our stock price to fall. Additional capital will be needed in the
future to continue our planned operations. To the extent we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, our stockholders
may experience substantial dilution. We may sell common stock, convertible securities or other equity securities in one or more
transactions at prices and in a manner, we determine from time to time. If we sell common stock, convertible securities or other
equity securities, investors may be materially diluted. These sales may also result in material dilution to our existing
stockholders, and new investors could gain rights superior to our existing stockholders. Pursuant to our 2021 Equity Incentive
Plan (2021 Plan), we are authorized to grant stock options and other equity- based awards to our employees, directors and
consultants. The number of shares of our common stock reserved for issuance under our 2021 Plan automatically increases on
January 1 of each calendar year, through January 1, 2031, in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) 5 % of the total number of
shares of our common stock outstanding on the last day of the calendar month before the date of each automatic increase; or (ii)
a lesser number of shares determined by our board of directors prior to the applicable January 1st. In addition, pursuant to our
2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, the number of shares of our common stock reserved for issuance automatically increases
on January 1 of each calendar year, through January 1, 2031, by the lesser of (i) 1 % of the total number of shares of our
common stock outstanding on the last day of the calendar month before the date of each automatic increase, and (ii) 932, 000
shares; provided that before the date of any such increase, our board of directors may determine that such increase will be less
than the amount set forth in clauses (i) and (ii). Unless our board of directors elects not to increase the number of shares
available for future grant each year, our stockholders may experience additional dilution, which could cause our stock price to
fall. We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock so any returns will be limited to the value of our stock. We
currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings for the development, operation and expansion of our business and do not
anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Any return to stockholders will therefore be limited
to the appreciation of their stock. Delaware law and provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and
amended and restated bylaws could make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest difficult, thereby depressing the trading price
of our common stock. Our status as a Delaware corporation and the anti- takeover provisions of the Delaware General
Corporation Law may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control by prohibiting us from engaging in a business
combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years after the person becomes an interested stockholder, even
if a change of control would be beneficial to our existing stockholders. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation
and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that may make the acquisition of our company more difficult, including the
following: « a classified board of directors with three- year staggered terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to
change the membership of a majority of our board of directors;  the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred
stock and to determine the price and other terms of those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder
approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer; * the exclusive right of our board of
directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our board of directors or the resignation, death or
removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors; ¢ a prohibition on
stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our
stockholders; ¢ the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by a majority vote of our entire board
of directors, the chairman of our board of directors or our chief executive officer, which could delay the ability of our
stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors; ¢ the requirement for the
affirmative vote of holders of at least 66- 2 / 3 % of the voting power of all of the then- outstanding shares of the voting stock,
voting together as a single class, to amend the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation relating to the
management of our business or our amended and restated bylaws, which may inhibit the ability of an acquirer to affect such
amendments to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and ¢ advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply




to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may
discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’ s own slate of directors or
otherwise attempting to obtain control of us. In addition, as a Delaware corporation, we are subject to Section 203 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law. These provisions may prohibit large stockholders, in particular those owning 15 % or more
of our outstanding voting stock, from merging or combining with us for a certain period of time. A Delaware corporation may
opt out of this provision by express provision in its original certificate of incorporation or by amendment to its certificate of
incorporation or bylaws approved by its stockholders. However, we have not opted out of this provision. These and other
provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law could make
it more difficult for stockholders or potential acquirors to obtain control of our board of directors or initiate actions that are
opposed by our then- current board of directors, including delay or impede a merger, tender offer or proxy contest involving our
company. The existence of these provisions could negatively affect the price of our common stock and limit opportunities for
you to realize value in a corporate transaction. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and
restated bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the exclusive forum for substantially all
disputes between us and our stockholders and that the federal district courts shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of
any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a
favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees or the underwriters or any offering giving
rise to such claim. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that the
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for the following types of actions or
proceedings under Delaware statutory or common law: (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; (ii) any
action or proceeding asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our current or former directors, officers, or
other employees to us or our stockholders; (iii) any action or proceeding asserting a claim against us or any of our current or
former directors, officers, or other employees, arising out of or pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation
Law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws; (iv) any action or proceeding to
interpret, apply, enforce, or determine the validity of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and
restated bylaws; (v) any action or proceeding as to which the Delaware General Corporation Law confers jurisdiction to the
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware; and (vi) any action asserting a claim against us or any of our directors, officers, or
other employees governed by the internal affairs doctrine, in all cases to the fullest extent permitted by law and subject to the
court’ s having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants. These provisions would not apply to
suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act. Furthermore, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates
concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all such Securities Act actions. Accordingly, both state and federal courts
have jurisdiction to entertain such claims. To prevent having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the threat of
inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other considerations, our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws provide that the federal district courts of the United States of America will
be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, including any
complaint against the underwriters of any offering giving rise to such claim. While the Delaware courts have determined that
such choice of forum provisions are facially valid, a stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring a claim in a venue other than
those designated in the exclusive forum provisions. In such instance, we would expect to vigorously assert the validity and
enforceability of the exclusive forum provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and
restated bylaws. This may require significant additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions and the
provisions may not be enforced by a court in those other jurisdictions. These exclusive forum provisions may limit a
stockholder’ s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or
other employees and may discourage these types of lawsuits and result in increased costs for investors to bring a claim.
Furthermore, the enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ certificates of incorporation or bylaws
has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that a court could find these types of provisions to be inapplicable or
unenforceable. If a court were to find the exclusive forum provision contained in our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation or amended and restated bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur further significant
additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, all of which could seriously harm our business.
General Risk Factors We incur significantly increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management is
required to devote substantial time to public company reporting and compliance initiatives. As a public company listed on the
Nasdaq Global Market, we incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company.
We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, which require, among other things, that we file with the SEC
annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition. In addition, the Sarbanes- Oxley Act,
as well as rules subsequently adopted by the SEC and Nasdaq to implement provisions of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, impose
significant requirements on public companies, including requiring establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and
financial controls and changes in corporate governance practices. Further, in July 2010, the Dodd- Frank Wall Street Reform
and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd- Frank Act) was enacted. There are significant corporate governance and executive
compensation related provisions in the Dodd- Frank Act that require the SEC to adopt additional rules and regulations in these
areas such as ““ say on pay ” and proxy access. Emerging growth companies and smaller reporting companies are exempted from
certain of these requirements, but as of January 1, 2025, we may-be-reqtired-are not exempted and will incur significant
legal, accounting and other expenses related to implement-these stated requirements seoner-than-budgeted-or-planned-and
thereby-inenrunexpeetedexpenses-. Stockholder activism, the current political environment and the current high level of
government intervention and regulatory reform may lead to substantial new regulations and disclosure obligations, which may
lead to additional compliance costs and impact the manner in which we operate our business in ways we cannot currently



anticipate. The rules and regulations applicable to public companies substantially increase our legal and financial compliance
costs and make some activities more time- consuming and costly. If these requirements divert the attention of our management
and personnel from other business concerns, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects. The increased costs decrease our net income or increase our net loss, and may require us to
reduce costs in other areas of our business or increase the prices of our products or services. For example, these rules and
regulations make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance and we may be
required to incur substantial costs to maintain the same or similar coverage. We cannot predict or estimate the amount or timing
of additional costs we may incur to respond to these requirements. The impact of these requirements could also make it more
difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or as executive
officers. If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our ability
to produce timely and accurate financial statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired. As a public
company, we are subject to requirements of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, the regulations of the Nasdaq Global Market, the rules and
regulations of the SEC, expanded disclosure requirements, accelerated reporting requirements and more complex accounting
rules. We expect that the requirements of these rules and regulations will continue to increase our legal, accounting and financial
compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time- consuming and costly and place significant strain on our personnel,
systems and resources. Company responsibilities required by the Sarbanes- Oxley Act include, among other things, that we
maintain corporate oversight and adequate internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures. We
are continuing to develop and refine our disclosure controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that information required to be disclosed in reports under the Exchange
Act is accumulated and communicated to our principal executive and financial effieers— officer . We are also continuing to
improve our internal control over financial reporting. In order to develop, maintain, and improve the effectiveness of our internal
controls and procedures, and internal control over financial reporting, we have expended, and anticipate that we will continue to
expend, significant resources, including accounting- related costs and significant management oversight. Our current controls
and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business. Further,
weaknesses in our disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting may be discovered in the future. Any failure
to develop or maintain effective controls or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement could harm our
results of operations or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our financial
statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could also
adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual independent registered public accounting firm
attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting that we will eventually be required
to include in our periodic reports that will be filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal
control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information,
which would likely have a negative effect on the trading price of our common stock. In addition, if we are unable to continue to
meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on the Nasdaq Global Market. We are not currently required to
make a formal assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting under the SEC rules that
implement Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act. We are also required to provide an annual management report on the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures over financial reporting. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports
or prevent fraud, our business and results of operations could be harmed, investors could lose confidence in our reported
financial information and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by Nasdaq, the SEC or other regulatory authorities.
Any failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting could have a material and
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition and could cause a decline in the trading price of our
common stock. Our disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or detect all errors or acts of fraud. We are subject to
the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. We designed our disclosure controls and procedures to reasonably
assure that information we must disclose in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated
to management, and recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of
the SEC. We believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls and procedures, no matter how well-
conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision- making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur
because of simple error or mistake. For example, our directors or executive officers could inadvertently fail to disclose a new
relationship or arrangement causing us to fail to make any related party transaction disclosures. Additionally, controls can be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by an unauthorized override of the
controls. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur
and not be detected. Future changes in financial accounting standards or practices may cause adverse and unexpected revenue
fluctuations and adversely affect our reported results of operations. Future changes in financial accounting standards may cause
adverse, unexpected revenue fluctuations and affect our reported financial position or results of operations. Financial accounting
standards in the United States are constantly under review and new pronouncements and varying interpretations of
pronouncements have occurred with frequency in the past and are expected to occur again in the future. As a result, we may be
required to make changes in our accounting policies. Those changes could affect our financial condition and results of
operations or the way in which such financial condition and results of operations are reported. We intend to invest resources to
comply with evolving standards, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a
diversion of management time and attention from business activities to compliance activities. See the section titled
Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Recent Accounting



Pronouncements. ” Changes in tax laws or regulations that are applied adversely to us or our customers may have a material
adverse effect on our business, cash flow, financial condition or results of operations. New income, sales, use, or other tax laws,
statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be enacted at any time, which could adversely affect our business operations and
financial performance. Further, existing tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations, or ordinances could be interpreted, changed,
modified, or applied adversely to us. For example, the Tax Act, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act and the
IRA enacted many significant changes to the U. S. tax laws. Effective January 1, 2022, the Tax Act eliminated the option to
deduct research and development expenses for tax purposes in the year incurred and requires taxpayers to capitalize and
subsequently amortize such expenses over five years for research activities conducted in the United States and over 15 years for
research activities conducted outside the United States. Although there have been legislative proposals to repeal or defer the
capitalization requirement to later years, there can be no assurance that the provision will be repealed or otherwise modified.
Future guidance from the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities with respect to such legislation may affect us, and
certain aspects of such legislation could be repealed or modified in future legislation. In addition, it is uncertain if and to what
extent various states will conform to federal tax laws. Future tax reform legislation could have a material impact on the value of
our deferred tax assets, could result in significant one- time charges, and could increase our future U. S. tax expense. Unstable
market and economic conditions may have serious adverse consequences on our business, financial condition and stock price.
As a result of disruptions and changes in the macro environment, including those resulting from health epidemics or
pandemics COVID-—19-and-actions-takento-stow-tts-spread-, bank failures, and geopolitical actions such as the United States
and foreign government actions related to the military conflict in Ukraine and Russia and the war in the Middle East, the global
credit and financial markets have experienced extreme volatility and disruptions, including severely diminished liquidity and
credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in economic growth, increases in unemployment rates and
uncertainty about economic stability. There can be no assurance that further deterioration in credit and financial markets and
confidence in economic conditions will not occur. Our general business strategy may be adversely affected by any such
economic downturn, volatile business environment or continued unpredictable and unstable market conditions. If the current
equity and credit markets deteriorate, it may make any necessary debt or equity financing more difficult, more costly and more
dilutive. Failure to secure any necessary financing in a timely manner and on favorable terms or failure to access to our liquidity
within the U. S. banking system could have a material adverse effect on our growth strategy, financial performance and stock
price and could require us to delay or abandon clinical development plans. In addition, there is a risk that one or more of our
current service providers, manufacturers and other partners may not survive an economic downturn, which could directly affect
our ability to attain our operating goals on schedule and on budget. Inflation may adversely affect us by increasing our costs.
Recently, inflation has increased throughout the U. S. economy. Inflation can adversely affect us by increasing the costs of
clinical trials and research, the development of our product candidates, administration and other costs of doing business. We
may experience increases in the prices of labor and other costs of doing business. In an inflationary environment, cost increases
may outpace our expectations, causing us to use our cash and other liquid assets faster than forecasted. If this happens, we may
need to raise additional capital to fund our operations, which may not be available in sufficient amounts or on reasonable terms,
if at all, sooner than expected. If our internal information technology systems or sensitive information, or those of eut-third -
party-parties with whom we work (such as CROs or other contractors or consultants ), are or were compromised, we could
experience adverse consequences from such compromise, including but not limited to, a material disruption of our product
candidates’ development programs, regulatory investigations or actions, litigation, fines and penalties, reputational harm, loss of
revenue or profits, and other adverse consequences. We are increasingly dependent upon information technology systems,
infrastructure and data to operate our business. In the ordinary course of business, we and the third parties upen-whieh-with
whom we work rely-en-process proprietary, confidential, and sensitive information, including personal information (such as
health- related data), intellectual property, and trade secrets (collectively, sensitive information). Cyber- attacks, malicious
internet- based activity, online and offline fraud, and other similar activities threaten the confidentiality, integrity, and
availability of our sensitive information and information technology systems, and those of the third parties upen-whieh-with
whom we rely-work . Such threats are prevalent and continue to rise, are increasingly difficult to detect, and come from a
variety of sources, including traditional computer “ hackers, ” threat actors, “ hacktivists, ”” organized criminal threat actors,
personnel (such as through theft or misuse), sophisticated nation states, and nation- state- supported actors. Some actors now
engage and are expected to continue to engage in cyber- attacks, including, without limitation, nation- state actors for
geopolitical reasons and in conjunction with military conflicts and defense activities. During times of war and other major
conflicts, we and the third parties apemwhieh-with whom we rety-work may be vulnerable to a heightened risk of these attacks,
including cyber- attacks that could materially disrupt our systems and operations, supply chain, and ability to produce, sell and
distribute our goods and services. We and the third parties apemwhieh-with whom we rety-work are subject to a variety of
evolving threats, including, but not limited to social- engineering attacks (including through deep fakes, which are may-be
increasingly more difficult to identify as fake, and phishing attacks), malicious code (such as viruses and worms), malware
(including as a result of advanced persistent threat intrusions), denial- of- service attacks , {sueh-as-credential stuffing -,
credential harvesting, personnel misconduct or error, ransomware attacks, supply- chain attacks, software bugs, server
malfunctions, software or hardware failures, loss of data or other information technology assets, adware, telecommunications
failures, attacks enhanced or facilitated by artificial intelligence, earthquakes, fires, floods, and other similar threats. Severe
ransomware attacks are beeeminig-increasingly prevalent and can lead to significant interruptions in our operations, loss of data
and income, reputational harm, and diversion of funds. Extortion payments may alleviate the negative impact of a ransomware
attack, but we may be unwilling or unable to make such payments due to, for example, applicable laws or regulations prohibiting
such payments. Future or past business transactions (such as acquisitions or integrations) could also expose us to additional
cybersecurity risks and vulnerabilities, as our systems could be negatively affected by vulnerabilities present in acquired or



integrated entities’ systems and technologies. Furthermore, we may discover security issues that were not found during due
diligence of such acquired or integrated entities, and it may be difficult to integrate companies into our information technology
environment and security program. We rely on third —parties and technologies to operate critical business systems in a variety of
contexts, including, without limitation, cloud- based infrastructure, encryption and authentication technology, employee email,
and other functions. Our ability to monitor these third parties’ information security practices is limited, and these third parties
may not have adequate information security measures in place. If the third —parties apen-whieh-with whom we rely-work
experience a security incident or other interruption, we could experience adverse consequences. While we may be entitled to
damages if the third —parties upen-whteh-with whom we rely-work fail to satisty their privacy or security- related obligations to
us, any award may be insufficient to cover our damages, or we may be unable to recover such award. In addition, supply- chain
attacks have increased in frequency and severity, and we cannot guarantee that third parties’ infrastructure in our supply chain or
otr-that of the third —partypartners— parties ~supply-ehains-with whom we work have not been compromised. While we have
implemented security measures designed to protect against security incidents, there can be no assurance that these measures will
be effective. We take steps designed to detect, mitigate and remediate vulnerabilities in our information security systems (such
as our hardware and / or software, including that of third parties apen-whieh-with whom we rely-work ), but we have not been
and may not be able to detect, mitigate, and remediate all such vulnerabilities including on a timely basis . It may also be
difficult and / or costly to detect , investigate, mitigate, contain, and remediate a security incident. Further, we may
experience delays in developing and deploying remedial measures designed to address any such identified vulnerabilities.
Vulnerabilities could be exploited and result in a security incident. Actions taken by us or the third parties with whom
we work to detect, investigate, mitigate, contain, and remediate a security incident could result in outages, data losses,
and disruptions of our business. Threat actors may also gain access to other networks and systems after a compromise of
our networks and systems. Any of the previously identified or similar threats could cause a security incident or other
interruption that could result in unauthorized, unlawful, or accidental acquisition, modification, destruction, loss, alteration,
encryption, disclosure of, or access to our sensitive information or our information technology systems, or those of the third
parties #per-with whom we rely-work. For example, we have been the target of unsuccessful phishing attempts in the past,
and expect such attempts will continue in the future . A security incident or other interruption could disrupt our ability (and
that of third parties aperrwith whom we rely¥-work) to provide our services. A security incident or other interruption could
disrupt our ability (and that of third parties with whom we work ) to conduct our business operations. For example, a
security incident could result in a material disruption of our programs and the development of our product candidates could be
delayed. In addition, the loss of preclinical study data or clinical trial data for our product candidates could result in delays in
our marketing approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. We may expend significant
resources or modify our business activities (including our clinical trial activities) to try to protect against security incidents.
Certain data privacy and security obligations may-require us to implement and maintain specific security measures, industry-
standard or reasonable security measures to protect our information technology systems and sensitive information. Applicable
data privacy and security obligations may require us , or we may voluntarily choose, to notify relevant stakeholders of security
incidents, including affected individuals , customers, regulators, and data-investors, or to take other actions, such as
providing credit monitoring and identity theft protection autherities-services . Such disclosures are-and related actions can
be costly, and the disclosures or the failure to comply with such applicable requirements could lead to adverse consequences. If
we (or a third- party uper-with whom we rely-work ) experience a security incident or are perceived to have experienced a
security incident, we may experience adverse consequences, such as government enforcement actions (for example,
investigations, fines, penalties, audits, and inspections); additional reporting requirements and / or oversight; restrictions on
processing sensitive information (including personal information); litigation (including class claims); indemnification
obligations; negative publicity; reputational harm; monetary fund diversions; diversion of management attention; interruptions in
our operations (including availability of data); financial loss; and other similar harms. Security incidents and attendant
consequences may cause interruptions in our operations and could result in a material disruption of our programs. For example,
the loss of clinical trial data for our product candidates could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly
increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. Our contracts may not contain limitations of liability, and even where they
do, there can be no assurance that limitations of liability in our contracts are sufficient to protect us from liabilities, damages, or
claims related to our data privacy and security obligations. We cannot be sure that our insurance coverage will be adequate or
sufficient to protect us from or to mitigate liabilities arising out of our privacy and security practices, that such coverage will
continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all, or that such coverage will pay future claims. In addition,
third parties may gather, collect, or infer sensitive information about us from public sources, data brokers, or other means that
reveals competitively sensitive details about our organization and could be used to undermine our competitive advantage or
market position. Sensitive information of the company could also be leaked, disclosed, or revealed as a result of or in
connection with our employees’, personnel” s, or vendors-third parties * with whom we work use of generative Al
technologies. We or the third parties upon whom we depend on may be adversely affected by earthquakes, fires or other natural
disasters and our business continuity and disaster recovery plans may not adequately protect us from a serious disaster. Our
corporate headquarters and main research facility are located in the county of San Diego, California, which in the past has
experienced severe earthquakes and fires. If these earthquakes, fires, other natural disasters, terrerism-arson and similar
unforeseen events beyond our control prevented us from using all or a significant portion of our headquarters or research facility,
it may be difficult or, in certain cases, impossible for us to continue our business for a substantial period of time. We do not have
a disaster recovery or business continuity plan in place and may incur substantial expenses as a result of the absence or limited
nature of our internal or third- party service provider disaster recovery and business continuity plans, which, particularly when
taken together with our lack of earthquake insurance, could have a material adverse effect on our business. Furthermore, integral



parties in our supply chain are operating from single sites, increasing their vulnerability to natural disasters or other sudden,
unforeseen and severe adverse events. If such an event were to affect our supply chain, it could have a material adverse effect on
our ability to conduct our clinical trials, our development plans and business. We are subject to certain U. S. and foreign anti-
corruption, anti- money laundering, export control, sanctions, and other trade laws and regulations. We can face serious
consequences for violations. U. S. and foreign anti- corruption, anti- money laundering, export control, sanctions, and other
trade laws and regulations (collectively, Trade Laws) prohibit, among other things, companies and their employees, agents,
CROs, legal counsel, accountants, consultants, contractors, and other partners from authorizing, promising, offering, providing,
soliciting, or receiving directly or indirectly, corrupt or improper payments or anything else of value to or from recipients in the
public or private sector. Violations of Trade Laws can result in substantial criminal fines and civil penalties, imprisonment, the
loss of trade privileges, debarment, tax reassessments, breach of contract and fraud litigation, reputational harm, and other
consequences. We have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or government-
affiliated hospitals, universities, and other organizations. We also expect our non- U. S. activities to increase over time. We
expect to rely on third parties for research, preclinical studies, and clinical trials and / or to obtain necessary permits, licenses,
patent registrations, and other marketing approvals. We can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of our
personnel, agents, or partners, even if we do not explicitly authorize or have prior knowledge of such activities. If we fail to
comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or penalties or incur costs
that could have a material adverse effect on the success of our business. We, and the third parties with whom we share our
facilities, are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory
procedures and the handling, use, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. Each of our operations
involve the use of hazardous and flammable materials, including chemicals and biological materials. Each of our operations also
produce hazardous waste products. We generally contract with third parties for the disposal of these materials and wastes. We
cannot eliminate the risk of contamination or injury from these materials. We could be held liable for any resulting damages in
the event of contamination or injury resulting from the use of hazardous materials by us or the third parties with whom we share
our facilities, and any liability could exceed our resources. We also could incur significant costs associated with civil or criminal
fines and penalties. Although we maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses we may incur
due to injuries to our employees resulting from the use of hazardous materials, this insurance may not provide adequate
coverage against potential liabilities. We do not maintain insurance for environmental liability or toxic tort claims that may be
asserted against us in connection with our storage or disposal of biological or hazardous materials. In addition, we may incur
substantial costs in order to comply with current or future environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. These current
or future laws and regulations may impair our research and development. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations also
may result in substantial fines, penalties or other sanctions. We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights
throughout the world. Patent protection is available on a national or regional level. Filing, prosecuting and defending patents
throughout the world and on all of our product candidates would be prohibitively expensive. As such, our intellectual property
rights outside the United States may not extend to all other possible countries outside the United States and we may not be able
to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in countries outside the United States where we do not have patent
protection, or from selling in and importing products into other jurisdictions made using our inventions in such countries outside
the United States. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to
develop their own products or technology and may export otherwise infringing products or technology to territories where we
have patent protection, but enforcement rights are not as strong as those in the United States. These products may compete with
our products, and our patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from
competing. Further, the legal systems of certain countries particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the
enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to pharmaceuticals or biologics,
which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of competing products in violation of
our proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs
and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or
interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us.
We may not prevail in any such lawsuits that we initiate and the damages and other remedies awarded, if any, may not be
commercially meaningful. Similarly, if our trade secrets are disclosed in a foreign jurisdiction, competitors worldwide could
have access to our proprietary information and we may be without satisfactory recourse. Such disclosure could have a material
adverse effect on our business. Moreover, our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights may be adversely
affected by unforeseen changes in foreign intellectual property laws. We plan to enter into contract research and manufacturing
relationships with organizations that operate in certain countries that are at heightened risk of theft of technology, data and
intellectual property, including through direct intrusion by private parties or foreign actors, and those affiliated with or
controlled by state actors. In addition, certain developing countries, including China and India, have compulsory licensing laws
under which a patent owner may be compelled under certain circumstances to grant licenses to third parties at nominal or no
consideration. In those countries, we and our licensors may have limited remedies if patents are infringed or if we or our
licensors are compelled to grant a license to a third- party, which could materially diminish the value of those patents. In
addition, many countries limit the enforceability of patents against government agencies or government contractors. This could
limit our potential revenue opportunities. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights around the world
may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we develop or license. If
securities or industry analysts de-net-cease to publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business,
our stock price and trading volume could decline. The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research
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more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our
business, our common stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish
reports on us regularly, demand for our common stock could decrease, which might cause our common stock price and trading
volume to decline. Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require
us to relinquish rights to our technologies or product candidates. We may seek additional capital through a combination of public
and private equity offerings, debt financings, strategic partnerships and alliances and licensing arrangements. To the extent that
we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest will be diluted, and
the terms may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a stockholder. The incurrence of
indebtedness would result in increased fixed payment obligations and could involve certain restrictive covenants, such as
limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire or license intellectual property rights and
other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. If we raise additional funds through
strategic partnerships and alliances and licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to
our technologies or product candidates, or grant licenses on terms unfavorable to us. We could be subject to securities class
action litigation. In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following a decline in the
market price of its securities. This risk is especially relevant for us because pharmaceutical companies have experienced
significant stock price volatility in recent years. If we face such litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of
management’ s attention and resources, which could harm our business. We-are-an—¢ otro—erovwth e
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stoeland-ourstoekpriee-may-be-more-veolatite-Item | B. Unresolved Staff Comments. Not applicable. Item 1C. Cybersecurity.
Risk management and strategy-strategyWe We-have implemented and maintain various information security processes
designed to identify, assess and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats to our critical computer networks, third party
hosted services, communications systems, hardware and software, and our critical data, including intellectual property,
confidential information that is proprietary, strategic or competitive in nature, and data related to our development programs and
clinical trials (Information Systems and Data). Our Information Technology (IT) department and Senior Director of IT Bireetor
, with the assistance of our legal department ard-EFO-, help identify, assess and manage our cybersecurity threats and risks. This
group identifies and assesses risks from cybersecurity threats by monitoring and evaluating our threat environment and our risk
profile using various methods including, for example manual and automated tools, subscribing to reports and services that
identify cybersecurity threats, evaluating our and our industry’ s risk profile, evaluating threats reported to us and coordinating
with law enforcement about such threats as may be appropriate, conducting internal and external audits, conducting internal



threat assessments to evaluate for both internal and external threats, having third parties conduct threat assessments, and
conducting vulnerability assessments designed to identify vulnerabilities. Depending on the environment, systems and data, we
implement and maintain various technical, physical, and organizational measures, processes, standards and policies designed to
manage and mitigate material risks from cybersecurity threats to our Information Systems and Data, including, for example, eur
an incident response policy; incident detection and response processes; a vulnerability management policy; a disaster recovery
plans—- plan ; risk assessments; encrypting certain data; network security controls; segregating-eertairoefour-data segregation ;
maintaining access and physical controls; asset management, tracking and disposal; systems monitoring; employee training;
penetration testing conducted by third parties; maintaining cybersecurity insurance; and having dedicated cybersecurity staff.
Our assessment and management of material risks from cybersecurity threats are integrated into our overall risk management
processes. For example, (1) cybersecurity risk is addressed as a component of our enterprise risk management program; (2) the
IT department and Senior Director of [T Bireetor-discuss cybersecurity risk with management, including our €FG-and-legal
department to prioritize our risk management processes and mitigate cybersecurity threats that are more likely to lead to a
material impact to our business; (3) our senior management evaluates material risks from cybersecurity threats against our
overall business objectives and reports certain risks to the audit committee of the board of directors, which evaluates our overall
enterprise risk. We use third- party service providers to assist us from time to time to identify, assess, and manage material risks
from cybersecurity threats, including for example, professional services firms (including legal counsel), cybersecurity
consultants, cybersecurity software providers, and penetration testing firms. We use third- party service providers to perform a
variety of functions throughout our business, such as hosting companies, contract research organizations (CROs), and contract
manufacturing organizations (CMOs). We have processes to manage cybersecurity risks associated with our use of certain of
these providers. These processes include reviewing certain vendors’ written security program and security assessments, and
imposing certain contractual obligations related to cybersecurity on the vendor. Depending on the nature of the services
provided, the sensitivity of the Information Systems and Data at issue, and the identity of the provider, our vendor management
processes may involve different levels of assessment designed to help identify cybersecurity risks associated with a provider.
For a description of the risks from cybersecurity threats that may materially affect us and how they may do so, see the section of
this Annual Report on Form 10- K titled “ Risk Factors ”, including, but not limited to, the risk factor titled “ If our internal
information technology systems or sensitive information, or those of our third- party CROs or other contractors or consultants,
are or were compromised, we could experience adverse consequences from such compromise, including but not limited to, a
material disruption of our product candidates’ development programs, regulatory investigations or actions, litigation, fines and
penalties, reputational harm, loss of revenue or profits, and other adverse consequences. ” Governance Our board of directors
addresses our cybersecurity risk management as part of its general oversight function. The audit committee of the board of
directors is responsible for overseeing our cybersecurity risk management processes, including oversight and mitigation of risks
from cybersecurity threats. Our cybersecurity risk assessment and management processes are implemented and maintained by
certain of our personnel, including our Senior Director of [T Bireetor-, who has 20 years of experience in [T and cybersecurity
and is a member of the Information Systems Audit and Control Association (ISACA). Our Senior Director of [T Pireeter-is
responsible for hiring appropriate personnel, helping to integrate cybersecurity risk considerations into our overall risk
management strategy, and communicating key priorities to relevant personnel. Our €FOS-General Counsel is responsible for
approving budgets and, along with our Senior Director of | T Direetor-and-ourtegal-department-, helping prepare for
cybersecurity incidents, approving cybersecurity processes, and reviewing security assessments and other security- related
reports. Our cybersecurity incident response and vulnerability and patch management policies are designed to escalate certain
cybersecurity incidents to members of management depending on the circumstances, including our CEO -€F6-and General
Counsel. Such management members work with our incident response team to help us mitigate and remediate cybersecurity
incidents of which they are notified. In addition, our incident response policy includes reporting to the audit committee of the
board of directors for certain cybersecurity incidents. The audit committee receives periodic reports from our Senior Director of
IT Bireetor-concerning eursignificant cybersecurity threats and-, related riskerisks and the processes we have implemented to
address them. The audit committee also has access to various reports, summaries er-and presentations related to cybersecurity
threats, riskrisks and mitigation. Item 2. Properties. Item 3. Legal Proceedings . From time to time, we may become involved
in legal proceedings or be subject to claims arising in the ordinary course of our business. We are not currently a party to
any material legal proceedings. Regardless of outcome, such proceedings or claims can have an adverse impact on us
because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of resources and other factors, and there can be no assurances that
favorable outcomes will be obtained . [tem 4. Mine Safety Disclosures. PART II Item 5. Market for Registrant’ s Common
Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities. Market Information Our common stock has
been publicly traded on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “ JANX  since our initial public offering on June 11,
2021. Prior to that date, there was no public market for our common stock. Holders of Common Stock As of February 29-2§ ,
2024-2025 | there were 46;2625-759- 59, 105, 147 shares of common stock issued and held by approximately 24-16
stockholders of record. The actual number of stockholders is greater than this number of record holders and includes
stockholders who are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees. Securities
Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans Information about securities authorized for issuance under our
equity compensation plans is incorporated herein by reference to Item 12 of Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10- K.
Dividend Policy We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all
available funds and any future earnings to support our operations and finance the growth and development of our business. We
do not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. Any future determination related to our
dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon, among other factors, our results of
operations, financial condition, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, business prospects and other factors our board of



directors may deem relevant. Stock Performance Graph Netapplieable-te-The following stock performance graph illustrates
a smaHerreporting-eompatny-comparison from June 11, 2021 (the date our common stock commenced trading on the
Nasdaq Global Market) through December 31, 2024, of the total cumulative stockholder return on our common stock,
the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Nasdaq Biotechnology Index. The figures represented below assume an investment
of $ 100 in our common stock at the closing price of $ 25. 15 on June 11, 2021 and in the Nasdaq Composite Index and
the Nasdaq Biotechnology Index on June 11, 2021, and that all dividends were reinvested, although dividends have not
been declared on our common stock. The comparisons in the graph are required by the SEC and are not intended to
forecast or be indicative of possible future performance of our common stock . Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None. Use of Proceeds On June 10, 2021, the SEC declared effective our registration statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333-
256297), as amended, filed in connection with our initial public offering (IPO). At the closing of the offering on June 15, 2021,
we issued and sold 13, 110, 000 shares of our common stock at the initial public offering price to the public of $ 17. 00 per
share, which included the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares. We received gross proceeds
from the TPO of $ 222. 9 million, before deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of approximately $ 15. 6 million
and offering costs of approximately $ 3. 1 million. BofA Securities, Inc., Cowen and Company, LLC and Evercore Group L. L.
C. acted as joint book- running managers for the offering. H. C. Wainwright & Co., LLC acted as lead manager for the offering.
No offering expenses were paid or are payable, directly or indirectly, to our directors or officers, to persons owning 10 % or
more of any class of our equity securities or to any of our affiliates. Upon receipt, the net proceeds from our IPO were held in
cash and cash equivalents, primarily in money market funds invested in U. S. government agency securities. As of December 31,
2623-2024 , we have netused any-$ 18. 5 million of the proceeds from our IPO and there has been no material change in the
planned use of such proceeds from that described in the final prospectus filed by us with the SEC on June 11, 2021. Pursuant to
our investment policy we have invested the balance of these funds in high- quality marketable security types with contractual
maturity dates of up to three years until needed to fund our operations. Item 6. [ Reserved ] Item 7. Management’ s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. You should read the following discussion and analysis together
with our financial statements and related notes included in *“ Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ” in this
Annual Report on Form 10- K. The following discussion contains forward- looking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties. For a complete discussion of forward- looking statements, see the section above entitled “ Special Note Regarding
Forward Looking Statements. ”” Our actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied in any forward-
looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under the caption ““ Item 1A. Risk Factors. ”
Additionally, our discussion and analysis below are focused on our financial results and liquidity and capital resources
for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, including year- over- year comparisons of our financial performance
and condition for these years. Discussion and analysis of the year ended December 31, 2022 specifically, as well as the
year- over- year comparison of our financial performance and condition for the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2022, are located in the section titled “ Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations ” included in the Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the SEC
on March 8, 2024. Overview We are an innovative clinical- stage biopharmaceutical company developing tumor- activated
immunotherapies for cancer. Our proprietary technology has enabled the development of two distinct bispecific platforms:
Tumor Activated T Cell Engagers ( TRACTr ) and Tumor Activated Immunomodulators ( TRACIr) . The TRACTr
platform produces T cell engagers ( TCEs ) with a tumor antigen- binding domain and a CD3 T cell binding domain, while the
TRACTr platform produces bispecifics with a tumor antigen- binding domain and a costimulatory CD28 binding domain. The
goal of both platforms is to provide cancer patients with safe and effective therapeutics that direct and guide their immune
system to eradicate tumors while minimizing safety concerns. Our initial focus is on developing a novel class of TRACTr
therapeutics designed to target clinically validated TCE drug targets, but overcome liabilities associated with prior generations of
TCEs. While TCE therapeutics have displayed potent anti- tumor activity in hematological cancers, developing TCEs to treat
solid tumors has faced challenges due to the limitations of prior TCE technologies, namely (i) on- target healthy tissue immune
activation that contributes to cytokine release syndrome ( CRS) and healthy tissue toxicity and (ii) poor pharmacokinetics (
PK ) leading to short half- life. Our first clinical candidate, JANXO007, is a prostate- specific membrane antigen or PSMA-
TRACTr and is being investigated in a Phase 1 clinical trial in adult subjects with metastatic castration- resistant prostate
cancer (mCRPC) . In Febraary-December 2024 we announced updated interim clinical data for JANX007 which displayed
meaningful and prolonged PSA drops, and-encouraging anti- tumor activity, a favorable safety profile -ew-including CRS
and treatment - related adverse events (TRAEs) primarily limited to Cycle 1 and lower grade-grades €RS-, and PK ;
consistent with the TRACTr mechanism- of- action. Our second clinical candidate, JANX008, is an epidermal growth factor
receptor or EGFR- TRACTT and is being studied in a Phase 1 clinical trial for the treatment of multiple solid cancers including
colorectal eaneer-carcinoma , squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck, non- small cell lung cancer, and-renal cell
carcinoma , small cell lung cancer, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma and triple- negative breast cancer . The first patient
for this trial was dosed in April 2023 and in February 2024 we announced positive early data for JANXO00S that displayed anti-
tumor activity in multiple tumor types with low- grade CRS and predominantly low- grade TRAEs. We are also generating a
number of unnamed TRACTr and TRACIr programs for potential future development, some of which are at development
candidate stage or later. We are currently assessing priorities in our preclinical pipeline. We were incorporated in June 2017. To
date, we have devoted substantially all of our resources to organizing and staffing our company, business planning, business
development, raising capital, developing and optimizing our technology platform, identifying potential product candidates,
undertaking research and development for our lead programs, establishing and enhancing our intellectual property portfolio and
providing general and administrative support for these operations. All of our product candidates and research programs other
than JANX007 and JANXO0S are in preclinical development, and none have been approved for commercial sale. We have never



generated any revenue from product sales and have incurred net losses each year since we commenced operations. We have
funded our operations primarily with the net proceeds from the issuance of convertible promissory notes, the issuance of
convertible preferred stock, the exercise of common stock options, proceeds from our initial public offering (IPO), the issuance
of common stock and pre- funded common stock warrants in public and / or underwritten offerings and amounts received under
a collaboration agreement with Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. (Merck). We have incurred operating losses since our inception
and have not yet generated any product revenue. Our net losses were $ 69. 0 million and $ 58. 3 mithen-and-$-63—million for
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, respectively. As of December 31, 2823-2024 , we had an accumulated
deficit of $ +68-237 . 8 million. Our net losses may fluctuate significantly from quarter- to- quarter and year- to- year,
depending on a variety of factors including the timing and scope of our clinical and preclinical studies and our expenditures on
other research and development activities and the timing of any revenue recognition under our collaboration agreement with
Merck. We expect our expenses and operating losses will increase substantially and that we will continue to incur significant
losses for the foreseeable future as we conduct our ongoing and planned research and development activities and conduct
preclinical studies and clinical trials, hire additional personnel, protect our intellectual property and incur additional costs
associated with being a public company. We do not expect to generate any revenues from product sales unless and until we
successfully complete development and obtain regulatory approval for one or more product candidates, which will not be for
many years, if ever. Accordingly, until such time as we can generate significant revenue from sales of our product candidates, if
ever, we expect to finance our cash needs through equity offerings, debt financings or other capital sources, including
potentially grants, collaborations, licenses or other similar arrangements. However, we may be unable to raise additional funds
or enter into such other arrangements when needed on favorable terms or at all. Our failure to raise capital or enter into such
other arrangements when needed would have a negative impact on our financial condition and could force us to delay, limit,
reduce or terminate our product development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market product
candidates or to our platform technologies that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves. Based on our current
operating plan, we believe that our existing cash and-, cash equivalents and short- term investments, will be sufficient to meet
our anticipated operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements through at least the next 12 months, following the date
of this Annual Report. Our Research Collaboration with Merck In December 2020, we entered into a research collaboration and
exclusive license agreement with Merck to develop TRACTT product candidates that are distinct from those in our internally
developed pipeline (the Merck Agreement). Merck has the right to select up to two collaboration targets (each a Collaboration
Target) related to next generation T cell engager immunotherapies for the treatment of cancer. Merck selected the first
Collaboration Target upon execution of the agreement and selected the second Collaboration Target in May 2022. Merck
received an exclusive worldwide license for each selected target and intellectual property from the collaboration. In return, we
are eligible to receive up to $ 500. 5 million per target in upfront and milestone payments, plus royalties on sales of the products
derived from the collaboration. Merck prevides-provided research funding under the collaboration through August 2024, after
which our research services for both collaboration targets were completed . Risks and Uncertainties Global economic and
business activities continue to face widespread macroeconomic uncertainties, including those associated with €OVD-—19-ane
ether-public health crises, bank failures, inflation and monetary supply shifts, recession risks and potential disruptions from the
Russia- Ukraine conflict, the war in the Middle East and related sanctions. For example, in 2023, the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation took control and was appointed receiver of certain financial institutions. If other banks and financial institutions
enter receivership or become insolvent in the future in response to financial conditions affecting the banking system and
financial markets, our ability to access our existing cash, cash equivalents and investments may be threatened and could have a
material adverse effect on our business and financial condition. Inflation generally affects us by increasing our salaries and fees
paid to third- party contract service providers. We have considered potential impacts arising from the risks and uncertainties as
described above and have not experienced any material disruption to our operations to date. Support Services Agreement with
Avalon BioVentures, Inc. (formerly COI Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) In January 2021, we entered into a Support Services Agreement
(the 2021 Support Services Agreement) with Avalon BioVentures, Inc. (Avalon) that outlines the terms of services provided by
Avalon to us the-Cempaty-, as well as the fees charged for such services. Avalon is a shared service company that provides
certain back- office and administrative and research and development support services, including facilities support, to the
portfolio companies of Avalon Ventures, an entity that beneficially ewns-owned greater than 5 % of our outstanding capital
stock until November 2024 . The amounts paid to Avalon include support service fees or mark- ups of up to 5 %. The 2021
Support Serv1ces Agreement termmated on December 31 was—mest—feeenﬂy—fenewed—m—}&nﬂafy—2024 a-nd—wrl-l—eent—rnue—te

-Seﬁ‘teesﬂ%gfeemeﬂt—w-tt-h%-days—wmte&ﬂeﬁee- Financial Operatlons OverV1ew Revenues To date, we have not generated any

revenues from the commercial sale of any products, and we do not expect to generate revenues from the commercial sale of any
products for the foreseeable future, if ever. We recognized $ 8-10 . -6 million and $ 8. 6-1 million of revenue under the Merck
Agreement for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, respectively. Research and Development To date, our
research and development expenses have related primarily to direct and indirect expenses in connection with the development of
our TRACTr and TRACIr platforms, discovery efforts and preclinical and clinical development of our product candidates.
Research and development expenses are recognized as incurred and payments made prior to the receipt of goods or services to
be used in research and development are capitalized until the goods or services are received. Our direct research and
development expenses include: ¢ external research and development expenses incurred under agreements with CROs and
consultants to conduct our preclinical and clinical studies; ¢ license fees; and ¢ laboratory equipment, materials and supplies. Our
indirect research and development expenses include:  salaries and employee- related costs, including recruiting fees and stock-
based compensation for those individuals involved in research and development efforts; * maintenance of facilities and
equipment, software license fees, depreciation; and ¢ allocated facilities and equipment- related expenses, which include rent,




utilities, insurance, and office supplies —€e

Avaleﬁ—ptrrsuﬁnt—te-the%GH—Suppeﬁ—Sefﬁeesﬁgfeefﬂeﬂt— We antrcrpate that our research and development expenses will
substantially increase for the foreseeable future as we continue the development of our TRACTr and TRACIr platforms and the
discovery and development of product candidates under our TRACTr and TRACIr platforms. We cannot determine with
certainty the timing of initiation, the duration or the completion costs of clinical trials and preclinical studies of product
candidates due to the inherently unpredictable nature of preclinical and clinical development. Preclinical and clinical
development timelines, the probability of success and development costs can differ materially from expectations. We anticipate
that we will make determinations as to which product candidates and development programs to pursue and how much funding to
direct to each product candidate or program on an ongoing basis in response to the results of ongoing and future preclinical
studies and clinical trials, regulatory developments and our ongoing assessments as to each product candidate’ s commercial
potential. We will need to raise substantial additional capital in the future. In addition, we cannot forecast which product
candidates may be subject to future collaborations, when such arrangements will be secured, if at all, and to what degree such
arrangements would affect our development plans and capital requirements. General and Administrative General and
administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and employee- related costs, including stock- based compensation, for
personnel in executive, finance and other administrative functions. Other significant general and administrative expenses include
facility- related costs, which include direct depreciation costs and allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities; legal
fees relating to intellectual property and Corporate matters; profesmonal fees for accountlng, tax and Congultrng services;
insurance costs; and other operatrng COStS = 0 Ristea expenses1h : S

We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses erl increase for the foreseeable future as we continue to increase our
general and administrative headcount to support our continued research and development activities and, if any of our product
candidates receive marketing approval, commercialization activities. We also anticipate increased expenses associated with
operating as a public company, including expenses related to audit, legal, regulatory, and tax- related services associated with
maintaining compliance with exchange listing and SEC requirements, director and officer insurance premiums and investor
relations costs. Other Income Other income consists of interest income on our cash and cash equivalents and short- term
investments. Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-(in thousands) Year Ended December 31,
Change Gatheusands)y-Collaboration revenue $ 10, 588 $ 8, 083 $ 82 , 505 642-$(5293-Operating expenses: Research and
development 68, 388 54, 922 53-13 , 466 44++,48+-CGeneral and administrative 41, 047 26, 140 22-14 , 907 2623878 Total
operating expenses 109, 435 81, 062 #5-28 , 373 703-5;359-1.oss from operations ( 98, 847) (72, 979) ( 6725 , 868 895888
) Other income 29, 853 14, 686 4-15 , 167 93230;-654-Net loss $ (68, 994) $§ (58, 293) § (63-10 , 659-701 ) $-4;766
Collaboration Revenue Collaboration revenues were $ 8-10 . +-6 million and $ 8. 6-1 million for the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023 and2022-, respectively. The deerease-increase of $6-2 . 5 million was primarily due to the achievement of a
developmental milestone related to the First Collaboration Target under the Merck Agreement in June 2024 offset by a
decrease in full- time equivalent hours incurred in the performance of research services required under the Merck Agreement.
Research and Development Expense The following table summarizes our direct and indirect research and development expenses
for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-(in thousands) : Year Ended December 31, Change inrthousandsy
Direct costs: JANX007 $ 15,655 $ 7, 895 $ 7, 760 JANXO008 6, 541 5. 462-$2-433FANXKO085:-401 71 , 140 6292,228)
Preclinical stage programs and other direct unallocated costs 13, 223 13, 950 48;233~( 727 4;283-) Total direct costs 35, 419 27,
246 348 , 173 324-4;-678)-Indirect costs 32,969 27, 676 22 H7-5, 559-293 Total research and development expenses $ 68,
388 $ 54, 922 $53-13 , 466 441-$148F-IND applications for JANX007 and JANXO008 were cleared by the U. S. Food and
Drug Administration (FDA) in May 2022 and January 2023, respectively. As a result, we have separated direct costs for the
development of JANX007 and JANXO008 from preclinical stage programs and other direct unallocated costs for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622- We Wlll further %eparate drrect costs related to our other program% as future IND
applrcatlons are Cleared by the FDA. Fhese en

and $ 54 9 ﬂa-rl-l-teﬁ-aﬂd—$§-3—4-mllhon for the years ended Deeember 3l 2024 and 2023 and2022-, respectwely The increase
of $ 413 . 5 million was primarily due to increases in indireet-eosts-of $-5—-6-milienand-direct costs related to the development
of JANX007 of $ 27 . 4-8 million, d1rect costs related to the development of JANX008 of $1.1 mllllon and indirect costs

of $ 5. 3 million, offset by decreases in diree h . errand-preclinical
stage programs and other direct unallocated d-rreet—co%tq of $ 4-0 . 3-7 million . General and Admlnlstratlve Expense General
and administrative expenses were $ 41. 0 million and $ 26. 1 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively . The increase intndireeteests-of $ 14. 9 million was primarily due to increases in personnel-eosts-of-$2-8-mition;
faeilities-and-other-eosts-of $22-mithemrand-stock- based compensation expense-of $ 6-11 . 62 million , consulting and

professional fees of $ 2 . 2 million and other General-general aﬁdﬁdmtmstf&ﬁve—anaeﬁse-Geﬁefal—and administrative
expenses were-of $ 261 . 5 million and-. Other income was $ 22-29 . 3-9 million and $ 14. 7 million for the years ended

December 31, 2024 and 2023 aﬁd—ZGQQ— respectwely The increase 0f$ 3—15 S—mﬂ-heﬁ—ﬁas—pﬂmafﬂy-due-teﬂterease&ﬂ%ﬁeek-

34—2923—aﬁd—2922—respee&vely—?he—inefease-ef—$—}9—7—rnrlhon was due to an t-he—rmpaet—e-f—mereases—1ncreased cash and cash
equivalents balance ininterestrates-enrour-debtseenrities;resulting in increased interest income. Liquidity and Capital

Resources We have incurred net losses and negative cash flows from operations since our inception and anticipate we will
continue to incur net losses and negative cash flows for the foreseeable future. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , we had cash,
cash equivalents, restricted cash and short- term investments of $ 344-1 . 8-0 miies-billion . Inclusive in this amount is $ 0. 8



million of restricted cash that is not available for current use —In-Angust2022;-we-filed-ashelf registration-statement-(FeNo-

ATM Equlty OfferrngSM Sale% Aoreement (New—Sale Aoreement) Wlth BofA Securltle% Inc (BofA) to sell shares of our
common stock, from time to time, through an “ at the market offering ” program having an aggregate offering price of up to $
150. 0 million through which BofA would act as sales agent. In February 2024, we delivered written notice to BofA that we
were suspending and terminating the prospectus related to the shares of our common stock issuable pursuant to the
terms of the Sale Agreement. In May 2024, we filed a shelf registration statement on Form S- 3ASR which included a
new prospectus which covers the offering, issuance and sale of up to a maximum aggregate offering price of $ 150. 0
million of our common stock under the Sale Agreement. As of December 31 2—92—3—2024 $ 150 0 mrlhon of common stock
remained avarlable for qale under the New-Sale Agreement —In v v v : e

ClO@ed an underwrrtten offerlng of 4, 153 717 ihare@ of our common Stoek and pre- funded warrants to purcha%e 583, 483 qhare%
of common stock at an exercise price 0f$ 0. 001 per share. The shares of common stock were sold at a price of $ 12. 46 per
share and the pre- funded common stock warrants were sold at a price of $ 12. 459 per pre- funded common stock warrant,
resulting in gross proceeds of $ 59. 0 million. Fees related to the offering included underwriting discounts, commissions, and
offering expenses in the aggregate amount of $ 2. 5 million, resulting in net proceeds of $ 56. 5 million. In March 2024, we
closed an underwritten offering of 5, 397, 301 shares of our common stock and pre- funded warrants to purchase 1, 935, 483
shares of common stock at an exercise price of $ 0. 001 per share . The shares of common stock were sold at a price of § 46.
50 per share and the pre- funded common stock warrants were sold at a price of $ 46. 499 per pre- funded common stock
warrant, resulting in gross proceeds of $ 341. 0 million. Fees related to the offering included underwriting discounts,
commissions, and estimated-offering expenses in the aggregate amount of $ 20. -9 million, resulting in estimatednet proceeds
of § 320. 2-sueh-offering-. IrDeeember-9.Subsequent EventsIn March 2024, sve-the Company closed an underwritten
offering of -5 , +56-397 , #93-301 shares of eur-its common stock and pre- funded warrants to purchase 238-1 , 695-935,483
shares of common stock at—&n—e*ererse—prree—e%—@-@@-l—per—sh&re— The shares of common stock were sold at a price of $ 6346 .
86-50 per share and the pre- funded common stock warrants were sold at a price of $ 62-46 . 399-499 per pre- funded common
stock warrant,resulting in gross proceeds of $ 482-341 . 5-0 million.Fees related to the offering included underwriting
discounts,commissions,and estimated offering expenses in the aggregate amount of § 24-20 . 6-8 million,resulting in estimated
net proceeds of $ 320.2 million million. The following summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated (in thousands) :
Year Ended December 3 1, Gatheusands)y-Net cash provided by (used in): Operating activities § (50-43 , 575-814 ) $ ( 42-50 ,
022575 ) Investing activities ( 258, 021) (41, 194) 58&266-Financing activities 713, 235 59, 548 Net increase (decrease) in
cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 411, 400 $ (32, 221) $15;844-Operating Activities Net cash used in operating
activities of § $68-43 . 6-8 million for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 was primarily due to our net loss of $ 58-69 . 3-0
million and a change in operating assets and liabilities and other non- cash charges of $ 42-7 . 3-8 million, adjusted for $ 268-33 .
0 million of stock- based compensation expense. Net cash used in operating activities of $ 42-50 . 9-6 million for the year ended
December 31, 20222023 was primarily due to our net loss of $ 63-58 . +3 million and a change in operating assets and
liabilities and other non- cash charges of $ 12 3 mrlhon adju%ted for $ -1—7—20 20 mrlhon of Stoek based compensation
expense and-a-deerease-n 5 o h-eharg H /- [nvesting Activities Net

cash used in investing acthltreS 0f$ 4-1—258 2—0 million for the year ended December 31 2024 was primarily due to $ 257. 7
million of net purchases of short- term investments and by our purchase of property and equipment, primarily

consisting of laboratory equipment of $ 0. 3 million. Net cash used in investing activities of $ 41. 2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023 was primarily due to $ 39. 3 million of net purchases of short- term investments and by our purchase

of property and equlpment prrmarlly Congmlng of laboratory equrpment of $ 1 9 ﬂﬁ-rl-l-teﬁ—Net—eash—preﬁded-by—mves&ﬁg

million. Flnancrng Activities Net cash pr0V1ded by ﬁnanerng activities 0f$ 59—713 52 mllhon for the year ended December 31
2623-2024 was primarily due to proceeds from the issuance of common stock and pre- funded common stock warrants, net of
issuance costs, of $ 56-698 . 5-3 million, and exercises of common stock options and from shares issued under our 2021
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) of § 3-14 . 89 million. Net cash provided by financing activities of $ 8-59 . 5 million for
the year ended December 31, 20222023 was primarily due to proceeds from the issuance of common stock and pre- funded
common stock warrants, net of issuance costs, of $ 56. 5 million, and exercises of common stock options and from shares
issued under our ESPP of $ 3. 0 million . Funding Requirements Based on our current operating plan, we believe that our
existing cash ane, cash equivalents and short- term investments, will be sufficient to meet our anticipated operating expenses
and capital expenditure requirements through at least the next 12 months, following the date of this Annual Report. However,
our forecast of the period of time through which our financial resources will be adequate to support our operations is a forward-
looking statement that involves risks and uncertainties, and actual results could vary materially. We have based this estimate on



assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could deplete our capital resources sooner than we expect. Additionally, the
process of testing product candidates in clinical trials is costly, and the timing of progress and expenses in these trials is
uncertain. « the effeets-ofthe-disruptions-to-initiation, trial de51gn, progress, tlmlng, costs and Ve%a{-rlﬁy—m—t-he—efedtt—results of
drug discovery, preclinical studies and clinical trials of e e-from v
49-er-our product candidates, and in particular ether—- the epidemies-clinical trials for JANX007 and JANX008 and
Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues to support our cost structure, we expect to ﬁnance our
cash needs through a combination of equity offerings, debt financings or other capital sources, including potentially grants,
collaborations, licenses or other similar arrangements. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or
convertible debt securities, the ownership interest of our stockholders will be or could be diluted, and the terms of these
securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our common stockholders. Debt
financing and equity financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to
take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise funds
through collaborations, or other similar arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our
technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be
favorable to us and / or may reduce the value of our common stock. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or
debt financings when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future
commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market our product candidates even if we would otherwise prefer to
develop and market such product candidates ourselves. Contractual Obligations and Commitments In April 2021, we entered
into a cell line license agreement (Cell Line License Agreement) with WuXi Biologics (Hong Kong) Limited (WuXi Biologics).
According to the terms of the Cell Line License Agreement, if we do not engage WuXi Biologics or its affiliates to manufacture
the therapeutic products produced through the use of the cell line licensed by WuXi Biologics under the Cell Line License
Agreement (WuXi Biologics Licensed Products) for our commercial supplies, we are required to make royalty payments to
WuXi Biologics in an amount equal to a low single- digit percentage of specified portions of net sales of WuXi Biologics
Licensed Products manufactured by a third- party manufacturer. We have the right (but not the obligation) to buy out our
remaining royalty obligations with respect to each WuXi Biologics Licensed Product by paying WuXi Biologics a one- time
payment in an amount ranging from low single digit million dollars to a maximum of § 15. 0 million (Buyout Option). The
royalty obligations will remain in effect during the term of the Cell Line License Agreement so long as we have not exercised
the Buyout Option. See the section within Item 1 of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10- K titled" License Agreement with
WuXi Biologics (Hong Kong) Limited" for additional information. In October 2021, we entered into a noncancelable agreement
to lease office and laboratory space in San Diego, California (Torrey Plaza Lease) with aggregate payments of approximately $
38. 0 million over the 126- month term of the lease. The Torrey Plaza Lease commenced in July 2022. See Note 3 to our audited
financial statements appearing in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10- K for additional information. We enter into
contracts in the normal course of business with various third parties for preclinical and clinical research studies and testing,
manufacturing and other services and products for operating purposes. These contracts provide for termination upon notice.
Payments due upon cancellation consist only of payments for services provided or expenses incurred, including non- cancellable
obligations of our service providers, up to the date of cancellation. Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates Our management’
s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with U. S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and
expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in our financial statements. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our
estimates and judgments, including those related to estimates to complete the performance obligations and the estimated
transaction price for collaboration revenues, accruals for research and development expenses and estimates used in valuing our
equity awards for stock- based compensation expense. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and events,
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. While our significant accounting policies are
described in more detail in Note 1 to our financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report, we believe the
following accounting policies and estimates to be most critical to the preparation of our financial statements. We determined that
our collaboration with Merck is a contract with a customer. We recognize revenue in a manner that depicts the transfer of control
of a product or a service to a customer and reflects the amount of the consideration we are entitled to receive in exchange for
such product or service. To determine revenue recognition for our contracts with customers, we follow a five- step approach: (i)
identify the contract with a customer, (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract, (iii) determine the transaction
price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations, and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the customer
obtains control of the product or service. A customer is a party that has entered into a contract with us, where the purpose of the
contract is to obtain a product or a service that is an output of our ordinary activities in exchange for consideration. To be
considered a contract, (i) the contract must be approved (in writing, orally, or in accordance with other customary business
practices), (ii) each party’ s rights regarding the product or the service to be transferred can be identified, (iii) the payment terms
for the product or the service to be transferred can be identified, (iv) the contract must have commercial substance (that is, the
risk, timing or amount of future cash flows is expected to change as a result of the contract), and (v) it is probable that we will
collect substantially all of the consideration to which we are entitled to receive in exchange for the transfer of the product or the
service. A performance obligation is defined as a promise to transfer a product or a service to a customer. We identify each
promise to transfer a product or a service (or a bundle of products or services, or a series of products and services that are
substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer) that is distinct. A product or a service is distinct if both (i) the




customer can benefit from the product or the service either on its own or together with other resources that are readily available
to the customer and (ii) our promise to transfer the product or the service to the customer is separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract. Each distinct promise to transfer a product or a service is a unit of accounting for revenue recognition.
If a promise to transfer a product or a service is not separately identifiable from other promises in the contract, such promises
should be combined into a single performance obligation. When an entity grants a customer the option to acquire additional
goods or services, that option is a separate performance obligation only if it provides a material right to the customer that the
customer would not receive without entering into the contract. Under our existing collaboration agreement with Merck, due to
the early stage of the licensed technology, the license of such technology was combined with the additional promises associated
with each of the targets in the agreement as one combined performance obligation. Furthermore, as it relates to the option to
select an additional collaboration target, we determined that the option did not represent a material right. The option instead
represents a customer option to purchase additional goods or services and was therefore accounted for as a separate contract.
The transaction price is the amount of consideration we are entitled to receive in exchange for the transfer of control of a
product or a service to a customer. To determine the transaction price, we consider the existence of any significant financing
component, the effects of any variable elements, noncash considerations and consideration payable to the customer. If a
significant financing component exists, the transaction price is adjusted for the time value of money. If an element of variability
exists, we must estimate the consideration we expect to receive and use that amount as the basis for recognizing revenue as the
product or the service is transferred to the customer. There are two methods for determining the amount of variable
consideration: (i) the expected value method, which is the sum of probability- weighted amounts in a range of possible
consideration amounts, and (ii) the mostly likely amount method, which identifies the single most likely amount in a range of
possible consideration amounts. With respect to variable consideration relating to development and regulatory milestone
payments, if it is probable that a significant revenue reversal would not occur, the associated payment value is included in the
transaction price. For development and regulatory milestones that are uncertain in nature and highly dependent on factors
outside of our control, the aggregate consideration is determined to be fully constrained and is not included in the transaction
price until the underlying events occur or the associated approvals are received. At the end of each reporting period, we re-
evaluate the probability of achievement of each milestone and any related constraint, and if necessary, adjust our estimate of the
overall transaction price. Any such adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch- up basis, which would affect the reported
amount of revenues in the period of adjustment. For arrangements that include sales- based royalties, including milestone
payments based on a level of sales, and the license is deemed to be the predominant item to which the royalties relate, we
recognize revenue at the later of (i) when the related sales occur or (ii) when the performance obligation to which some or all of
the royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied). If a contract has multiple performance obligations, we
allocate the transaction price to each distinct performance obligation in an amount that reflects the consideration we are entitled
to receive in exchange for satisfying each distinct performance obligation. For each distinct performance obligation, revenue is
recognized when (or as) we transfer control of the product or the service applicable to such performance obligation. To date, for
collaboration arrangements that represent a single performance obligation, the revenues are recognized over time based on
actual Full Time Equivalent employees (FTEs) utilized as a percentage of total FTEs expected to be utilized over the expected
term of the research services. We apply judgment in the total estimated FTEs anticipated over the contract. Estimates are based
on input from key research personnel and expectations of FTEs necessary to complete the planned activities within the scope of
the agreement and availability of internal FTEs to complete such activities. In those instances where we first receive
consideration in advance of satisfying its performance obligation, we classify such consideration as deferred revenue until (or
as) we satisfy such performance obligation. In those instances where we first satisfy our performance obligation prior to our
receipt of consideration, the consideration is recorded as accounts receivable. We expense incremental costs of obtaining a
contract as and when incurred if the expected amortization period of the asset that would be recognized is one year or less, or if
the amount of the asset is immaterial. Otherwise, such costs are capitalized and amortized to research and development expense
ratably in conjunction with the underlying revenue recognition. No incremental costs of obtaining a contract have been incurred
to date. Accrued Clinical Trial and Research and Development Expenses As part of the process of preparing our financial
statements, we are required to estimate our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date. This process involves reviewing
open contracts and purchase orders, communicating with our personnel to identify services that have been performed on our
behalf and estimating the level of service performed and the associated cost incurred for the service when we have not yet been
invoiced or otherwise notified of the actual cost. We make estimates of our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date based
on facts and circumstances known to us at that time. We periodically confirm the accuracy of our estimates with the service
providers and make adjustments, if necessary. The significant estimates in our accrued clinical trial and research and
development expenses include the costs incurred for services performed by our vendors in connection with clinical trial and
research and development activities for which we have not yet been invoiced. We base our expenses related to clinical trial and
research and development activities on our estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to quotes and
contracts with vendors that conduct clinical trials and research and development on our behalf. The financial terms of these
agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. There may be
instances in which payments made to our vendors will exceed the level of services provided and result in a prepayment of the
clinical trial and research and development expense. In accruing service fees, we estimate the time period over which services
will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the
level of effort varies from our estimate, we adjust the accrual or prepaid expense accordingly. Advance payments for goods and
services that will be used in future clinical trial or research and development activities are expensed when the activity has been
performed or when the goods have been received rather than when the payment is made. Although we do not expect our
estimates to be materially different from amounts actually incurred, if our estimates of the status and timing of services



performed differ from the actual status and timing of services performed, it could result in us reporting amounts that are too high
or too low in any particular period. To date, there have been no material differences between our estimates of such expenses and
the amounts actually incurred. Stock- Based Compensation Expense Stock- based compensation expense represents the grant
date fair value of equity awards, consisting of stock options , restricted stock units and employee stock purchase plan rights,
recognized on a straight- line basis over the requisite service period for stock options and restricted stock units and over the
respective offering period for employee stock purchase plan rights. The grant date fair value of the equity awards is estimated
using the Black- Scholes option pricing model. The Black- Scholes option pricing model utilizes inputs which are highly
subjective assumptions and generally require significant judgment. See Note 54 to our financial statements included elsewhere
in this Annual Report for information concerning certain of the specific assumptions we used in applying the Black- Scholes
option pricing model to determine the estimated fair value of our stock option grants. Equity award forfeitures are recognized as
they occur. See Note 1 to our dlelted financial statements dppearnm in Part ll [tem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10- K for

%92—6—ltem TA. Qudl]tltdtl\ e and Quahtdme Dlsclosures About Market Rlsk Interest rate rlsk We hold certaln ﬁnanclal
instruments for which a change in prevailing interest rates may cause the principal amount of the marketable securities
to fluctuate. Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily
of cash, cash equivalents and short- term investments. We invest our excess cash primarily in U. S. Treasury securities,
U. S. agency bonds, corporate debt securities and commercial paper. The primary objectives of our investment activities
are to ensure liquidity and to preserve principal while at the same time maximizing the income we receive from our
marketable securities without significantly increasing risk. Additionally, we established guidelines regarding approved
investments and maturities of investments, which are designed to maintain safety and liquidity. We believe that should a
10. 0 % change in interest rates were to have occurred on December 31, 2024, this change would not have had a material
effect on the fair value of our investment portfolio as of that date. Any changes would only be realized if we sold the
investments prior to maturity. Foreign currency exchange risk We are not currently exposed to significant market risk
related to changes in foreign currency exchange rates; however, we do contract with vendors that are located outside of
the United States and may be subject to fluctuations in foreign currency rates. We may enter into additional contracts
with vendors located outside of the United States in the future, which may increase our foreign currency exchange risk.
We believe that should a 10. 0 % change in foreign currency exchange rates were to have occurred on December 31,
2024, this change would not have had a material effect on our financial statements. Inflation generally affects us by
increasing our cost of labor and preclinical and clinical development costs. We do not believe that inflation had a
material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations during the year ended December 31, 2024 .
[tem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. PageReport of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB
ID: 42) Balance Sheets Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss Statements of Stockholders’ Equity Statements of
Cash Flows Notes to Financial Statements REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM To
the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Janux Therapeutics, Inc. Opinion on the Financial Statements We have audited
the accompanying balance sheets of Janux Therapeutics, Inc. (the Compdny) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, the
related statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders =" equity and cash flows for each of the twe-three years
in the period ended December 31, 2023-2024 , and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “ financial statements ). In
our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December
1, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the #we-three years in the period
ended December 31 %92—3—2024 in Contomnty with U. S. g,enemlly dccepted dccountm;: prlllclples -Bas-ts—fe%@ptmeﬂ—T—hese

18- We afe—a—publ-re—&eeetmtmg—ﬁfm—fegtstefed-also have audlted in

accordance w 1th the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) , the Company'
s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework), and our report dated February 27, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. Basis for Opinion These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company' s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’ s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audits in
accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The-Company




ﬂe—stleh—ep—rmeﬂ—Our audits 1ncluded perfonnm;: procedures to assess the risks of materlal mlsstdtement of the flmncml
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion . Critical Audit
Matter The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to
accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion
on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter
below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the account or disclosure to which it relates.
Clinical Trial ExpensesDescription ofthe Matter The Company recorded research and development expenses of $ 68. 4
million for the year ended December 31, 2024, which includes clinical trial expenses. Clinical trial expenses are expensed
as incurred. As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company estimates expenses incurred for clinical
trials and services received and maintains a prepaid or accrual based on these estimates. The Company estimates
expenses based on the progress of the clinical trials and incorporates representations from service providers about study
and patient activities and expected expenses for those activities based on contracted fees with contract research
organizations. Auditing the Company’ s clinical trial expenses is complex as the information necessary to estimate the
costs incurred is accumulated from multiple sources. In addition, in certain circumstances, the determination of the
nature and level of services that have been received during the reporting period requires judgment because the timing
and pattern of vendor invoicing does not correspond to the level of services provided and there may be delays in
invoicing from contract research organizations. How WeAddressed theMatter in OurAudit To test the Company’ s
clinical trial expenses, we performed audit procedures that included, among other procedures, obtaining supporting
evidence of the activities performed for significant clinical trials and confirming expenses with the contract research
organizations. We corroborated the status of significant clinical trials through meetings with accounting and clinical
project managers. We compared the costs for a sample of expenses against the related invoices and contracts and
examined a sample of subsequent payments to evaluate the accuracy of the clinical trial expenses and recalculated the
ending prepaid or accrual for clinical trial expenses . / s / Ernst & Young LLP We have served as the Company”’ s auditor
since 202 1. Mareh-8;2024-(in thousands, except share and par value data) December 31, Assets Current assets: Cash and cash
equivalents $ 430, 605 $ 19, 205 $54-426-Short- term investments 594, 568 324, 823 295;-599-Prepaid expenses and other
current assets 8,493 5, 213 5;423-Total current assets 1, 033, 666 349, 241 3325439-Restricted cash Property and equipment,
net 4,864 7, 003 4-686-Operating lease right- of- use assets 19, 286 20, 838 22;279-Other long- term assets 2, 884 2, 509 +
390-Total assets $ 1, 061, 516 $ 380, 407 $364;-010-Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity Current liabilities: Accounts payable $
24, 424-026 $ 2, +59-424 Accrued expenses 11, 684 7, 387 &479-Current portion of deferred revenue — 1, 705 5;486-Current
portion of operating lease liabilities 1, 749 1, 517 Total current liabilities 17, 459 13, 033 -1-6—59—7’—Befeffed—feveﬂtte—ﬁet—e-f
eurrentportion—=2,224+-Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion 21, 276 23 025 24-542-Total liabilities 38, 735 36,
058 43;276-Commitments and contingencies (Note 3) Stockholders’ equity: Preferred stock, $ 0. 001 par value; authorized
shares — 10, 000, 000 at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, respectively; no shares issued and outstanding at December
31, 2024 and 2023 and2622-— — Common stock, $ 0. 001 par value; authorized shares — 200, 000, 000 at December 31, 2024
and 2023 and20622- respectively; issued shares — 59, 064, 606 and 46, 262, 759 and4;684:-666-at December 31, 2024 and
2023 and2022-, respectively; outstanding shares — 59, 064, 606 and 46, 252, 440 and4+-6146;260-at December 31, 2024 and
2023 and2022-, respectively Additional paid- in capital 1, 258, 316 512, 401 432-703-Accumulated other comprehensive
income 2 fess+, 163 535>-Accumulated deficit (468237 , #63-757 ) (HH-168 . 476-763 ) Total stockholders” equity 1, 022,
781 344, 349 326, 740-Total liabilities and stockholders” equity $ 1, 061, 516 $ 380, 407 $364;:046-Sce accompanying notes.
(in thousands, except share and per share data) Year EndedDecember 31, Collaboration revenue $ 10, 588 $ 8, 083 $ 8, 612
Operating expenses: Research and development 68, 388 54, 922 53, 441 General and administrative 41, 047 26, 140 22, 262
Total operating expenses 109, 435 81, 062 75, 703 Loss from operations (98, 847) (72, 979) (67, 091) Other income: Interest
income 29, 853 14, 686 4, 032 Total other income 29, 853 14, 686 4, 032 Net loss $ (68, 994) $ (58, 293) $ (63, 059) Other
comprehensive gain (loss): Unrealized gain (loss) on available- for- sale securities, net 1, 498 2, 200 (1, 265) Comprehensive
loss $ (67,496) $ (56, 093) $ (64, 324) Net loss per common share, basic and diluted $ (1. 28) $ (1. 32) $ (1. 52) Weighted-
average shares of common stock outstanding, basic and diluted 53, 751, 480 44, 016, 283 41, 469, 631 (in thousands, except
share data) Common Stock AdditionalPaid- in AccumulatedOtherComprehensive Accumulated TotalStockholders’ Shares
Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Equity Balance at December 31, 2021 41, 243, 137 $ $ 413,967 $ (270) $ (47, 411) 366,
327 Exercise of common stock options 7, 405 — — — Shares issued under employee stock purchase plan 54,299 — — —
Vesting of restricted shares 311, 419 1, 033 — — 1, 034 Stock- based compensation — — 17, 203 — — 17, 203 Unrealized
loss on available- for- sale securities, net — — — (1, 265) — (1, 265) Net loss — — — — (63, 059) (63, 059) Balance at
December 31, 2022 41, 616,260 $ $ 432,703 $ (1, 535) $ (110, 470) $ 320, 740 Issuance of common stock and pre- funded
common stock warrants, net of' $ 2, 495 of issuance costs 4, 153, 717 56, 526 — — 56, 530 Exercise of pre- funded common
stock warrants 80, 257 — — — — — Exercise of common stock options 253, 545 — 2, 246 — — 2, 246 Shares issued under
employee stock purchase plan 90, 574 — — — Vesting of restricted shares 58, 087 — — — Stock- based compensation — —



20, 005 — — 20, 005 Unrealized gain on available- for- sale securities, net — — — 2, 200 — 2, 200 Net loss — — — — (58,
293) (58, 293) Balance at December 31, 2023 46, 252, 440 $ $ 512,401 $ $ (168, 763) $ 344, 349 Issuance of common stock
and pre- funded common stock warrants, net of $ 45, 554 of issuance costs 11, 548, 094 697, 908 — — 697, 920 Exercise
of common stock options 1, 152, 192 14, 175 — — 14, 176 Issuance of common stock upon vesting of restricted stock
units 2,500 — — — — — Shares issued under employee stock purchase plan 99, 061 — — — Vesting of restricted
shares 10, 319 — — — Stock- based compensation — — 33, 020 — — 33, 020 Unrealized gain on available- for- sale
securities, net — — — 1,498 — 1, 498 Net loss — — — — (68, 994) (68, 994) Balance at December 31, 2024 59, 064, 606
$$1,258,316 $ 2,163 $ (237, 757) $ 1, 022, 781 Yecar EndedDecember 31, Cash flows from operating activities Net loss $ (
68,994) $ (58,293) $ (63, 059) Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities: Depreciation 2, 060 1,
955 Stock- based compensation 33, 020 20, 005 17, 203 Accretion of discounts on investments, net (10, 585) (7, 688) (2, 183)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Prepaid expenses and other current assets (3, 280) (3, 369) Other long- term assets (
375) (1, 119) (1, 270) Accounts payable 1, 584 (294) Accrued expenses 4, 426 (678) 4, 156 Deferred revenue (1, 705) (5, 922)
1, 764 Operating lease right- of- use assets and liabilities, net 3, 289 Net cash used in operating activities (43, 814) (50, 575) (42,
922) Cash flows from investing activities Purchases of property and equipment ( 359) ( 1, 850) (6, 445) Purchases of short- term
investments ( 470, 577) (317, 344) (294, 389) Maturities of short- term investments 212, 915 278, 000 359, 100 Net cash
provided by (used in) investing activities (258, 021) (41, 194) 58, 266 Cash flows from financing activities Proceeds from
exercise of common stock options and employee stock purchase plan 14, 968 3, 018 Proceeds from the issuance of common
stock and pre- funded common stock warrants, net of issuance costs 698, 267 56, 530 — Net cash provided by financing
activities 713, 235 59, 548 Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 411, 400 (32, 221) 15, 844 Cash,
cash equivalents and restricted cash — beginning of year 20, 021 52, 242 36, 398 Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash — end
of period $ 431, 421 $ 20, 021 $ 52, 242 Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities Unpaid property
and equipment $ $ $ Unpaid issuance costs $ $ — $ — Vesting of restricted common stock $ $ $ 1, 034 Unrealized gain (loss)
on available- for- sale securities, net $ 1,498 $ 2, 200 §$ (1, 265) Operating lease liabilities arising from right- of- use assets § —
§ —$ 23, 422 422 anwx—-- Janux Therapeutics, Inc. Notes to Financial Statements 1. Organization and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies OrganizationJanux Therapeutics, Inc. (the “ Company ’) was incorporated in the State of Delaware in June
2017 and is based in San Diego, California. The Company is a clinical- stage biopharmaceutical company developing a broad
pipeline of novel immunotherapies by applying its proprietary technology to its Tumor Activated T Cell Engager (“ TRACTr ™)
and Tumor Activated Immunomodulator (“ TRACIr ) platforms to better treat patients suffering from cancer. Liquidity and
Capital ResourcesFrom its inception through December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company has devoted substantially all its efforts to
organizing and staffing, business planning, raising capital and developing its TRACTr and TRACIr therapeutic platforms and
assets. The Company has incurred net losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception and had an accumulated
deficit of $ +68-237 . 8 million as of December 31, 2023-2024 . The Company has a limited operating history, has not generated
any product revenue, and the sales and income potential of its business is unproven. To date the Company has funded its
operations primarily with the net proceeds from the issuance of convertible promissory notes, the issuance of convertible
preferred stock, the issuance of common stock in its initial public offering (“ IPO ), the issuance of common stock and pre-
funded common stock warrants in ar-underwritten offering-offerings , the exercise of common stock options, and amounts
received under a collaboration agreement. The Company expects to incur substantial operating losses for the next several years
and will need to obtain additional financing in order to continue its research and development activities, initiate and complete
clinical trials and launch and commercialize any product candidates for which it receives regulatory approval. The Company
plans to continue to fund its losses from operations and capital funding needs through public or private equity or debt financings
or other sources. If the Company is not able to secure adequate additional funding, the Company may be forced to make
reductions in spending, extend payment terms with suppliers, liquidate assets where possible, or suspend or curtail planned
programs. Any of these actions could materially harm the Company” s business, results of operations and future prospects.
There can be no assurance that such fmancing will be available or will be at terms acceptable to the Company, especially in light
of COVHD-—9-and-etherpublic health crises, earrent-financial conditions within the banking industry, including the effects of
reeent-failures of financial institutions and hquldlty levels, as well as reeent-erantieipated-changes in interest rates and the
inflationary macro environment. The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will
continue as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course
of business, and do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of
assets or amounts and classification of liabilities that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Management is required to
perform an analysis over its ability to continue as a going concern. Management must first evaluate whether there are conditions
and events that raise substantial doubt about the Company’ s ability to continue as a going concern (step 1). If management
concludes that substantial doubt is ralsed management is also requ1red to cons1der Whether its plans alleviate that doubt (step 2)
Management believes s-assessmer prepa easts-restlting
the Company has sufficient capltal to fund its operatlons for at least 12 months from the lssuance date of -t-he—these ﬁnanc1a1
statements for-the-year-ended-Deeember3+-2023-are-issted-. Use of EstimatesThe Company’ s financial statements are
prepared in accordance with U. S. generally accepted accounting principles (" GAAP"). The preparation of the Company’ s
financial statements requires it to make estimates and assumptions that impact the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in the Company’ s financial statements and
accompanying notes. The most significant estimates in the Company’ s financial statements relate to estimates to complete the
performance obligations and the estimated transaction price for collaboration revenue, accruals for clinical trials and other
research and development expenses-arrangements , stock- based compensation and fair value measurements. These estimates
and assumptions are based on current facts, historical experience and various other factors believed to be reasonable under the




circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and
the recording of revenues and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. The Company continues to use the best
information available to update its accounting estimates. Actual results may differ materially and adversely from these
estimates. Fair Value MeasurementsThe accounting guidance defines fair value, establishes a consistent framework for
measuring fair value and expands disclosure for each major asset and liability category measured at fair value on either a
recurring or non- recurring basis. Fair value is defined as +30JantxTherapeuties; Ine—Notes-to-Finanetal-Statements-
{Centinwed)an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market- based measurement that should be determined
based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such
assumptions, the accounting guidance establishes a three- tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in
measuring fair value as follows: Janux Therapeutics, Inc. Notes to Financial Statements- (Continued) Level 1: Observable
inputs such as quoted prices in active markets. Level 2: Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets that are observable
either directly or indirectly. Level 3: Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting
entity to develop its own assumptions. The carrying amounts of the Company’ s financial instruments, including cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts payable, and accrued expenses,
approximate fair value due to the short- term nature of those instruments. The fair value of assets classified within Level 1 is
based on quoted prices in active markets as provided by the Company’ s investment managers. The fair value of short- term
investments classified within Level 2 is based on standard observable inputs, including reported trades, broker / dealer quotes,
and bids and / or offers. The Company validates the quoted market prices provided by its investment managers by comparing the
investment managers’ assessment of the fair values of the Company’ s investment portfolio balance against the fair values of the
Company’ s investment portfolio balance obtained from an independent source. The Company has no financial liabilities
recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. None of the Company”’ s non- financial assets or liabilities are recorded at fair value
on a non- recurring basis. No transfers between levels have occurred during the periods presented. The following tables
summarize the Company’ s financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands): Fair Value
Measurements at Reporting Date Using Total Quoted Prices inActive Markets forldentical Assets (Level 1) Significant
OtherObservable Inputs (Level 2) SignificantUnobservablelnputs (Level 3) As of December 31, 2823-2024 : Assets: Cash
equivalents: Money market funds $ +4-427 , 75+959 $ +4-427 , 754959 $§ — $ — Total cash equivalents +4-427 , 75+1+4-959
427 , 754959 — — Short- term investments: U. S. Treasury securities 795 , 360-7+474 95 , 366-474 — — U. S. agency
bonds +67300 , +63-845 — +67-300 , 845 +93—:°rssef-—baeked—seet&t&tesé—95§%—9% Corporate debt securities +161 ,
999997 — +161 , 999997 — Commercial paper #9;366— 36, 252 — 79366- 36, 252 — Total short- term investments 324
594 , 823-71-568 95 , 306-253-474 499 , 523-094 — Restricted cash: Money market account — — Total restricted cash — —
Total assets rneasured at fair Value ona recurring ba51s $ -349—1 -399—023 343 $ 86-524 , 867249 $ 253-499 , 523-094 $ —
----- A Rate ntintred-Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using
Total Quoted Prices mActive Markets forldentical Assets (Level 1) Significant OtherObservable Inputs (Level 2)
SignificantUnobservablelnputs (Level 3) As of December 31, 2822-2023 : Assets: Cash equivalents: Money market funds $ +2
14, 697751 $ +2-14 . 697751 $ — $ — Total cash equivalents 12-14 , 65742751 14 , 697751 — — Short- term investments:
S Treasury securities 63-71 , 6+6-63-300 71 , 64+6-300 — — U. S. agency bonds 67—167 0206-103 — 67167 ., 626-103 —
Asset- backed securities S U—S—ageney—d-iseetmt—netes—4— 334-055 — 45, 334-055 — Corporate debt securities 1, 976-999 —
1,976-999 — Commercial paper 439-79 , 256-366 — 439-79 ., 256-366 Total short- term investments 275-324 , 599—63—823
71 ,0+6-242-300 253 , 574523 — Restricted cash: Money rnarket account — — Total restricted cash — — Total assets
measured at fair value on a recurring basis $ 289-340 , +63-390 $ 76-86 , 529-867 $ 242253 | 574-523 § — Cash and Cash
EquivalentsThe Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include cash in readily available checking accounts and money
market funds. Restricted CashRestricted cash consists of a money market account securing a standby letter of credit issued in
connection with the Company”’ s Torrey Plaza operating lease (as defined and described in Note 3). The following table provides
a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the accompanying balance sheets that sum to the
amounts shown in the statements of cash flows (in thousands): December 31, Cash and cash equivalents $ 430, 605 $ 19, 205 $
54,426-Restricted cash Total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 431, 421 § 20, 021 $-52;242-Short- Term
InvestmentsShort- term investments consist of U. S. Treasury securities, U. S. agency bonds ;- H—S—ageney-diseountnotes;-asset
baeked-seeurities-, corporate debt securities and commercial paper, all of which are highly rated by Moody”’ s, S & P, and Fitch.
The Company has classified these investments as available- for- sale, as the sale of such investments may be required prior to
maturity to implement management strategies, and therefore has classified all investment securities as current assets. Those
investments with maturity dates of three months or less at the date of purchase are presented as cash equivalents in the
accompanying balance sheets. Short- term investments are carried at fair value with the unrealized gains and losses included in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as a component of stockholders’ equity until realized. Any premium or
discount arising at purchase is amortized or accreted to interest income as an adjustment to yield using the straight- line method
over the life of the instrument. The Company records an allowance for BQ:FaﬂtB(—’Pherapettﬁes—Iﬂe—Netes—te—Fﬁmeia-}
-Statemeﬂts—-(@eﬂt-mﬂeda—credit losses when unrealized losses are due to credit- related factors. Realized gains and losses are
calculated using the specific identification method and recorded as interest income. The following tables summarize short- term
investments (in thousands): As of December 31, 2024 Amortized Unrealized Estimated Cost Gains Losses Fair Value U. S.
Treasury securities $ 94,984 $ $ — $ 95, 474 U. S. agency bonds 299, 831 1, 209 (195) 300, 845 Corporate debt securities
161, 336 (35) 161, 997 Commercial paper 36, 254 (22) 36, 252 Total $ 592, 405 $ 2, 415 $ (252) $ 594, 568 As of December
31, 2023 Amortized Unrealized Estimated Cost Gains Losses Fair Value U. S. Treasury securities $ 71,072 $ $ (14) $ 71, 300




U. S. agency bonds 166, 699 (187) 167, 103 Asset- backed securities 5, 078 — (23) 5, 055 Corporate debt securities 1, 999 —
—1, 999 Commercml paper 79 310 — 79, 366 Total $ 324, 158 $ $ (224) $ 324 823 As—e-f—Beeeﬁ&ber—Z’HGQQ—Ameﬁﬁed

%W%WT& amortlzed cost and eqtlmated fair value
in the tables above exclude $ 5. 4 million and $ 2. 2 mitenand-$-6—Fmillion of accrued interest receivable as of December 31,
2024 and 2023 and2022-, respectively. Accrued interest receivable is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets in
the accompanying balance sheets. Contractual maturities of available- for- sale debt securities are as follows (in thousands): As
of December 31, 2024 Due in 1 Year or Less Due Between 1 and 3 Years U. S. Treasury securities $ 57, 858 $ 37, 616 U. S.
agency bonds 78, 135 222, 710 Corporate debt securities — 161, 997 Commercial paper 36, 252 — Total $ 172, 245 § 422,
323 As of December 31, 2023 Due in 1 Year or Less Due Between 1 and 3 Years U. S. Treasury securities $ 34, 426 $ 36, 874
U. S. agency bonds 89, 801 77, 302 Asset- backed securities 5, 055 — Corporate debt securities 1, 999 — Commercial paper
79,366 — Total $ 210, 647 $ 114, 176 As of December 31, 2022 Pue-in1-Y¥earorLess Due Betweentand 3 Years U-—S:

%asmwhseeufmeﬁéq—}@%é—éﬂ—U—S—ageﬁeybeﬁdﬁHe%ZOM 2—9— 14 -8-1-8—U—S—ageﬁey—dtseetmt—netes—4—3-34—

were in an aggregate gross unrealized losq position. The Company rehei on both qualitative and quantltatlve factors to
determine whether the unrealized loss for each available- for- sale debt security at any balance sheet date is due to a credit loss.
Qualitative factors may include a credit downgrade, severity of the decline in fair value below amortized cost and other adverse
conditions related specifically to the security, as well as the intent to sell the security, or whether the Company will *“ more
likely than not ” be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis. The Company considers the decline
in market value for the securities to be primarily attributable to current economic conditions and interest rate adjustments, rather
than credit- related factors and does not intend to sell any securities prior to maturity. No allowance for credit losses has been
recorded as of December 31, 2623-2024 or December 3 1, 2622-2023 . Fhe-There were no foHowing-tables-summarize-our
available- for- sale debt securities in af-a continuous unrealized loss position for whieh-12 months or longer at December 31,
2024. The following table summarizes our available- for- sale debt securities in an allowanee-foreredit-aggregate gross
unrealized tosses—- loss has-not-beenreeorded-position at December 31, 2023 ., aggregated by major security type and length
of time in a continuous unrealized loss position (in thousands): As of December 31, 2023 Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or
Longer Total Fair Value UnrealizedLosses Fair Value UnrealizedLosses Fair Value UnrealizedLosses U. S. Treasury securities
$5,892%(14)$—3$—9$5,892 % (14) U. S. agency bonds 63, 583 (169) 9, 970 (18) 73, 553 (187) Asset- backed securities 53,
055 (23) ——35,055 (23) Total $ 74, 530 $ (206) $ 9 970 $ (18) $ 84 500 $ (224) As—e-f—Beeember—?v-l,—292—2—I:ess—'Phaﬁ—l—2-

3965997 $47450-$571-$250,846-$ 574 -Concentrations of Credit RNkF inancial instruments that potentlally %ubj ect

the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents and short- term investments.
The Company invests its cash reserves in money market funds or available- for- sale debt securities in accordance with its
investment policy. The Company’ s investment policy includes guidelines on acceptable investment securities, limits interest-
bearing security investments to certain types of debt and money market instruments issued by the U. S. government and
institutions with investment grade credit ratings and places restrictions on maturities and concentration by asset class and issuer
in order to maintain appropriate diversification. In accordance with the Company’ s policies, the Company monitors exposure
with its counterparties. The Company also maintains deposits in federally insured financial institutions in excess of federally
insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such account and management believes that the Company is not
exposed to significant credit risk. The Company is also subject to credit risk from its accounts receivable. The Company
generally does not perform evaluations of customers’ financial condition and generally does not require collateral. For the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, all of the Company’ s revenue related to a single customer. Property and Equipment,
NetProperty and equipment net consists of laboratory equipment, furniture and fixtures and computer equipment and software.
Property and equipment is stated at cost and depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets (generally five years) using

the straight- line method. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred. +34JanuxTherapeuties;Ine—Notes
to-Finanetal-Statements—(Continted)-An impairment loss is recorded if and when events and circumstances indicate that assets
might be impaired and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the carrying amount
of those assets. Impairment losses The-Company-hasnetrccognized any—mapmﬂﬁeﬂt—}esses-through December 31, 2623-2024
were not material . Deferred RevenueWhen the Company is entitled to bill its customers and receive payment from its
customers in advance of its obligation to provide services or transfer goods to its customers, the Company includes the amounts
in deferred revenue on its balance sheets. For further discussion, refer to the Company’ s revenue recognition policy below.
LeasesThe Company determines if a contract contains a lease at the inception of the contract and evaluates each lease agreement
to determine whether the lease is an operating or finance lease. For leases where the Company is the lessee, right- of- use (*
ROU ) assets represent the Company’ s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent an
obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Liabilities from operating leases are included in current portion of
operating lease liabilities, and operating lease liabilities, net of current portion on the accompanying balance sheets. The
Company does not have any financing leases. Short- term leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the
balance sheet. The Company does not have material short- term lease costs. Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of
the lease payments not yet paid discounted using the discount rate for the lease established at the lease commencement date. To



determine the present value, the implicit rate is used when readily determinable. For those leases where the implicit rate is not
provided, the Company determines an incremental borrowing rate (“ IBR ™) based on the information available at the lease
commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The IBR is the rate of interest that a lessee would have
to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic
environment. ROU assets are measured as the present value of the lease payments and also include any prepaid lease payments
made and any other indirect costs incurred ;-and exclude any lease incentives received. Lease terms may include the impact of
options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. Lease expense
for operating leases is recognized on a straight- line basis over the lease term. The Company’ s operating leases are subject to
additional variable charges, including common area maintenance, property taxes, property insurance and other variable costs.
Given the variable nature of such costs, they are recognized as expense as incurred. The Company has elected the practical
expedient to account for the lease and non- lease components, such as common area maintenance charges, as a single lease
component for the Company' s facilities leases. The Company has elected to recognize lease incentives, such as tenant
improvement allowances, at the lease commencement date as a reduction to the ROU asset and lease liabilities balance until
paid to it by the lessor to the extent that the lease provides a specified fixed or maximum level of reimbursement and the
Company is reasonably certain to incur reimbursable costs at least equaling such amounts. Revenue Recognition The Company
recognizes revenue in a manner that depicts the transfer of control of a product or a service to a customer and reflects the amount
of the consideration the Company is entitled to receive in exchange for such product or service. In doing so, the Company
follows a five- step approach: (i) identify the contract with a customer, (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract,
(iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations, and (v) recognize revenue
when (or as) the customer obtains control of the product or service. The Company considers the terms of a contract and all
relevant facts and circumstances when applying the revenue recognition standard. A customer is a party that has entered into a
contract with the Company, where the purpose of the contract is to obtain a product or a service that is an output of the
Company’ s ordinary activities in exchange for consideration. To be considered a contract, (i) the contract must be approved (in
writing, orally, or in accordance with other customary business practices), (ii) each party’ s rights regarding the product or the
service to be transferred can be identified, (iii) the payment terms for the product or the service to be transferred can be
identified, (iv) the contract must have commercial substance (that is, the risk, timing or amount of future cash flows is expected
to change as a result of the contract), and (V) it is probable that the Company will collect substantially all of the consideration to
which it is entitled to receive in exchange for the transfer of the product or the service. A performance obligation is defined as a
promise to transfer a product or a service to a customer. The Company identifies each promise to transfer a product or a service
(or a bundle of products or services, or a series of products and services that are substantially the same and have the same pattern
of transfer) that is distinct. A product or a service is distinct if both (i) the customer can benefit from the product or the service
either on its own or together with other resources that are readily available to the customer and (ii) the B%aﬁw&?herapeu&es—
{ﬂe—Netes—te—Ftﬂaﬂeia{—S’é&temeﬂfs—GGeﬂﬂﬂued-)—Company s promise to transfer the product or the service to the customer is
separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. Each distinct promlse to transfer a product or a service is a unit of
accounting for revenue recognition. If a promise to transfer a product or a service is not separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract, such promises should be combined into a single performance obligation. The transaction price is the
amount of consideration the Company is entitled to receive in exchange for the transfer of control of a product or a service to a
customer. To determine the transaction price, the Company considers the existence of any significant financing component, the
effects of any variable elements, noncash considerations and consideration payable to the customer. If a significant financing
component exists, the transaction price is adjusted for the time value of money. If an element of variability exists, the Company
must estimate the consideration it expects to receive and uses that amount as the basis for recognizing revenue as the product or
the service is transferred to the customer. There are two methods for determining the amount of variable consideration: (i) the
expected value method, which is the sum of probability- weighted amounts in a range of possible consideration amounts, and
(ii) the mostly likely amount method, which identifies the single most likely amount in a range of possible consideration
amounts. With respect to variable consideration relating to development and regulatory milestone payments, if it is probable that
a significant revenue reversal would not occur, the associated payment value is included in the transaction price. For
development and regulatory milestones that are uncertain in nature and highly dependent on factors outside of our control, the
aggregate consideration is determined to be fully constrained and is not included in the transaction price until the underlying
events occur or the associated approvals are received. At the end of each reporting period, the Company re- evaluates the
probability of achievement of each milestone and any related constraint, and if necessary, adjust our estimate of the overall
transaction price. Any such adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch- up basis, which would affect the reported amount
of revenues in the period of adjustment. For arrangements that include sales- based royalties, including milestone payments
based on a level of sales, and the license is deemed to be the predominant item to which the royalties relate, the Company
recognizes revenue at the later of (i) when the related sales occur or (ii) when the performance obligation to which some or all
of the royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied). If a contract has multiple performance obligations, the
Company allocates the transaction price to each distinct performance obligation in an amount that reflects the consideration the
Company is entitled to receive in exchange for satisfying each distinct performance obligation. For each distinct performance
obligation, revenue is recognized when (or as) the Company transfers control of the product or the service applicable to such
performance obligation. In those instances where the Company first receives consideration in advance of satisfying its
performance obligation, the Company classifies such consideration as deferred revenue until (or as) the Company satisfies such
performance obligation. In those instances where the Company first satisfies its performance obligation prior to its receipt of
consideration, the consideration is recorded as accounts receivable. The Company expenses incremental costs of obtaining and
fulfilling a contract as and when incurred if the expected amortization period of the asset that would be recognized is one year or



less, or if the amount of the asset is immaterial. Otherwise, such costs are capitalized as contract assets if they are incremental to
the contract and amortized to expense proportionate to revenue recognition of the underlying contract. Research and
Development ExpensesAll research and development costs are expensed in the period incurred. Payments for these activities are
based on the terms of the individual agreements, which may differ from the pattern of costs incurred, and payments made in
advance of performance are reflected in the accompanying balance sheets as prepaid expenses. The Company records accruals
for estimated costs incurred for ongoing research and development activities. When evaluating the adequacy of the accrued
expenses, the Company analyzes progress of the services, including the phase or completion of events, invoices received and
contracted costs. Significant judgments and estimates may be made in determining the prepaid or accrued balances at the end of
any reporting period. Actual results could differ from the Company’ s estimates. Clinical Trial ExpensesThe Company
makes payments in connection with its clinical trials under contracts with contract research organizations that support
conducting and managing clinical trials. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation and vary
from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. Generally, these agreements set forth the scope of
work to be performed at a fixed fee, unit price or on a time and materials basis. A portion of the Company’ s obligation
to make payments under these contracts depends on factors such as the successful enrollment or treatment of patients or
the completion of other clinical trial milestones. Expenses related to clinical trials are accrued based on the progress of
the clinical trials. The Company incorporates in the expenses representations from service providers regarding work
performed, including actual level of patient enrollment, completion of patient studies and progress of the clinical trials.
Other incidental costs related to patient enrollment or treatment are accrued when reasonably certain. If the amounts
the Company is obligated to pay under clinical trial agreements are modified (for instance, as a result of changes in the
clinical trial protocol or scope of work to be performed), the Company adjusts the accruals accordingly. Revisions to the
contractual payment obligations are charged to expense in the period in which the facts that give rise to the revision
become reasonably certain. Patent CostsCosts related to filing and pursuing patent applications are recorded as general and
administrative expense and expenied as incurred since recoverablhty of iuch expendltures is uncertam Stock- Based
CompensationStock : 634 p al-Sta
compensation expense represents the grant date fair value of equlty awards, consisting of stock options , restricted stock units
and employee stock purchase plan rights, recognized on a straight- line basis over the requisite service period for stock options
and restricted stock units, and over the respective offering period for employee stock purchase plan rights. The Company
estimates the fair value of equtty-awards-stock options and employee stock purchase plan rights using the Black- Scholes
option pricing model and-. The fair value of restricted stock units is based on the closing price of the Company’ s common
stock as reported on The Nasdaq Global Market on the date of grant. The Company recognizes forfeitures for all awards
as they occur. Income TaxesThe Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the
recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in
the financial statements. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of the differences
between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the
differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in
income in the period that includes the enactment date. The Company recognizes net deferred tax assets to the extent that the
Company believes these assets are more likely than not to be realized. In making such a determination, management considers
all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected
future taxable income, tax- planning strategies, and results of recent operations. If management determines that the Company
would be able to realize its deferred tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, management would make an
adjustment to the deferred tax asset valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes. The Company
records uncertain tax positions on the basis of a two- step process whereby (1) management determines whether it is more likely
than not that the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions
that meet the more- likely- than- not recognition threshold, management recognizes the largest amount of tax benefit that is
more than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority. The Company recognizes
interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within income tax expense. Any accrued interest and penalties are
included within the related tax liability. Comprehensive LossComprehensive loss is defined as a change in equity during a
period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non- owner sources. The only component of other
comprehensive gain ( loss ) is unrealized gain (loss) on available- for- sale securities. Comprehensive losses have been reflected
in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss and as a separate component in the statements of stockholders’ equity.
Segment ReportingOperating segments are identified as components of an enterprise about which separate discrete financial
information is available for evaluation by the chief operating decision maker (" CODM") , or decision- making group, in
making decisions on how to allocate resources and assess performance. The Company views its operations and manages its
business as one operating segment , which is engaged in the research and development of a broad pipeline of novel
immunotherapies. The accounting policies of the novel immunotherapies segment are the same as those described in the
summary of significant accounting policies. The measure of segment profit or loss is reported on the statement of
operations and comprehensive loss as net loss. The Company monitors its cash and cash equivalents and short- term
investments as reported on the Company’ s balance sheets to determine funding for its research and development. In
order to allocate resources and assess performance, the Company’ s CODM, or President and Chief Executive Officer,
regularly reviews scientific data from clinical and pre- clinical studies as well as forecasted expenses for clinical and pre-
clinical programs and other projected operational expenses . No product revenue has been generated since inception and all
assets are held in the United States . All revenue recognized to date has been derived from the Company’ s existing
collaboration agreement with Merck (as defined and described in Note 5) . Net Loss Per Share Basic net loss per share is




computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted- average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period,
including pre- funded common stock warrants that were issued in ap-underwritten effertng-offerings inJaly2623-(Note 5-4 ),
without consideration for potentially dilutive securities. The pre- funded common stock warrants are included in the calculation
of basic and diluted net loss per share as the exercise price of $ 0. 001 per share is non- substantive and the shares are issuable
for little or no consideration. The Company has excluded weighted- average unvested shares of 3, 645 shares, 27, 458 shares
and 182, 194 shares from the weighted- average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the years ended December
31,2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted-
average number of shares of common stock and dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding for the period determined using
the treasury- stock and if- converted methods. For all periods presented, there is no difference in the number of shares used to
calculate basic and diluted shares outstanding as inclusion of the potentially dilutive securities would be anti- dilutive.
Potentially dilutive securities not included in the calculation of diluted net loss per share because to do so Would be anti-
dilutive, are as follows (in common stock equivalent shares): As of t
{Eontinted)-December 31, Common stock options outstanding 8, 873, 071 7, 989, 192 7, 345 444 Restricted stock units
outstanding 341, 847 — — Unvested common stock — 10, 319 68, 406 Employee stock purchase plan shares 19, 140 13, 796
10, 423 Total potentlally dllutlve shares 9, 234, 058 8, 013, 307 7,424,273 Recent Accountlng Pronouncementsln August

-Startups—Aet—e-f—ZG—l—E» 2020 the F1nanc1al Accountlng Standards Board (- FASB :IGB—S—A:et—”) lssued Accountlng
Standards Update (" ASU") No . bnder-2020- 06, Debt- Debt with Conversion and the-Other JOBSAetemerginggrowth
eompanies-ean-delay-adoptingrew-Options (Subtopic 470- 20) and Derivatives and Hedging- Contracts in Entity’ s Own
Equity (Subtopic 815- 40)- Accounting orfor revised-Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’ s Own Equity,

which simplifies the accountmg standards—tswed—subsequent—te—the—eﬁaeﬁﬁeﬁt—for certain ﬁnanc1al instruments with

characteristics of the esliabilities and equity, including

convertible instruments and contracts on an entlty’ s own equlty The Company has—nfeveeab-l-y—e{eeted—net—te-avaﬂ—rtse}f
adopted ASU 2020- 06 on January 1, 2024 and the adoptlon of the his-e

afe—net— no emergmg—gfewt-h—eeﬁapames-materlal 1mpact on 1ts financlal statements and related disclosures . In November
2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023- 07, Segment Reporting (Topic
280) lmprovements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. The new standard requires a company to disclose incremental segment
information on an annual and interim basis, including significant segment expenses and measures of profit or loss that are
regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker €€0BMj-. The standard is effective for the Company beginning in
fiscal year 2024 and interim perlods w1th1n fiscal year 2025, Wlth early adoptlon pelmltted The Company deesnotexpeetto
eatly-adopt-adopted then v ASU 2023- 07 on January 1, 2025
and the adoptlon of the standard had no materlal 1mpact on 1ts ﬁnanc1a1 statements and related disclosures and-witt-adept
ReY d ; ach-. f-Accounting Pronouncements Pending AdoptionIn December 2023, the
FASB also issued ASU 2023 09, lncome Taxes (Topic 740)- Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. The new standard
requires a company to expand its existing income tax disclosures, specifically related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes
paid. The standard is effective for the Company beginning in fiscal year 2025, with early adoption permitted. The Company
does not expect to early adopt the new standard. The new standard is expected to be applied prospectively, but retrospective
application is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2023- 09 on the financial statements and
related disclosures. 2. Balance Sheet DetatlsProperty-DetailsPrepaid expenses and equipmentniet-other current assets consist
of the following (in thousands): As of December 31, Interest receivable $ 5,381 $ 2, 161 Prepaid research and development
2, 354 2, 318 Other prepaid expenses Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 8,493 $ 5, 213 Property and
equipment, net consist of the following (in thousands): As of Dccember 31, Laboratory equipment $ 8,360 $ 8, 454 $-6;-838
Furniture and fixtures Computer equipment and software Assets not placed in service Total property and equipment 9, 816 9,
917 8;858-Less: accumulated depreciation (4, 952) (2, 914) 992 -Property and equipment, net $ 74 , 903-864 $ 7, 886-003
Accrued expenses consist of the following (in thousands): As of December 31, Accrued eempensatien-research and
development $ 6, 200 $ 3, 535 Accrued compensation 4, 566 3, 303 $2,-67-Aeerunedresearch-and-development3;-535-4H6
Other accrued expenses U-nvested—steel&habﬂ-tﬁes—Accrued expenses $ 11, 684 $ 7, 387 $8479-3. Commitments and
ContingenciesLicense Agreement with WuXi Biologics (Hong Kong) Limited In April 2021, the Company entered into a cell
line license agreement (““ Cell Line License Agreement ”’) with WuXi Biologics (Hong Kong) Limited (“ WuXi Biologics ),
pursuant to which the Company received a non- exclusive, worldwide, sublicensable license under certain of WuXi Biologics’
patent rights, know- how and biological materials (“ WuXi Biologics Licensed Technology ™), to use the WuXi Biologics
Licensed Technology to make, use, sell, offer for sale and import certain therapeutic products produced through the use of the
cell line licensed by WuXi Biologics under the Cell Line License Agreement (“ WuXi Biologics Licensed Product ). In
consideration for the license, the Company paid WuXi Biologics a non- refundable, one- time license fee of $ 0. 2 million upon
WuXi Biologics’ achievement of a certain technical milestone. This one- time license fee was recognized as research and
development expense when incurred since the WuXi Biologics Licensed Technology had no alternative future use. If the
Company does not engage WuXi Biologics or its affiliates to manufacture the WuXi Biologics Licensed Products for its
commercial supplies, the Company is required to make royalty payments to WuXi Biologics in an amount equal to a low single-
digit percentage of specified portions of net sales of WuXi Biologics Licensed Products manufactured by a third- party
manufacturer. The Company has the right (but not the obligation) to buy out its remaining royalty obligations with respect to
each WuXi Biologics Licensed Product by paying WuXi Biologics a one- time payment in an amount ranging from low single
digit million dollars to a maximum of $ 15. 0 million depending on the development and commercialization stage of the WuXi




Biologics Licensed Product (the “ Buyout Option ), and upon such payment, the Company' s license with respect to such WuXi
Biologics Licensed Product will become fully paid- up, irrevocable, and perpetual. The royalty obligations will remain in effect
during the term of the Cell Line License Agreement so long as the Company has not exercised the Buyout Option. The Cell Line
License Agreement will continue indefinitely unless terminated (i) by the Company upon three months’ prior written notice and
the Company’ s payment of all amounts due to WuXi Biologics through the effective date of termination, (ii) by either party for
the other party’ s material breach that remains uncured for 30 days after written notice, and (iii) by WuXi Biologics if the
Company fails to make a payment and such failure continues for 30 days after receiving notice of such failure. Operating
LeasesIn October 2021, the Company entered into a lease agreement (the “ Torrey Plaza Lease ) to lease office and laboratory
space in San Diego, California. The Company determined this facilities lease was an operating lease at the inception of the lease
contract. According to accounting standards, the Torrey Plaza Lease commenced on April 1, 2022 and has a term of 130 months
from the commencement date. The Torrey Plaza Lease provides an option to extend the term of the lease for a period of 5 years
beyond the initial term, which the Company is not reasonably certain to exercise and therefore was not considered in
determining the ROU assets and lease liabilities balance. As required under the terms of the Torrey Plaza Lease, in October
2021 the Company entered into a standby letter of credit, which is secured by a money market account in the amount of $ 0. 8
million. The letter of credit is subject to draw down by the landlord upon certain events of breach or default by the Company.
The letter of credit amount is subject to a 50 % reduction subject to certain conditions on or following the date that is 54 months
following the contractual lease commencement date. Future minimum noncancelable operating lease payments as of December
31,2623-2024 arc as follows (in thousands): $3;403-3, 505 3, 611 3, 719 3, 830 3, 945 Therecafter +6-12 , 872927 Total
minimum lease payments 34-31 , 946-537 Less: Imputed interest (4+6-8 , 398-512 ) Total operating lease liabilities 24-23 , 542
025 Less: Current portion of operatmg lease habrhtreq (1 5—1—7—749 ) Operatmg lease liabilities, net of current portion $ 23-21 ,
276 625139 anax—Therapetties; Ine—Notes-to-Finane A ntintted)-The Torrey Plaza lease has a remaining lease

term of 9-8 . 1 years and a drqcount rate of 8 % as ofDecember 31, %92—3—2024 Operating lease expense included in the
measurement of lease liabilities for year-years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $ 3. 4 million , $ 3. 4 million and
$ 2. 8 million, respectively . Cash paid tor amounts 1ncluded n the measurement of leaqe liabilities for the ye&ryears ended

ye&eended—Beeem-beH—l—2022 was $ 3 4 mllllon, $2. 8 m11110n and —Cashpat 5
lease-habilitiesfor-the-yearended-Deeember3+,2622-was-5 0. 2 million, respectlvely Contmgencre%From time to time, the

Company may be subject to claims or lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company accrues a liability for
such matters when it is probable that future expenditures will be made and such expenditures can be reasonably estimated. As of
December 31, %92—3—2024 the Company 1s not Currently party to any matenal legal proceedmg% 4 Re}ated—P&ft-y—’Pfaﬂsaeﬁeﬁs}n

Company entered 1nt0 an ATM Equrty OttermgSM Sales Agreement (“ New—Sale Aoreement ) Wrth BofA Securities, Inc. (*
BofA ”) to sell shares of common stock, from time to time, through an “ at the market offering ” program having an aggregate
offering price of up to $ 150. 0 million through which BofA would act as sales agent. In February 2024, the Company
delivered written notice to BofA that it was suspending and terminating the prospectus related to the shares of its
common stock issuable pursuant to the terms of the Sale Agreement. In May 2024, the Company filed a shelf registration
statement on Form S- 3ASR which included a new prospectus which covers the offering, issuance and sale of up to a
maximum aggregate offering price of $ 150. 0 million of the Company’ s common stock under the Sale Agreement. There
was no activity from the New-Sale Agreement during the year ended December 31, 2823-2024 . As of December 31, 2623-2024
,$ 150 0 m11110n of common Stock remamed avallable for iale under the New—Sale Agreement —}n—Febfttaiy—}%—ﬂ&e—Gempaﬁy

fem&rns—rn—fu-l-l—feree—aﬁd—effeet— ln July 2023, the Company closed an underwrltten offermg 0f4 153 717 qhare@ of its common
stock and pre- funded warrants to purchase 583, 483 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $ 0. 001 per share. The
shares of common stock were sold at a price of $ 12. 46 per share and the pre- funded common stock warrants were sold at a



price of $ 12. 459 per pre- funded common stock warrant, resulting in gross proceeds of $ 59. 0 million. Fees related to the
offering included underwriting discounts, commissions, and offering expenses in the aggregate amount of § 2. 5 million,
resulting in net proceeds of $ 56. 5 million. The pre- funded common stock warrants will not expire until exercised in full and
are exercisable in cash or by means of a cashless exercise. +463anaxTherapenties;Ine—- In —Neotes-toFinanetal-Statements
March 2024, the Company closed an underwritten offering of 5, 397, 301 shares of its common stock and pre -
{Contintied)Deeember-.9.Subsequent EventsIn March 2024,the Company closed an underwritten offering of 6-5 , +56-397 ,
#93-301 shares of its common stock and pre- funded warrants to purchase 238-1 , 895-935,483 shares of common stock at-an
exereise-priee-of $0-00pershare- The shares of common stock were sold at a price of $ 63-46 . 88-50 per share and the pre-
funded common stock warrants were sold at a price of $ 62-46 . 999-499 per pre- funded common stock warrant,resulting in
gross proceeds of § 462-341 . 5-0 million.Fees related to the offering included underwriting discounts,commissions,and
estimated offering expenses in the aggregate amount of $ 24-20 . 6-8 million,resulting in estimated net proceeds of $ 377320 .
2 million The Company has assessed the pre- funded common stock warrants for appropriate equity or liability classification.
The pre- funded common stock warrants are equity classified because they (i) are freestanding financial instruments that are
legally detachable and separately exercisable from the equity instruments, (ii) are immediately exercisable, (iii) do not embody
an obligation for the Company to repurchase its shares, (iv) permit the holders to receive a fixed number of shares of common
stock upon exercise, (v) are indexed to the Company’ s common stock and (vi) meet the equity classification criteria. In
addition, such pre- funded common stock warrants do not provide any guarantee of value or return and do not provide the
warrant holders with the option to settle any unexercised warrants for cash outside of the Company’ s control. The pre- funded
common stock warrants also include a separate provision whereby the exercisability of the warrants may be limited if, upon
exercise, the warrant holder or any of its affiliates would beneficially own more than a certain percentage +9-9-%-of the
Company’ s outstanding common stock. The Company valued the pre- funded common stock warrants at issuance, concluding
that their sale price approximated their fair value. Accordingly, the pre- funded common stock warrants are accounted for as a
component of additional paid- in capital at the time of issuance. 2017 Equity Incentive Planln August 2017, the Company
adopted the Janux Therapeutics, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the “ 2017 Plan ), which provided for the grant of incentive
stock options, nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock awards and other stock awards to its employees, members of its board
of directors and consultants. The maximum term of options granted under the 2017 Plan is ten years and, in general, the options
issued under the 2017 Plan vest over a four- year period from the vesting commencement date. The 2017 Plan allows for the
early exercise of stock options, which may be subject to repurchase by the Company at the original exercise price. Upon the
effectiveness of the 2021 Plan defined and described below, no further grants will be made under the 2017 Plan. Any
outstanding awards granted under the 2017 Plan will remain subject to the terms of the 2017 Plan and applicable award
agreements. 2021 Equity Incentive Plasta—- Plan In June 2021, the Company adopted the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the
2021 Plan, ” and together with the 2017 Plan the “ Plans ). Under the 2021 Plan, the Company may grant stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance stock awards, performance cash awards and other forms
of stock awards to employees, directors and consultants. The maximum term of options granted under the 2021 Plan is ten years
and, in general, the options issued under the 2021 Plan vest over a four- year perlod from the vesting commencement date. The
2021 Plan does not permrt early exercises. Any A—total-o e R-stoek—wereinitia 0

any-future Cancellatlons under the 2017 Plan will become avarlable for future issuance under the 2021 Plan In addrtron the
number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2021 Plan automatically increases on January 1 of each
calendar year through January 1, 2031, in an amount equal to 5 % of the total number of shares of the Company’ s common
stock on the last day of the calendar month before the date of each automatic increase, or a lesser number of shares determined
by the Company’ s board of directors. As of December 31, 2823-2024 , there were 9-10 , +69-867 , 849-540 shares authorized
for issuance under the 2021 Plan, inclusive of shares added from 2017 Plan cancellations. A-Stock OptionsA summary of the
Company’ s stock option activity under its Plans is as follows (in thousands, except share, per share data and years): Number
ofOutstandingOptions-ofOptions Weighted- AverageExercise Price Weighted- AverageRemainingContractualTerm (in years)
Aggregatelntrinsic Value Balance at December 31, 2022 7, 345,444 § 11. 67 8. 3 § 29, 806 Granted 2, 019, 450 § 13. 80
Exercised (253, 545) $ 8. 86 Forfeited or cancelled (1,122, 157) $ 13. 25 Batanee-Outstanding at December 31, 2023 7, 989,
192 $12.087.8$ 16, 733 Granted 2, 359, 363 $ 15. 07 Exercised (1, 152, 192) $ 12. 30 Forfeited or cancelled (323, 292) $
13. 10 Outstanding at December 31, 2024 8, 873, 071 $ 12. 81 7. 2 $ 361, 595 Vested and expected to vest at December 31,
2623-2024 78 , 989-873 , 192-071 $ 12. 68-81 7. &2 $ -1-6-361 -7-3-3—595 Exer01sab1e at December 31, %92—3—2024 5, 2%6—401
+45-003 $9-11 . 89721 6 . 3-6 $ +6-228 , 619 59¢ S - 6 The
weighted- average grant date fair value of option grants for the years ended December 31, 2024 2023 and 2022 was $ 11. 30, $
10. 02 and $ 12. 35, respectively. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023 and 2022 was $ 45. 6 million, $ 1. 9 million and $ 0. | million, respectively. As of December 31, 2023-2024 | total
unrecognized stock- based compensation cost associated with option grants was $ 34-33 . -9 million, which is expected to be
recognized over a remaining weighted- average period of approximately 2. 2 years. The assumptions used in the Black- Scholes
option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock option grants under the Plans were as follows: Year Ended December
31, Risk- free interest rate 3. 6 % — 4.6 % 3.5 % — 4.7 % 1.5 % — 4. 2 % Expected volatility 83 % — 106 % 82 % — 87 % 81
% — 85 % Expected term (in years) 5.3 — 6.1 5.3 —6. 1 5.3 = 6. 1 Expected dividend yield — — — Risk- free interest rate.
The risk- free interest rate is based on the U. S. Treasury yield in effect at the time of grant for zero coupon U. S. Treasury notes
with maturities similar to the expected term of the awards. Expected volatility. For options granted in the initial years
following the Company’ s IPO, Given-given the Company’ s limited historical stock price volatility data, the expected




volatility assumption is based on volatilities of a peer group of similar companies whose share prices are publicly available,
including the Company +’ s historical volatility, weighted by years of available trading data within the expected term. The peer
group was dev eloped based on companies in the biotechnology industry. Fhe-As sufficient historical data is now available for

the Company ’ s stock price, the Company is currently applying and will continue to apply this-preeess-unti-asuffietent
amountofhisterieakinformationregarding-the volatility of its own stock price beeomes-available-in determining volatility .

Expected term. The expected term represents the period of time that options are expected to be outstanding. Because the
Company does not have sufficient historical exercise behavior to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the expected
term, it determines the expected life assumption using the simplified method, for employees and nonemployee directors ,
which is an average of the contractual term of the option and its vesting period. The expected term for nonemployee options is
generally the contractual term. Expected dividend yield. The Company bases the expected dividend yield assumption on the fact
that it has never paid cash dividends and has no present intention to pay cash dividends and, therefore, used an expected
dividend yield of zero. Restricted Stock UnitsA summary of the Company’ s restricted stock unit (“ RSU ”) activity under
the 2021 Plan is as follows: Number ofRestricted Stock Units Weighted- Average Grant Date Fair Value per Share
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 — $§ — Granted 344, 347 $ 58. 95 Vested (2, 500) $ 39. 80 Forfeited or cancelled — $
— Outstanding at December 31, 2024 341, 847 § 59. 09 RSU awards are share awards that, upon vesting, will deliver to
the holder shares of the Company’ s common stock. The grant- date fair value is recognized as compensation expense
over the vesting period. As of December 31, 2024, total unrecognized stock- based compensation cost associated with
RSUs was §$ 19. 3 million, which is expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted- average period of
approximately 3. 7 years. The Company did not have any RSU activity during the year ended December 31, 2023. 2021
Employee Stock Purchase Planln June 2021, the Company adopted the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ ESPP ),
which became effective on June 10, 2021. The ESPP permits eligible employees who elect to participate in an offering under the
ESPP to have up to 15 % of their eligible earnings withheld, subject to certain limitations, to purchase shares of common stock
pursuant to the ESPP. The price of common stock purchased under the ESPP is equal to 85 % of the lower of the fair market
value of the common stock at the commencement ddte of each oh‘enng perlod or the relevant date of purchase —A-tetal-of466;
hares approve e-initia er-the . In addition, the number of
shares of common stock dvallable for issuance under the ESPP automqtlcdlly increases on January 1 of each calendar year
through January 1, 2031, in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) 1 % of the total number of shares of the Company’ s common
stock on the last day of the calendar month before the date of each automatic increase and (ii) 932, 000 shares; provided that
before the date of any such increase, the Company’ s board of directors may determine that such increase will be less than the
amount set forth in clauses (i) and (i1). Iadane-For the years ended December 31, 26242024 . 2023 employees-began-to-enrolt

irthe-BESPP-and 2022, the-Company—s-firstoffering-period-eommeneed—Stoek-stock - based compensation expense related to
the ESPP was $ 0. 8 million, $ 0. 9 million and $ 0. 6 million fer-the-years-ended, respectively. As of December 31, 2623-2024

and-2022;respeetively—As-ef Deeember31+;2023-, total unrecognized stock- based compensation expense related to the ESPP
was § 0. —7—6 million, Wthh 1S expected to be recoomzed over a remamum weighted- average period of approximately 1. 6-3
years. T herape es;Ine—Notes patnetal-Statements entited)-Stock- Based Compensation ExpenseStock-
based compensation expense hds been reported in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss as follows (in
thousands): Year Ended December 31, Research and development $9, 718 $ 7, 873 § 7, 235 General and administrative 23, 302
12,1329,968 Total $ 33,020 $ 20, 005 $ 17, 203 Modification of Equity AwardsIn July 2024, and in connection with the
resignation of a former director, the board of directors approved the following modifications to the terms of the former
director’ s outstanding equity awards: (a) acceleration of the vesting of all unvested stock options and awards in full,
effective as of the former director' s resignation date; and (b) extension of the post- termination exercise period for
outstanding options until the earlier of the third anniversary of such resignation date or the original expiration date of
such options, subject to the Company’ s ability to take any actions permitted under the 2021 Plan. The incremental
stock- based compensation expense resulting from these modifications recognized during the year ended December 31,
2024 was $ 0. 7 million. In August 2024, and in connection with the resignation of a former executive officer, the
compensation committee of the board of directors approved the following modifications to the terms of the former
officer’ s outstanding equity awards as defined within a transition and consulting agreement with the former officer (the
“ Transition Agreement ”): (a) acceleration of the vesting of unvested stock options such that the number of options that
would have vested through June 30, 2026, are vested and exercisable, with such acceleration deemed effective as of
December 31, 2024, subject to service conditions described within the Transition Agreement; and (b) extension of the
post- termination exercise period for outstanding options until the earlier of December 31, 2027 or the original expiration
date of such options, subject to the Company’ s ability to take any actions permitted under the Plans, as applicable. The
incremental stock- based compensation expense resulting from these modifications recognized during the year ended
December 31, 2024 was $ 8. 7 million. Unvested Stock LiabilitiesA summary of the Company’ s unvested shares and unvested
stock liabilities is as follows (in thousands, except share data): Number ofUnvestedShares Weighted- Average Grant Date Fair
Value UnvestedStock Liabilities Balance at December 31, 2022 68,406 $ 1. 94 § Vested shares (58, 087) $ 2. 00 (149) Balance
at December 31,2023 10,319 § 1. 57 Vested shares (10, 319) $ 1. 57 (20) Balance at December 31,2024 — $ —$ —
Common Stock Reserved for Future IssuanceCommon stock reserved for future issuance consists of the following: December
31, Common stock options outstanding 8, 873, 071 7, 989, 192 7, 345, 444 RSUs outstanding 341, 847 — — Shares available
for issuance under the Plans 5, 131, 660 5, 198, 941 4, 012, 001 Shares available for issuance under the ESPP 1, 506, 316 1,
142,750 816, 478 Pre- funded common stock warrants outstanding 2, 676, 804 503, 226 — Total 18, 529, 698 14, 834, 109 12,
173, 923 65 . Research Collaboration and Exclusive License Agreementln December 2020, the Company entered into a
research collaboration and exclusive license agreement (the “ Merck Agreement ), pursuant to which the Company granted




Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. (“ Merck ) an exclusive, worldwide, royalty- bearing, sublicensable license to certain of its patent
rights and know- how for up to two collaboration targets (““ First Collaboration Target ” and “ Second Collaboration Target ”,
together the ““ Collaboration Targets ) related to next generation T cell engager immunotherapies for the treatment of cancer. In
each case, once the Collaboration Targets are designated by Merck, they have the right to research, develop, make, have made,
use, import, offer to sell, and sell compounds and any licensed products related thereto. Merck selected the First Collaboration
Target upon execution of the Merck Agreement and selected the Second Collaboration Target in May 2022. Following the
research term, Merck has will-have-the sole right to research, develop, manufacture, and commercialize the licensed compounds
and products directed against the Collaboration Targets. Consideration in the Merck Agreement consists of (i) an $ 8. 0 million
non- refundable and non- creditable upfront fee, (ii) $ 8. 0 million paid upon the selection of the Second Collaboration Target,
(iii) research program funding (iv) development and regulatory milestones, (v) commercial milestones, and (vi) royalty
payments. Under the Merck Agreement, the Company is eligible to receive up to an aggregate of $ 142. 5 million per
Collaboration Target in milestone payments ($ 285. 0 million collectively for both Collaboration Targets), contingent on the
achievement of certain regulatory and development milestones. Merck is also required to make milestone payments to the
Company upon the successful completion of certain commercial milestones, in an aggregate amount not to exceed $ 350. 0
million for each licensed product under either of the Collaboration Targets. The Merck Agreement provides that Merck is
obligated to pay to the Company tiered royalty payments on a product- by- product and country- by- country basis, ranging from
low single- digit to low teens percentage royalty rates on specified portions of annual net sales for licensed products under either
of the Collaboration Targets that are commercialized. Such royalties are subject to reduction, on a product- by- product and
country- by- country basis, for licensed products not covered by patent claims, or that %}aﬁwﬁhef&peuﬁes—lﬂe—Netes—te

Finanetal-Statements—(Ceontinted)-require Merck to obtain a license to obtain a license to third- party intellectual property in
order to commercialize the licensed products, or that are subject to compulsory licensing. The Merck Agreement will terminate

at the end of the calendar year in which the expiration of all royalty obligations occurs for all licensed products under the
agreement. Merck has the unilateral right to terminate the Merck Agreement in its entirety or on a Collaboration Target by
Collaboration Target basis at any time and for any reason upon prior written notice to the Company. Both parties have the right
to terminate the agreement for an uncured material breach, certain illegal or unethical activities, and insolvency of the other
party. Upon expiration of the agreement but not early termination thereof, and provided all payments due under the agreement
have been made, Merck’ s exclusive licenses under the agreement will become fully paid- up and perpetual. The Company
concluded that Merck represented a customer and has accounted for the initial units of account in accordance with FASB’ s
Accounting Standards Codification 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ ASC 606 ). As it relates to Merck' s option
to select a Second Collaboration Target, which was exercised in May 2022, the Company concluded that this option represented
a customer option to purchase additional goods or services that is not a material right and, therefore, is accounted for as a
separate contract and separate performance obligation to purchase the additional goods or services. The Company identified its
performance obligations under the Merck Agreement and each Collaboration Target as the grant to Merck of an exclusive
license to certain of its intellectual property subject to certain conditions, its conduct of research services and the Company’ s
participation in a joint research committee. The Company determined that these performance obligations should be accounted
for as one combined performance obligation for each Collaboration Target since they are not distinct. The Company also
determined that the combined performance obligation for each Collaboration Target is transferred over the expected term of the
conduct of the research services. In accordance with ASC 606, the Company determined that the initial transaction price under
the Merck Agreement for the First Collaboration Target is $ 11. 4 million, consisting of the upfront, non- refundable and non-
creditable payment of $ 8. 0 million and the aggregate estimated reimbursable research program funding of $ 3. 4 million. The
Company determined that the initial transaction price under the Merck Agreement for the Second Collaboration Target is $ 12.
0 million, consisting of the upfront, non- refundable and non- creditable payment of $ 8. 0 million and the aggregate estimated
reimbursable research program funding of $ 4. 0 million. The performance obligations related to the Collaboration Targets
were completed as of December 31, 2024. In June 2024, a developmental milestone of $ 7. 5 million related to the First
Collaboration Target were-eompleted-was achieved, at which time the Company recognized the associated revenue. All
other future potentlal mllestone payments are cons1dered constramed as of December 31, %92—3—2024 —’Fhe—aggfegate
v g ed)-as of




million, $ 8. 1 million and § 8. 6 million of revenue under the Merck Agreement for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023
and 2022, respectlvely As-The Company s performance obllgatlons related to the Collaboratlon Targets were completed

3 pittee Income TaxesThe

; ; he-Company has not recorded a current or
deferred tax expense or beneﬁt for the years ended December 31, 2024 2023 or 2022. The net losses for the years ended
December 31,2024 , 2023 and 2022 were generated solely in the United States. A reconciliation of the Company’ s income tax
expense (beneﬁt) to the amount computed by applying the federal statutory income tax rate is summarized as follows (in
thousands): Year Ended December 31, Expected tax benefit computed at federal statutory rate $ ( 14, 489) $ ( 12, 242) $ (13,
242) State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit ( 3, 437) (2, 827) (3, 754) Permanent differences 3-(48) Equity
compensation (6 , 567448) |, $99-289 Officer' s compensation 6, 449 2, 192 1, 261 Research and development credits (6,
251) (4, 300) (2, 930) Reserve for uncertain tax positions 1, 534 1, 058 Other Change in valuation allowance 22, 146 14, 620 17,
232 Income tax expense (benefit) § —$ — 8§ — Slgnlﬁcant components of the Company’ s net deferred tax assets iabiitiesy
are summarized as follows (in thousands): December 31, Deferred tax assets: Net operating loss carryforwards $ 25, 676 $ 18,
745 $+6;264-Capitalized research and development 26, 615 15, 698 8;3+8-Lcasc liability 5, 961 6, 868 4-88+-Rescarch and
development credit carryforwards 11, 286 6, 597 3;:3%#Stock- based compensation 3, 712 4, 005 3;453-Other Total deferred
tax assets 73, 402 52, 626 38;-H2-Valuation allowance ( 44-66 , 98+740 ) ( 36-44 , 976-981 ) Net deferred tax assets 6, 662 7,
645 F5936-Deferred tax liabilities: ROU asset (54 , 834993 ) (65, 235-831 ) Property and equipment (1, 498-008 ) (1, 549
498) Unrealized gains (560) (186 ) Other (346-101 ) (482-130 ) Total gross deferred tax liabilities (76 , 645-662 ) (7, 936-645
) Net deferred tax assets $ — $ — Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recorded for differences between the financial
statement and tax basis of the assets and liabilities that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future based on enacted
laws and rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are
established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. The Company has evaluated the
available evidence supporting the realization of its gross deferred tax assets, including the amount and timing of future taxable
income, and has determined it is more likely than not that the assets will not be realized. Due to uncertainties surrounding the
realizability of the deferred tax assets, the Company maintains a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets at
December 31,2024 and 2023 and-. During the year ended December 31, 2622-2024 , the valuation allowance increased by
$ 21. 8 million . At December 31, 2023-2024 , the Company had federal and state net operating loss (" NOL") carryforwards of
$49-66 . 9-2 million and $ H7#167 . 6 million, respectively. Federal NOL carryforwards totaling $ 0. 5 million begin to expire
in 2037, unless previously utilized, and federal NOL carryforwards of § 49-65 . 4-7 million generated after 2017, may be carried
forward indefinitely but can only be utilized to offset 80 % of future taxable income. State NOL carryforwards totaling $ +7
167 . 6 million begin to expire in 2037, unless previously utilized. In addition, the Company also has federal and state research
and development (" R & D") credit carryforwards totaling $ 6-10 . 4-9 million and $ 5. 3 —+million respectively. The federal R
& D credit carryforwards will begin to expire in 2037 unless previously utilized. The state R & D credit carryforwards do not
expire. Utilization of the Company' s NOL and R & D credit carryforwards may be subject to substantial annual limitations in
the event a cumulative 0wnersh1p change has occurred or that Could occur in the future as required by Section 382 of the
Internal Revenue Code H A 50 al-Statements atinted)-of 1986, as amended (the"
Code"). In general, an' ownershlp Change as deﬂned by Seet10n 382 of the Code, results from a transaction, or series of
transactions over a three- year period, resulting in an ownership change of more than 50 % of the outstanding commen stock of
a company by certain stockholders or public groups. Such an ownership change may limit the amount of NOL and R & D credit
carryforwards that can be utilized annually to offset future taxable income and tax, respectively. The Company has not
completed such an ownership change analysis pursuant to Section 382 of the Code and therefore has established a full
valuation allowance as the realization of such deferred tax assets has not met the more likely than not threshold
requirement . [f ownership changes have occurred or eeewr-oceurs in the future, the amount of remaining tax attribute
carryforwards available to offset taxable income and income tax expense in future years may be restricted or eliminated. If
eliminated, the related asset would be removed from deferred tax assets with a corresponding reduction in the valuation
allowance. Due to the existence of the valuation allowance, limitations created by future ownership changes, if any, will not
impact the Company' s effective tax rate. The Company recognizes a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position when it is more
likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination by tax authorities. Further, due to the existence of the
valuation allowance, future changes in the Company' s unrecognized tax benefits will not impact the effective tax rate. The
following table summarizes the changes to the Company’ s gross unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31,
2024, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Balance at beginning of year $ 2,389 $ 1, 273 § Increases
related to prior year tax positions — — Increases related to current year tax positions 1, 642 Balance at end of year $4, 031 § 2,
389 $ 1,273 The Company had no accrual for interest or penalties on the Company' s balance sheets at December 31, 2024 or
2023 o12022-, and has not recognized interest and / or penalties in the statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622-, the Company had
unrecognized tax benefits of § 4. 0 million and $ 2. 4 mithen-and-$4-—3-million, respectively, which if recognized currently,
should not impact the effective tax rate due to the Company maintaining a full valuation allowance. The Company does not
expect that there will be a significant change in the unrecognized tax benefit over the next twelve months. The Company is
subject to taxation in the United States and various state jurisdictions. All of the Company' s tax years are subject to examination
by federal and state tax authorities due to the carryforward of unutilized net operating losses and research and development




credits. Further, the Company is not currently under examination by any federal, state or local tax authority. 87 . 401 (k)
PlanEffective April 2021, the Company adopted a defined contribution retirement savings plan under Section 401 (k) of the
Internal Revenue Code available to eligible employees. Employee contributions are voluntary and determined on an individual
basis, limited to the maximum amount allowable under federal tax regulations. Under the plan, the Company makes a
mandatory annual contribution of up to 3 % of eligible employees’ compensation. Employer contributions for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $ 0. 4 million and-, $ 0. 4 million and $ 0. 2 million, respectively . 9. Subsequent
EventsIn March 2024...... proceeds of $ 320. 2 million . Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting
and Financial Disclosure. Item 9A. Controls and Procedures. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures As required by
Rules 13a- 15 (b) and 15d- 15 (b) of the Exchange Act, our management with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive and eurAeting-Chief Finanetatfinancial Offieer-officer ) , evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of December 31, 2023-2024 . The term “ disclosure controls and procedures ” as defined in Rules
13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’ s rules and forms. Disclosure
controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the
company’ s management, including its principal executive and prirreipat-financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives, and management necessarily applies its
judgment in evaluating the cost- benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2623-2024 , our Chief Executive Officer (principal executive and etr
Aeting-Chief Finanetal-financial Offteer-officer ) concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective at the reasonable assurance level. Management’ s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Management is
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule
13a- 15 (f) under the Exchange Act. Our management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting based on the criteria set forth in ““ Internal Control- Integrated Framework (2013)  issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organization of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management concluded that, as of
December 31, 2023-2024 . our internal control over financial reporting was effective. Fhis-AnnaalRepert-onForm10-I—dees
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not nelade-prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate. The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024
has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an attestatierrreportofeur-independent registered public accounting firm e
internal-eontrotoverfinanetal, as stated in its reporting—-- report, which is included herein due-to-anexemption-established
by-the JOBSAet-for-emerging growth-eompantes-. 2-Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting There were no
changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2023-2024 that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Opinion on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting We have audited Janux Therapeutics Inc.’ s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our
opinion, Janux Therapeutics, Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on the COSO criteria. We also have audited, in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the balance sheets of the
Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes and our
report dated February 27, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. The Company’ s management is responsible
for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’ s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audit in accordance
with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting A
company’ s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’ s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are



recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’ s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate. [tem 9B. Other Information. Trading Arrangements During the three months ended December 31,
2623-2024 , no director or officer adopted or terminated any Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement or any non- Rule 10b5- 1 trading
arrangement (as such terms are defined pursuant to Item 408 (a) of Regulation S- K) , except as follows: On December 30,
2024, Byron Robinson, Ph. D., our Chief Strategy Officer, adopted a Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement that is intended
to satisfy the affirmative defense of Rule 10bS- 1 (c) for the sale of up to 238, 000 shares of our common stock until
August 31, 2025. On December 30, 2024, Zachariah Mclver, D. O., Ph. D., our Chief Medical Officer, adopted a Rule
10b5- 1 trading arrangement that is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense of Rule 10b5- 1 (c) for the sale of up to 76,
587 shares of our common stock until April 1, 2026. On December 30, 2024, Tommy DiRaimondo, Ph. D., our Chief
Scientific Officer, modified an existing Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement that is intended to satisfy the affirmative
defense of Rule 10bS- 1 (c). The modified trading arrangement terminates on August 29, 2025 and provides for the sale
of up to 91, 100 shares of our common stock. In addition, our officers (as defined in Rule 16a- 1 (f) under the Exchange
Act) have entered into sell- to- cover arrangements adopted pursuant to Rule 10b5- 1 authorizing the pre- arranged sale
of shares to satisfy our tax withholding obligations arising exclusively from the vesting of restricted stock units. The
amount of shares to be sold to satisfy our tax withholding obligations under these arrangements is dependent on future
events which cannot be known at this time, including the future trading price of our shares. The expiration date relating
to these arrangements is dependent on future events which cannot be known at this time, including the final vesting date
of the applicable shares of restricted stock and the officer’ s termination of service . Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign
Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections. PART III Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. Information
required by this item and not set forth below will be set forth in the sections headed" Election of Directors" and" Executive
Officers" contained in our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Commission within 120 days after the conclusion of
our year ended December 31, 2823-2024 (the “ Proxy Statement ) pursuant to General Instructions G (3) of Form 10- K and is
incorporated herein by reference. We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all officers, directors
and employees, including our principal executive and effteersprinetpat-financial officer ;-and principal accounting officer
eontroller;-orpersenrperforming-simtlarfunetions-. A current copy of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on
the Corporate Governance section of our website at www. januxrx. com. If we make any substantive amendments to the Code
of Business Conduct and Ethics or grants any waiver from a provision of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics to any
executive officer or director that are required to be disclosed pursuant to SEC rules, we will promptly disclose the nature of the
amendment or waiver on our website or in a current report on Form 8- K. Item 11. Executive Compensation. The information
required by this item will be set forth in the sections headed" Executive and Director Compensation" and" Director
Compensation" contained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. Item 12. Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. The information required by this item will be set
forth in the sections headed" Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" and" Executive and Director
Compensation" contained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. Item 13. Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions, and Director Independence. The information required by this item will be set forth in the sections headed"
Certain Related- Person Transactions" and" Information Regarding the Board of Directors and Corporate Governance"
contained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services. The
information required by this item will be set forth in the section headed" Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm" contained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. PART IV Item 15. Exhibits
and Financial Statement Schedules. (a) Documents filed as part of this report. (1) Financial Statements. The following financial
statements of Janux Therapeutics, Inc., together with the report of Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, required to be filed pursuant to Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10- K are included on the
following pages: Page Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Balance Sheets Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Loss Statements of Stockholders’ Equity Statements of Cash Flows Notes to Financial Statements (2) Financial
Statement Schedules. All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, not required, or the
information required is shown in the financial statements or the notes thereto. (3) List of exhibits required by Item 601 of
Regulation S- K. See part (b) below. (b) Exhibits. ExhibitNumber Description3. 1 Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K, filed with the SEC on
June 15, 2021). 3. 2 Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 2 to the Registrant’ s Current Report
on Form 8- K, filed with the SEC on June 15, 2021). 4. 1 Reference is made to Exhibit 3. 1 and Exhibit 3. 2. 4. 2 Form of
Common Stock Certificate of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the Registrant’ s Registration
Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 256297), as amended, filed with the SEC on June 7, 2021). 4. 3 Amended and Restated
Investors’ Rights Agreement, by and between the Registrant and certain of its stockholders, dated April 15,2021, as amended
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 2 to the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 256297), as
amended, filed with the SEC on June 7, 2021). 4. 4 Description of Registrant” s Common Stock. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4. 4 to the Registrant” s Annual Report on Form 10- K, filed with the SEC on March 18, 2022). 4. 5 Form of Pre-
Funded Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K, filed with the SEC



on July 18,2023). 4. 6 Form of Pre- Funded Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the Registrant’ s
Current Report on Form 8- K, filed with the SEC on February 29, 2024). 4. 7 Form of Pre- Funded Warrant
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K, filed with the SEC on
December 5, 2024). 10. 1 Form of Indemnity Agreement, by and between the Registrant and its directors and officers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 256297),
filed with the SEC on May 19, 2021). 10. 2 Janux Therapeutics, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and Forms of
Option Agreement, Notice of Exercise and Early Exercise Stock Purchase Agreement thereunder (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10. 2 to the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 256297), filed with the SEC on May 19,
2021). 10. 3 Janux Therapeutics, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, and-Forms of Option Grant Notice, Option Agreement and
Notice of Exercise thereunder , and Forms of RSU Award Grant Notice and RSU Award Agreement. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 3-1 to the Registrant’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q, filed with the SEC on August 7, 2024).
10. 4 Janux Therapeutics, Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 4 to the
Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 256297), as amended, filed with the SEC on June 7, 2021). 10.
4-5 Amended and Restated Non- JanuxTherapeuttes;Ine—202+-Employee SteekPurehasePlan-Director Compensation
Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 42 to the Registrant’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q, filed with the SEC
on August 7, 2024). 10. 6 Employment Agreement, by and between the Registrant and David Campbell, Ph. D., dated
January 1, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 6 to the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S— 1 (File
No. 333-256297), as-amended;-filed with the SEC on Jane-7May 19 , 2021). 10. 7 S-Amended-andRestated-Non—Employee
Bireetor-CompensationPoliey—10—6-Employment Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Andy Meyer David
Campbel, Ph-—D—, dated Januwary+February 17 , 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 6-7 to the Registrant” s
Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 256297), filed with the SEC on May 19, 2021). 10. #Employment-8 *
Research Collaboration and Exclusive License Agreement, by and between the Registrant and AndyMeyer-Merck Sharp &
Dohme Corp. , dated Febraary-December 17, 26242020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. #8 to the Registrant” s
Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 256297), filed with the SEC on May 19, 2021). 10. 89 * Cell Line
Researeh-Coltaboratiomrand-Exelustve-License Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Merelk-Sharp-&Dehme-Corp-
WuXi Biologics (Hong Kong) Limited , dated Deeember+7-April 19 , 2626-2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. &
10 to the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S- | (File No. 333- 256297), filed with the SEC on May 19, 2021). 10. 10
Consulting 9-*Suppert-Serviees-Agreement, by and between the Registrant and AvalonBioVentures-Sheila Gujrathi , ne-M .

D fermerly-COHPharmaeentteals; dne-. ), dated Janmpary+March 10 , 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 9-11 to
the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 256297) filed w 1th the SEC on Mdy 19 2()21) 10.11

Janux Therapeutics +6-*-Celt-Eine-Lieense-Agreement, Inc. by v =
Himited;-dated-Aprit+9;,-2021 Change in Control and Severance Benefit Plan (mcorpomted by 1eterence to Exhlblt 10. -1-9—12
to the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 256297), filed with the SEC on May 19, 2021). 10. +4-12
Consulting Employment Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Shetta-GujrathtZachariah MclIver . M=D. O., Ph. D.
dated Mareh-April 24, 2023. 10 . 13 Employment Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Tommy DlRalmondo,

Ph. D., dated January 1 , 2021 (1ncorpordted by reterente to Exhlblt 10. {H&Mm

-E*h-tbi-t—l—@—lé—to the Re;:lstrant S Annual Report on Form 10- K, tlled w 1th the SEC on Mdrch 158, 2024) 10 14 Employment
Agreement by and between the Reglstrant and Byron Roblnson, Ph. D., dated January 20 2()22 )—1—9—1—6—9peﬂ—M&rket

-E*h-tbi-t—l—@—l—7—to the Re;:lstrant S Annual Report on Form 10- K, tlled w 1th the SEC on Mdrch 18, 7() ) 10 15 Underwrltlng
Agreement, dated-May-9;2623-by-and-between the Registrant-Company and BofA

Securities, Inc. , dated as of July 17, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1. 1 te-of the Registrant” s Current Report on
Form 8- K, filed with the SEC on May9-July 18 , 2023). 10. 16 Lease +9-Fransition-and-Consulting-Agreement-, by and
between the Registrant and Pacific Plaza Owner LLC Shahram-Salel—Ardakani; PP, dated Nevember16-October 1 ,
2022-2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. +9-17 to the Registrant’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K, filed with the SEC
on March 18, 2022). 10 . 17 ATM Equity OfferingSM Sales Agreement, dated May 9, 2023, by and between the Registrant
and BofA Securities, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1. 1 to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K,
filed with the SEC on May 9 , 2023). 10. 26-18 Underwriting Agreement, dated February 28, 2024, by and among Janux
Therapeutics, Inc. and BofA Securities, Inc., Cowen and Company, LL.C, Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. and William Blair &
Company, L. L. C. as representatives of the several underwriters named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.
1 of the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K, filed February 29, 2024). 10. 19 Employment Agreement, by and
between the Registrant and Charles Winter, dated February 12, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 20 to the
Registrant’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K, filed with the SEC on March 10, 2023). 10. 220 Underwriting Agreement,
betweenrthe-Company-dated December 4, 2024, by and among Janux Therapeutics, Inc. and BofA Securities, Inc., dated-TD



Securities (USA) LLC, Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. and William Blair &
Company, L. L. C. as representatives of Jaly1+72623-the several underwriters named therein (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 1. 1 of the Registrant” s Current Report on Form 8- K, filed December 5, 2024). 10. 21 Transition and Consulting
Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Tighe Reardon, dated August 2, 2024 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10. 1 to the Registrant’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q, filed with the SEC on Jaly¥+8-November 6 , 2623-2024
). +6-19 . 22-1 Janux Therapeutics, Inc. Insider Trading neentive-CompensationReeoupmentPoliey-Policy23 —23- 1 Consent
of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. 24. 1 Power of Attorney (see signature page). 31. 1 Certification of
Principal Executive and Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a- 14 (a) and 15d- 14 (a) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 3432 . 2-1 Certification of PrmClpal Executive
and Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350

of 1934~ as Adopted Pursucmt to Section -392—906 01‘ the Sarbanes— Oxley Aet 0f2002. 32—97 | Janux Therapeutics

- 0 0-, asAdopted
Pﬁfstt&ﬁt—lnc. Incentlve Compensatlon Recoupment Pollcy (1nc0rporated by reference to Seeﬁeﬁ—%é—ef—Exhibit 10. 22 to
the Sarbanes-Registrant’ s Annual Report on Form 10 - OxleyAetofK, filed with the SEC on March 8, 2662-- 2024 ) . 101.
INS Inline XBRL Instance Document — the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags
are embedded within the Inline XBRL document. 101. SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded
Linkbases Document Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document) Indicates management
contract or compensatory plan. * Certain portions of this exhibit are omitted because they are not material and would likely
cause competitive harm to the Registrant if disclosed. Item 16. Form 10- K Summary SIGNATURES Pursuant to the
requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this
Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. JANUX THERAPEUTICS, INC. Date: Mareh-$
February 27 , 2024-2025 By: / s / David Campbell, Ph. D. David Campbell, Ph. D. President and Chief Executive
OfficerPOWER OF ATTORNEY KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears
below constitutes and appoints David Campbell and FigheRearderrMaria Dobek , and each of them, his or her true and lawful
attorneys- in- fact, each with full power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this
Annual Report on Form 10- K and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys- in- fact or their substitute
or substitutes may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the
dates indicated. Name Title Date / s / David Campbell, Ph. D. President and Chief Executive Officer and Director Meareh$
February 27 , 2624Bavid-2025David Campbell, Ph. D. (Principal Executive and Financial Officer) / s / FigheRearderrMaria
Dobek Vice President, Aeting-Accounting February 27 Ghref—Frnanetal—QfﬁeefMafeh—S— %e%ghe—Re&rdeﬁ—ZﬂZSMarla
Dobek (Principal Finanetaland-Accounting Officer) / s / Jaytteh s g SOH e 4 ¢
2024day-Eiehter, Ph—D—+s+Ron Barrett, Ph. D. Chairperson of the Board of Btree’fefDlrectors Mareh-&-F ebruary 27,
2624Ren-2025Ron Barrett, Ph. D. /s / Vickie Capps Director Mareh-8-February 27 , 2624V4ekie-2025Vickie Capps /s / Eric
Dobmeier Director February 27, 2025Eric Dobmeier / s / Sheila Gujrathi, M. D. Director Mareh-8-February 27 , 2624Sheta
2025Sheila Gujrathi, M. D. /s / Natasha Hernday Director February 27, 2025Natasha Hernday / s / Winston Kung Director
Mareh-8-February 27 , 2024Winsten-2025Winston Kung /s / Alana McNulty Director Mareh-8-February 27 , 2624Alana
2025Alana MCNulty /s /Jake Slmson Ph. D. Director Ma-reh—8—February 27 %9%4:}a-ke-2025Jake Simson, Ph. D. Exhibit 10.




irth A1 hibit—10- ARHALY Rat Re: Employment Terms DeaI :Femmy—Zacharlah
Janux Therapeutics, Inc. (the +* Company ) 1S pledsed to oﬁer you employment beginning-anticipated to begin on January
+-or around June 5 , 20242023 (the £ Start Date ). Your initial position will be Pireetor-Vice President of Clinical
Development , Researek-PSMA Global Clinical Lead , responsible for performing such duties as are assigned to you from
time to time, reporting to the Company &’ s Prestdent-&-CEO-Chief Medical Officer . You will primarily work at our office
located in San Diego, €atifernta-CA , although you may be reasonably required to perform your duties at places other than your
primary office location from time to time ;-and undertake reasonable business travel. The Company may change your position,
duties, and work location from time to time in its discretion. As a full- time, exempt employee, you will be expected to work the
Company £’ s normal business hours as well as additional hours as required by the nature of your work assignments, and you
will not be eligible for overtime compensation. Compensation and Benefits You will be compensated at an annual base salary of
$ 172420 , 414000 per year, less payroll deductions and withholdings, paid on the Company > s normal payroll schedule. You
will also be eligible to earn an annual discretionary bonus with a target of 26-30 % of your base salary (or annualized base
earnings, as applicable). The amount of this bonus will be determined in the sole discretion of the Company and based, in part,
on your performance and the performance of the Company during the calendar year, as well as any other criteria the Company
deems relevant. The bonus is not earned until paid and no pro- rated amount will be paid if your employment terminates for any
reason prior to the payment date. During your employment, you will be eligible to participate in the benefits plans offered to
similarly situated employees by the Company from time to time, subject to plan terms and generally applicable Company
policies. A full description of current benefits is available for your review. Currently, exempt employees do not accrue vacation.
Supervisors will approve paid vacation requests based on the employee &’ s progress on work goals or milestones, status of
projects, fairness to the working team, and productivity and efficiency of the employee. Since vacation is not allotted or accrued,
there is no £ unused £-”” vacation time to be carried over from one year to the next nor paid out upon termination. A full
description of current benefits is available for your review. The Company may change compensation, benefits from time to time
in its discretion. 1 Sign- On / Retention Payments If you join the Company, you will be eligible to receive a one- time sign-
on / retention payment of $ 125, 000, less applicable withholdings (the “ Sign- On Payment ). The Company will
advance you the Sign- On Payment, prior to its being earned, within thirty (30) days after your Start Date. You will earn
the Sign- On Payment if you remain continuously employed with the Company through the two- year anniversary of
your Start Date. If your employment with the Company terminates due to your resignation for any reason or a
termination by the Company for Cause in each case prior to the two- year anniversary of your Start Date, you will be
required to repay to the Company a pro- rated portion of the Sign- On Payment calculated as follows, with such
repayment to be made within thirty (30) days following your final date of employment with the Company: (i) 100 % of
the Sign- On Payment (on a gross basis), reduced by (ii) 1 / 24th for each full month you were employed by the Company.
The repayment must be made in cash, by wire or by certified check. For purposes of this Agreement, “ Cause ” for
termination means: (a) commission of any felony or crime involving dishonesty; (b) participation in any fraud against
the Company; (c) material breach of your duties to the Company; (d) persistent unsatisfactory performance of job duties
after written notice from the Company and an opportunity to cure (if deemed curable by the Company in its sole
discretion); (e) intentional damage to any property of the Company; (f) misconduct, or other violation of Company
policy that causes harm; (g) breach of this Agreement, the Employee Confidential Information and Inventions
Assignment Agreement, or any other written agreement with the Company; or (h) conduct by you which in the good
faith and reasonable determination of the Company demonstrates gross unfitness to serve. The Company anticipates
granting you an option to purchase 100, 000 shares of the Company’ s common stock at the fair market value as
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determined by the Company’ s Board of Directors (or a designated committee thereof) as of the date of grant (the *
Option 7). The anticipated Option will be governed by the terms and conditions of the Company’ s 2021 Equity Incentive
Plan (the “ Plan ”) and your grant agreement, and will include the following vesting schedule: 12 / 48ths of the total
shares will vest on the one year anniversary of the Start Date, and 1 / 48th of the total shares will vest each month
thereafter on the same day of the month as the Start Date (or if there is no corresponding day, on the last day of the
month), subject to your Continuous Service (as defined in the Plan) as of each such date. Confidential Information and
Company Policies As a Company employee, you will be expected to abide by Company rules and policies. As a condition of
employment, you must sign and comply with the attached Employee Confidential Information and Inventions Assignment
Agreement which prohibits unauthorized use or disclosure of the Company & s proprietary information, among other
obligations. By signing this letter , you are representing that you have full authority to accept this position and perform the
duties of the position without conflict with any other obligations and that you are not involved in any situation that might create,
or appear to create, a conflict of interest with respect to your loyalty or duties to the Company. You specifically warrant that you
are not subject to an employment agreement or restrictive covenant preventing full performance of your duties to the Company.
You agree not to bring to the Company or use in the performance of your responsibilities at the Company any materials or
documents of a former employer that are not generally available to the public ;-unless you have obtained express written
authorization from the former employer for their possession and use. You also agree to honor all obligations to former
employers during your employment with the Company. 2 At- Will Employment Your employment with the Company will be *
 at- will. - You may terminate your employment with the Company at any time and for any reason whatsoever simply by
notifying the Company. Likewise, the Company may terminate your employment at any time, with or without cause or advance
notice. Your employment at- will status can only be modified in a written agreement signed by you and by an officer of the
Company. Conditions, Dispute Resolution, and Complete Agreement This offer is contingent upon a satisfactory reference
check and satisfactory proof of your right to work in the United States. If the Company informs you that you are required to
complete a background check, this offer is contingent upon satisfactory clearance of such background check. You agree to assist
as needed and to complete any documentation at the Company &’ s request to meet these conditions. To ensure the rapid and
economical resolution of disputes that may arise in connection with your employment with the Company, you and the Company
agree that any and all disputes, claims, or causes of action, in law or equity, including but not limited to statutory claims, arising
from or relating to the enforcement, breach, performance, or interpretation of this Agreement, your employment with the
Company, or the termination of your employment, shall be resolved pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U. S. C. § 1- 16,
to the fullest extent permitted by law, by final, binding and confidential arbitration conducted by JAMS or its successor, under
JAMS £’ then applicable rules and procedures for employment disputes before a single arbitrator (available upon request and
also currently available at http: / / www. jamsadr. com / rules- employment- arbitration /). You acknowledge that by agreeing to
this arbitration procedure, both you and the Company waive the right to resolve any such dispute through a trial by jury or judge
or administrative proceeding. In addition, all claims, disputes, or causes of action under this section, whether by you or the
Company, must be brought in an individual capacity, and shall not be brought as a plaintiff (or claimant) or class member in any
purported class or representative proceeding, nor joined or consolidated with the claims of any other person or entity. The
arbitrator may not consolidate the claims of more than one person or entity ;-and may not preside over any form of
representative or class proceeding. To the extent that the preceding sentences regarding class claims or proceedings are found to
violate applicable law or are otherwise found unenforceable, any claim (s) alleged or brought on behalf of a class shall proceed
in a court of law rather than by arbitration. This paragraph shall not apply to any action or claim that cannot be subject to
mandatory arbitration as a matter of law, including, without limitation, claims brought pursuant to the California Private
Attorneys General Act of 2004, as amended, the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, as amended, and the California
Labor Code, as amended, to the extent such claims are not permitted by applicable law (s) to be submitted to mandatory
arbitration and the applicable law (s) are not preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act or otherwise invalid (collectively, the £
Excluded Claims *-*). In the event you intend to bring multiple claims, Page-2-including one of the Excluded Claims listed
above, the Excluded Claims may be filed with a court, while any other claims will remain subject to mandatory arbitration. You
will have the right to be represented by legal counsel at any arbitration proceeding. Questions of whether a claim is subject to
arbitration under this agreement shall be decided by the arbitrator. Likewise, procedural questions which grow out of the dispute
and bear on the final disposition are also matters for the arbitrator. The arbitrator shall: (a) have the authority to compel
adequate discovery for the resolution of the dispute and to award such relief as would otherwise be permitted by law; and (b)
issue a written statement signed by the arbitrator regarding the disposition of each claim and the relief, if any, awarded as to
each claim, the reasons for the award, and the arbitrator - s essential findings and conclusions on which the award is based. The
arbitrator shall be authorized to award all relief that you or the Company would be entitled to seek in a court of law. The
Company shall pay all JAMS arbitration fees in excess of the administrative fees that you would be required to pay if the dispute
were 3 decided in a court of law. Nothing in this letter agreement is intended to prevent either you or the Company from
obtaining injunctive relief in court to prevent irreparable harm pending the conclusion of any such arbitration. Any awards or
orders in such arbitrations may be entered and enforced as judgments in the federal and state courts of any competent
jurisdiction. This letter, together with your Employee Confidential Information and Inventions Assignment Agreement, forms
the complete and exclusive statement of your employment agreement with the Company. It supersedes any other agreements or
promises made to you by anyone, whether oral or written. Changes in your employment terms, other than those changes
expressly reserved to the Company -’ s discretion in this letter, require a written modification signed by an officer of the
Company. If any provision of this offer letter agreement is determined to be invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, this
determination shall not affect any other provision of this offer letter agreement and the provision in question shall be modified so
as to be rendered enforceable in a manner consistent with the intent of the parties insofar as possible under applicable law. This



letter may be delivered and executed via facsimile, electronic mail (including pdf or any electronic signature complying with the
U. S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, Uniform Electronic Transactions Act , or other applicable law) or other transmission method
and shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and executed and be valid and effective for all purposes. Please
sign and date this letter, and the enclosed Employee Confidential Information and Inventions Assignment Agreement and return
them to me byJanuary4;262+within three (3) calendar days following the date of this letter . if you wish to accept
eentintted-at- will employment at the Company under the terms described above. We look forward to your favorable reply and to
a productive and enjoyable work relationship. Sincerely, / s / Pavid-CampbeH-Tighe Reardon Acting Chief Financial Officer
Understood and Accepted: /s fPhefn&s—Bi-Ra-rmende—G-l—Zacharlah Mclver 4 / 64+26 / 26212023 Zachariah Mclver Date
FhiRaimende-@januxx——eomEmait-Attachment-Attachments : Employee Confidential Information and Inventions
Assignment Agreement Page3-; COVID- 19 Policy 4 Exhibit $6-19 . 22-1 JANUX THERAPEUTICS, INC. INSIDER
TRADING POLICY Persons Covered This Ins1der Tradmg Pohcy of Janux Thcmpumcs Im Ineentive-Compensation

0 orath “ Company ) applies to all directors , officers, has
determmed—that—rt—rs—m—the—other best—rnterests—employees and consultants of lhc C ompdm anc -rts—steeld&e}éers-any
subsidiaries. It also applies to adop v
family members who reside with them, anyone else who hves in their households and any famlly members who do not
live in their households but whose transactions in the Company’ s securities are directed reeotipmentefReeoverable
Ineentive-Compensation-thatisreeetved-by Covered, or subject to, the influence or control of a director, Offteers— officer ,
other employee or consultant of the Company undefeeﬁmﬂ—eﬁetuﬁsta-nees— Geﬁa-m—e&pﬁa—l-x—zed—terms—used—m—Purpose and
Policy The purpose of this Insider Trading ey-have-the-meanings f-to-steh-terms e e hts-Policy is
designed-to clarify the circumstances under whlch tradlng in the stock of the Company or another pubhcly- traded
eompty-company with which e 6 of-the Company has business

deallngsExehaﬂgeﬁet—Rt&e+GB-+preﬁrt&gated—thereunder each a’ Thlrd PartyRu-}e—l-OB-—l— )and—Nasdaq—I:rsﬁng—Ru-}e

Company’ ¢ ﬁsea-l—peﬂed—rnﬂwhieh—dlrectors, ofﬁcers, t-he—other Pmanetal—Reper&ng—Measure—speerﬁed—employees and
consultants will result in civil liability and criminal penalties, as well as disciplinary action by the Ineentive-Compensation
award-Company. During the course of your employment or service with the Company, you may receive important
information that is attained-not yet publicly available , i. e., not disclosed to the public in a press release or filing with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“ Inside Information ), about the Company or a Third Party. Because of your
access to this information, you may be in a position to profit financially by buying or selling or in some other way dealing
in the Company’ s or a Third Party’ s stock, or to disclose such information to a third party who does so (known as a «
Tippee ). It is illegal for anyone to use Inside Information to gain personal benefit, or to pass on, or “ tip, ” the
information to someone who does so. There is no de minimis exception to this rule. Use of Inside Information to gain
personal benefit and tipping are as illegal with respect to a few shares of stock as they are with respect to a large number
of shares. You can be held liable both for your own transactions and for transactions effected by a Tippee, or even a
Tippee of a Tippee. Furthermore, it is important that the appearance as well as the act of insider trading in stock be
avoided. Exceptions Please note that, generally, transactions directly with the Company, i. e., option exercises or
purchases under the Company’ s employee stock purchase plan, will not create problems. However, the subsequent sale
or other disposition of such stock is fully subject to these restrictions. In addition, purchases or sales pursuant to a
written plan that meets the requirements of Rule 10b5- 1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, may be
made without restriction provided that the plan was adopted in accordance with Company policies. As a practical
matter, it is sometimes difficult to determine whether you possess Inside Information. The key to determining whether
nonpublic information you possess about a public company is Inside Information is whether dissemination of the
information would be likely to affect the market price of the company’ s stock or would be likely to be considered
important by investors who are considering trading in that company’ s stock. Certainly, if the information makes you
want to trade, it would probably have the same effect on others. Both positive and negative information can be material.
If you possess Inside Information about a company, you must refrain from trading in that company’ s stock, advising
anyone else to do so or communicating the information to anyone else until you know that the information has been
disseminated to the public. This means that in some circumstances, you may have to forego a proposed transaction in a
company’ s securities cven if you planned to execute the transaction prior to learning of the inside information and even
though you believe you will suffer an economic loss or sacrifice an anticipated profit by waiting. “ Trading ” includes
engaging in short sales, transactions in put or call options, hedging transactions and the-other paymentinherently
speculative transactions. Additionally, you may not discuss material nonpublic information about the Company with
anyone outside the Company. This prohibition covers spouses, family members, friends, business associates, or grant-of
persons with whom we are doing business (except to the extent that such Jneentive-Compensation-oeetrs-after-persons are
covered by a non- disclosure agreement and the end-discussion is necessary to accomplish a business purpose of that
petriod-the Company) . 3—Beﬁn-rtteﬂs—You may not participate in Internet forums, message boards, social media sites,
AeeountingRestatement-chat rooms ” or other Internet discussion forums concerning the activities of the Company or
other companies with which the Company does business, even if you do so anonymously. Although this is by no means an

aeeeuntmg—rest&temeﬂt—that—exhaustlve hst mformatlon about the Gempany—followmg items may be con51dered to be Ins1de




or(b) the—elate—t-hat—a—eeurt—ﬁnanclal results or forecasts, (c) fegu-laterregulatory developments, mcludmg developments
with the United States Food and Drug Administration and similar foreign agencies; (d) major new products or product
candidates; (e) establishment of, or developments in, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or similar collaborations; (f)
communications with government agencies; (g) strategic plans; (h) potential mergers, acquisitions, tender offers or the
sale of assets of the Company or a subsidiary thereof; (i) significant write- offs; (j) potential acquisitions of additional
product candidates or technology; (k) notice of issuance of patents, the acquisition of other legaly-anthorized-body-direets
materlal 1ntellectual property rlghts or the—other slgmﬁcant intellectual property developments, (1)) s1gmﬁcant Gempany
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developments in the Naselaq—SteeleMarket#blopharmaceutlcal mdustry or technologlcal innovations; (m) new major
contracts, orders, suppliers, or finance sources, or the loss thereof; (n) significant Exchange—- changes Aet>-means-the-t-
S—Seeurities-or developments in supplies; (o) slgmﬁcant pricing Exehange--- changes ; (p) events regarding Aetof1934;-as
amended—Exeeutive-Offteermeans-the Company’ s prestdent-securities (e. g. . prineipal-finanetat-defaults on senior
securities, calls of securities for redemption, repurchase plans, stock splits, public or private equity / debt offerings, or
changes in Company dividend policies or amounts); (q) significant changes in control or senior management; (r)
significant changes in compensation policy; (s) bankruptcies or receiverships; (t) actual or threatened major litigation, or
a major development in or the resolution of such litigation; and (s) change in auditors or a notification that the Company
can no longer rely on an auditor’ s report. Prohlbltlon of Speculatlve Tradmg No officer, d1rector, pﬂnei-pa-l-aeeeuﬁtlﬂg
offteer(or-if-there- other employee or consultant 151 0 86 0 v id i
Company may engage in short eharg al-busiftessan ston Retion h-a
transactions in put or -ﬁnaﬂee)—call optlons &ny—hedgmg transactlons or other 1nherently speculatlve transactlons w1th
respect to ottie alktng A 3
-fer—t-he—@emp&ny—E—xeetttwe—efﬁeers—e-Plhe C ompam p&reﬂt—ésﬁ—eﬁubstd-r&rtes—&re—&eemed—exeeﬁtwe-stock at any t1me In
addition, no effteers— officer, director, other employee or consultant of lhe ( ompdm may margm, -x-Pthey—perferm—sueh
poliey—making-funetions—for—- or make th 5 d
fuﬂeﬁmany exeeut—rve—e-fﬁeer——— offer to margln, -fer— or purpeses—otherwme

1nclud1ng w1thout llmltatlon, borrowmg agamst such stock at any measures—&erwed—whel—l—y—eﬁlme Window Perlod Policy
Because the officers, directors and certain other designated employees of the Company are the most visible to the public
and are most likely, in part-the view of the publlc, to possess Ins1de Informatlon about the Company, we ask them to do
more than refrain from insider tradmg eh dintg .
Under a separate pollcy appllcable to thls group of 1nd1v1duals known as 1he Company’
s Window Period Policy, the Company’ s directors, officers and certain other designated employees are required to limit
their transactions in the Company’ s stock to defined time periods following public dissemination of quarterly and
annual financial statements-results, notify one or ineluded-more designated pre- clearance individuals prior to engaging in
a-fitling-with-transactions in the Company’ s stock and observe the-other restrictions designed SEC+norder-to minimize the
risk of apparent or actual insider trading. Other employees of the Company may also be aFinanetalReportingMeastre
subject to the Window Period Policy from time to time as determined by the Company’ s Board of Directors . “Jneentive

Compensation-means-any-eompensatiotr-that-Anyone who effects transactions in the Company’ s or a Third Party’ s stock

(or prov1des mformatlon to enable others to do so) on the basis of Inside Informatlon 1s gr&n-ted—sub]ect to both c1v1l

Aeeetua-t—mg—Restatemeﬁt—Ba-te—. as well as any—dlsclplmary action by the Company, up to and mcludlng termmatlon for
cause. This Ins1der Trading Policy will continue to apply to your transitierrtransactions period-(restltingfromra-change-in
the Company’ s fiseal-year)-or a Third Party’ s stock even after your employment or serv1ce wrt-hrn» w1th efuﬁmedfately
foHowing-these—- the Company three-e atteastn nths-sha ;

as-has terminated a-eompleted-fiseal-year)- Net-wrthstandmg—the—feregemg—lf you are in possession of materlal nonpubllc
1nformat10n when your employment or service terminates , you may t-he—l:eekbaelelleﬂed—s-hal-l—nol trade rnelude—ﬁsea—l-







eﬂey—Seeﬁeﬁ%M—}f}ﬁﬁ—aﬁe—&ppheab-}e—to the Company’ s Chlef ExeeuntiveF 1nanc1al Officer ﬁﬂd—Ol‘ General Counsel Any
director, officer, other employee or consultant of the Company who knows of or suspects a violation of this Insider

Trading Policy should report the violation immediately to the Company’ s Chief Financial Officer and-to-any-or General
Counsel or through et-her——— the procedures eeﬁrpens&ﬁeﬂ—reeeﬂpﬂ&eﬁt—pehey—a-nd-/-erfor sﬂrmr}a-ﬁpfevmens—anonymous

reporting outlined in any v .
paiﬁ'-eﬁ‘hteh—t-he— s Code of Busmess Conduct and EtthS The Company has-a

neeessary-to-comply with appheab

againstall requests from : sired L ..
their—- the benefietartes-U. S. Securltles and Exchange Commlssmn herr-s—the Nasdaq Stock Market Inc andexeeu-ters—

adﬂﬁmtst-ra-tefs—efother agencles ega

Aelﬂ%ew-}edged—By—N-&me—Trt-}e—Ba-te—Exhlblt 23.1 Consent of Independent Reglstered Publlc Accountmg Flrm We consent to

the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements: 1. Registration Statement (Form S- 3-3ASR No. 333-
266726-279196 ) of Janux Therapeutics, Inc., 2. Registration Statement (Form S- 8 No. 333- 257039) pertaining to the 2017
Equity Incentive Plan (Prior Plan), the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, and the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of Janux
Therapeutics, Inc., and 3. Registration Statements (Form S- 8 Nos. 333- 263712 and-, 333- 270470 and 333- 277797 ) pertaining
to the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, and the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of Janux Therapeutics, Inc.; of our repert
reports dated Mareh-8-February 27 , 2624-2025 , with respect to the financial statements of Janux Therapeutics, Inc. and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Janux Therapeutics, Inc., included in this Annual Report (Form
10- K) of Janux Therapeutics, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 . Exhibit 31. 1| CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 I, David Campbell,
certify that: 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10- K of Janux Therapeutics, Inc.; 2. Based on my knowledge, this
report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report; 4. Fheregistrant-s-other-eertifying-offieer{(s)-and-l are-am responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the registrant and have: (a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under eur
my supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us-me by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; (b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under eur-my supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; (c) Evaluated the
effectiveness of the registrant' s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report ear-my conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant' s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant' s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant' s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant' s internal control over financial reporting; and 5.
Fhe-registrant s-othereertifyingoffieer(s)and-| have disclosed, based on ear-my most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant' s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant' s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions): (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of



internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant' s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other
employees who have a significant role in the registrant' s internal control over financial reporting. Date: Mareh-8-February 27 ,
%9%4—2025 By / s / Dav1d Campbell Ph D Dav1d Campbell Ph D. Premdent and Chlef Executlve Ofﬁcer (Prlnc1pa1 Executlve

Aeeeﬂﬂt-lﬂg—Ofﬁcer) Exhlblt 32 1 CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U. S. C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 In connection with the Annual Report on Form
10- K of Janux Therapeutics Inc. (the “ Company 7) for the year-ended-period ending December 31, 2023-2024 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “ Report 7), eaehof-the below undersigned effieers— officer of the
Company hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U. S. C. § 1350, that to his knowledge: (1) The Report fully complies with the
requirements of section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and (2) The information contained
in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. Date:
Mareh-8-February 27 , 2024-2025 By: / s / David Campbell, Ph. D. David Campbell, Ph. D. President and Chief Executive
Officer (Principal Executive and Financial Officer)



